



COLORADO

Parks and Wildlife

Department of Natural Resources
Policy and Planning
6060 Broadway
Denver, CO 80216

TO: Members of the Colorado Parks and Wildlife Commission
FROM: Hilary Hernandez, Regulations Manager
RE: June 22-23, 2023 Parks and Wildlife Commission Meeting Regulatory Items
DATE: June 9, 2023

The regulatory items detailed below are scheduled to be addressed at the Colorado Parks and Wildlife Commission's June 22-23, 2023 meeting. If there are questions about any of the agenda items below, or if additional information is needed, please feel free to contact Hilary Hernandez at hilary.hernandez@state.co.us.

FINAL REGULATIONS

Agenda Item 12: Chapter W-9 - "Wildlife Properties" 2 CCR 406-9 and those related provisions of Chapter W-0 - "General Provisions" 2 CCR 406-0 and Chapter P-1 - "Parks and Outdoor Recreation Lands" 2 CCR 405-1 necessary to accommodate changes to or ensure consistency with Chapter W-9

Open for review of the entire chapter including, but not limited to, generally applicable and property-specific requirements for, or restrictions on use of wildlife properties controlled by the Division of Parks and Wildlife.

CONSENT AGENDA

CITIZEN PETITON

Consent Item 20.1: Chapter W-9 - "Wildlife Properties" 2 CCR 406-9

At its June meeting, the Parks and Wildlife Commission will consider whether it should adopt the Director's written recommendation to DENY a petition for rulemaking related to Wildlife Properties, as follows:

- A Citizen Petition requesting a change to allow paragliding at Radium State Wildlife Area.





COLORADO

Parks and Wildlife

Department of Natural Resources

Policy and Planning
6060 Broadway
Denver, CO 80216

To: Members of the Colorado Parks and Wildlife Commission
From: Jonathan Boydston, Public Involvement Specialist, Emma Hay, Public Involvement Specialist, and Shana Waldman, Policy and Planning Associate, CPW
Date: June 9, 2023

Re: Public Input on State Wildlife Area Proposed Regulation Changes

Background

At the Commission's March and May meetings, Division staff presented proposed changes to regulations concerning State Wildlife Areas (SWAs). The proposed changes were developed following a review of all SWAs to determine the uses that each property could sustain.

In order to both explain the proposed changes and gauge the general public's opinion on the changes, CPW developed interactive pages on the Division's public engagement site, EngageCPW. Information on SWA management, suggested revisions to the general provisions, and notable changes at specific properties was presented in a format that was easy to follow for the reader. Opportunities to comment on the proposed changes were provided for both general provisions and for property-specific regulations. Comments made by the public related to the general provision changes were publicly viewable on Engage CPW. Property-specific comments were submitted through a short comment form.

The public comment opportunities were advertised through a news release, local news outlets, and announcements sent to CPW stakeholders. The comment period was open for a six week period from April 12th through May 24, 2023.

Public Input

A total of 191 members of the public provided feedback on the proposed changes. 140 comments were submitted in response to proposed changes to the general provisions, and 51 comments were submitted regarding property-specific regulations.

Agreement with Proposed Changes

Of the 191 total comments submitted, 47 comments (25%) voiced overall agreement with the proposed changes. Sportspeople in particular were supportive of the changes and often cited the need to manage SWAs for wildlife primarily as well as for fishing and hunting opportunities when possible. A common theme discussed by sportspeople and other members of the public related to increasing crowding at SWAs that has negatively impacted the visitor



experience. 28 commenters (15%) mentioned issues with crowding.

The Use of Recreational Vessels

110 comments (58% of total) related to concerns with the proposed regulation change that would restrict the use of vessels on SWAs except when used for hunting and fishing, unless exempted by property-specific regulations.

Commenters were concerned that the proposed changes would restrict non-consumptive, recreational vessel use, such as paddle-boarding, kayaking, and canoeing. 20 commenters (10% of total) argued that “wildlife watching” should be an accepted form of recreation for vessels in SWAs. A further 90 comments requested that the proposed change be discarded entirely in order to allow all hand-propelled recreational vessels on SWA waters. Additionally, 12% of total comments argued that the SWA Access Pass should give full access to all SWAs regardless of whether or not the pass holder is actively hunting or fishing.

Vessel Restrictions at Beaver Lake SWA

Of the comments opposing proposed changes to vessel regulations at SWAs, 51 out of 110 comments concerned Beaver Lake SWA near Marble. Commenters who were opposed to restricting recreational vessels at Beaver Lake argued that Beaver Lake is centrally located in the town of Marble and serves as an important recreation destination for locals and visitors used by paddle boarders, kayakers and anglers. The proposed regulation change would restrict vessel use unless the vessel is being actively used for fishing. Although the proposed change is in keeping with the original sale agreement that stipulated the property is for “fishing purposes only”, a common theme among the comments opposing the proposed regulation was that SWAs should be managed as public lands open to all visitors regardless of their intended use of the property.

However, of the Beaver Lake comments, 16 out of 51 comments agreed with the proposal to restrict vessel use to fishing only. Members of the public who supported the proposed change at Beaver Lake often stated that Beaver Lake and other SWAs should be maintained for wildlife primarily and wildlife-related recreation when possible.

Dog Training from Vessels

Nine comments (5% of total) requested that dog training for hunting dogs be permitted while using vessels on SWAs. Previously proposed regulations did not include dog training as an allowable use of vessels under the SWA general provisions. After considering this feedback from sportspeople, Division staff now recommend allowing dog training from vessels at Banner Lakes and Wellington SWAs where staff believe dog training from vessels can be accommodated.

Seasonal Closures at Basalt SWA

15 comments (8% of total) provided feedback regarding concerns with proposed regulation changes at Basalt SWA. 13 out of 15 of the comments concerning Basalt SWA were in regards to proposed changes to seasonal closure dates, which propose lengthening closures to conserve sensitive wildlife populations. Commenters say that the Basalt SWA provides necessary hiking access for the town of Basalt, as there is a lack of other accessible hiking near downtown. Commenters mentioned that the season date closures would not provide adequate wildlife protection to compensate for the loss of access. Additionally, some commenters believed that this change may be an attempt to control traffic in the town of Basalt, and argued that this change would not improve crowding and traffic flows. These commenters requested that the proposed season date changes be discarded.

Other Common Themes

Several other themes were mentioned through public comments, although at a lower rate than the major themes described above. Other themes discussed include:

- 14 (7% of total) comments stated that law enforcement on SWAs was insufficient. These commenters requested that CPW provide more enforcement of regulations.
- 13 (7% of total) comments requested that all dogs be permitted on SWAs.
- 2 (1% of total) commenters spoke on behalf of their own recreational companies, concerned about the negative impact that proposed regulations may have on their business.

UPDATED: Added an allowance for launching of vessels from Billy Creek SWA. Added allowances for bicycles at Frank SWA and Runyon/Fountain Lakes SWA.

FINAL REGULATIONS - CHAPTER W-9 - WILDLIFE PROPERTIES

ARTICLE I - GENERAL PROVISIONS

#900 - REGULATIONS APPLICABLE TO ALL WILDLIFE PROPERTIES, EXCEPT STATE TRUST LANDS

A. DEFINITIONS

1. "Aircraft" means any machine or device capable of atmospheric flight, including, but not limited to, airplanes, helicopters, gliders, dirigibles, hot air balloons, rockets, hang gliders and parachutes, parasails, kite boards, kite tubes, wingsuits, zip lines and other similar devices or equipment, and any models thereof.
2. "Camping" means the erecting of a tent or shelter of natural or manmade material, the placing of a sleeping bag or other bedding material on the ground, the parking of a motor vehicle, motor home, travel trailer or other similar equipment for the apparent purpose of overnight occupancy.
3. "Camping Unit" is defined as one of the following:
 - a. Two tents and a passenger vehicle; or
 - b. One tent plus one motorhome (Class A, B, C), motor vehicle, vehicle, trailer, slide-in truck camper, pop-up camper/trailer, boat, or other equipment of any description manufactured and/or used for the purposes of overnight occupancy; or
 - c. A camping unit may include additional tents only in a campsite with a tent pad; provided the tents are contained on the pad and other camping unit and camping group limits are observed; or
 - d. One passenger vehicle in addition to the above descriptions is authorized only if available parking space exists.
4. "Vessel" means every description of watercraft used or capable of being used as a means of transportation of persons and/or property on water. This includes but is not limited to single and multi-chambered stand-up paddleboards, float tubes, and tubes.
- ~~2-5.~~ "Water contact activities" means swimming, wading (except for the purpose of fishing or hunting), waterskiing, surfing, sail-~~surf~~boarding, scuba diving, and other water-related activities which put a person in contact with the water (without regard to the clothing ~~or equipment worn or equipment worn/used~~).
- ~~3-6.~~ "Youth mentor hunting" means hunting by youths under 18 years of age. Youth hunters under 16 years of age shall at all times be accompanied by a mentor when hunting on youth mentor properties. A mentor must be 18 years of age or older and hold a valid hunter education certificate or be born before January 1, 1949.

B. Public Access to State Wildlife Areas

1. Only properties listed in this chapter are open for public access.
- ~~4.2.~~ The Director may open newly acquired properties for public access for a period not to exceed nine (9) months pending adoption of permanent regulations. In addition, the Director may establish and post restrictions based upon consideration of the following criteria:
 - a. The location and size of the area.
 - b. The location, type and condition of roads, vehicle parking areas and the number and type of sanitary facilities available.
 - c. The number of users and vehicles the area will tolerate without significant degradation to wildlife resources, and public or private property.
 - d. Opportunity to assure public safety, health and welfare.
- ~~2.3.~~ If a property is opened for public access pursuant to this provision, the property shall be posted with a list of applicable access restrictions. It shall be unlawful for any person or vehicle to enter any such property, except in accordance with its posting and the applicable restrictions.

C. Prohibited Activities

Except as ~~otherwise provided in~~ specifically authorized in 901.B of these regulations or specifically authorized by contractual agreement, official document, public notice, permit, or posted sign, the following activities are prohibited on all lands, waters, the frozen surface of waters, rights-of-way, buildings, and other structures or devices owned, operated, or under the administrative control of Colorado Parks and Wildlife:

1. To enter, use or occupy any State Wildlife Area or portion thereof for all persons 16 years of age and older without:
 - a. a hunting license valid for the current license year,
 - b. a valid fishing license, or
 - c. a valid Colorado State Wildlife Area pass.

Annual hunting licenses, including all big game hunting licenses, small game hunting licenses, turkey hunting licenses, annual fishing licenses, and annual Colorado State Wildlife Area passes are only valid for the individual specified on the license or pass, and authorize such individual to enter, use or occupy any State Wildlife Area or portion thereof from March 1 through March 31 of the following year, also known as the current license year. Daily Colorado State Wildlife Area passes and daily or multi-day fishing and small game licenses are only valid for the individual specified on the license or pass, and authorize such individual to enter, use or occupy any State Wildlife Area or portion thereof only on the date(s) indicated on the license or pass.

2. To enter, use, or occupy any area or portion thereof for any purpose when posted against such entry, use, or occupancy.
3. To enter, use, or occupy any area for any commercial purpose or to conduct land, water, oil, gas, or mineral investigations, surveys, or explorations of any kind.

4. To operate any form of vehicle, or bicycle (motorized or non-motorized) except on established roads open to public motor vehicle use or within designated camping or parking areas. All motor vehicles and the operators thereof must ~~be in~~ compliance ~~comply~~ with all Colorado statutes and regulations pertaining to motor vehicle operation. This regulation does not prohibit the use of non-motorized game carts.
5. To operate ~~a~~ any motor vehicle, snowmobile, off highway vehicle or bicycle in excess of posted speed limits or in excess of 25 miles per hour where not posted.
6. To camp recreationally. To use or occupy a state wildlife area as a residence. Where camping is specifically authorized ~~to~~ leave a camp, pitched tent, shelter, motor vehicle, or trailer unattended for more than 48 hours, or to camp or to park a travel trailer or camper on any one state wildlife area for more than 14 days in any 45-day period.
7. To build, erect, or establish any permanent structure or to plant any vegetation. Only portable blinds or treestands and steps may be erected by the public on state wildlife areas. No nails may be driven into trees. Portable blinds or tree stands intended for use to hunt any big game or waterfowl during an established season may be erected on state wildlife areas no earlier than 30 days prior to the season in which they are used. All man-made materials used for blinds or tree stands during big game or waterfowl seasons must be removed within 10 days after the end of the season in which they are used. Any other portable blind or tree stand used for any other purpose must be removed at the end of the day in which they are used. The Customer Identification Number of the owner and the date(s) to be used must be displayed on the outside of all portable blinds and on the underside of all tree stands in a readily visible area. However, the erection or placement of any blind or tree stand by any person does not reserve the blind or tree stand for personal use. All such blinds and tree stands remain available for use to the general public on a first come, first-served basis.
8. To remove, modify, adjust, deface, destroy, or mutilate any building, structure, water control device, fence, gate, poster, notice, sign, survey or section marker, tree, shrub or other vegetation or any object of archaeological, geological, or historical value or interest.
9. To place fixed or permanent rock climbing hardware, unless the climber first obtains written permission from the Area Wildlife Manager pursuant to regulation #900.H. Removal of previously placed fixed or permanent climbing hardware is prohibited.
- 8.10. To litter in any form, to leave fish, fish entrails, human excrement, waste water, containers or cartons, boxes or other trash, garbage or toxic substance on any area or to bring any household or commercial trash, garbage or toxic substance to a Division-controlled area for disposal, or to dump trailer waste into any toilet or sanitary facility.
- 9.11. To set, or build, or tend a fire without provision to prevent the spreading thereof, or to leave a fire unattended. Where fires are specifically authorized, to allow a fire to burn in a careless manner; to leave any fire unattended; or to fail to completely extinguish any fire.

- ~~40.12.~~ To release or allow livestock to graze or range on any area, except that horses, mules, llamas, and burros may be used when in direct association with wildlife recreational activities.
- ~~44.13.~~ To possess, use or apply explosives (other than lawful firearm ammunition), fireworks, poisons, herbicides, insecticides or other pesticides.
- ~~14.~~ To release wildlife or privately-owned game birds, except privately-owned game birds released for field trials, including group dog training, or on those state wildlife areas where release for dog training is specifically authorized. ~~in #901.B of these regulations; or~~
- ~~42.15.~~ ~~†To allow to permit~~ dogs, cats, or other domestic pets ~~to run at large (not on a leash)~~ on any area, except dogs lawfully used while actively hunting, or while training dogs for hunting, or during Division licensed field trials. Service animals, as defined by 28 C.F.R. § 35.104(2016) are permitted. Later amendments to the definition of service animal are not incorporated. Copies of the definition may be obtained at Colorado Parks and Wildlife, 6060 Broadway, Denver CO 80216 or via the U.S. Department of Justice, Civil Rights Division, Disability Rights Section, 950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Washington, D.C. 20530-0001.
- ~~13.16.~~ To excavate or dig trenches, holes, or pits.
- ~~44.17.~~ To launch, or take out vessels, except those being actively used for fishing and/or hunting. To leave vessels beached, at anchor, moored or docked ~~unattended~~ overnight, except in areas designated for that purpose.
- ~~45.18.~~ To fish from, block or impede any Division-controlled boat ramps or boat docks when in conflict with boaters or as posted.
- ~~46.19.~~ To snorkel, scuba dive, or spearfish with the aid of diving mask, swim fins, snorkel, and/or air tanks, except in waters where swimming is permitted, when location is properly identified by a "divers down flag," and when the scuba diver has a valid S.C.U.B.A. diver's certificate issued by a recognized S.C.U.B.A. training organization.
- ~~17.20.~~ To engage in any unlawful conduct or act as defined in Title 18, C.R.S.
- ~~18.~~ ~~To utilize any air or gas inflated floating device as a means of transportation upon or across the surface of the water unless such device is of multi-compartment construction and has a rigid motor mount for those devices propelled by gasoline or electric motors. Single compartment air or gas filled flotation devices are restricted to designated swimming areas.~~
- ~~49.21.~~ To promote, sponsor, ~~or~~ conduct or participate in boat regattas, paintball shooting, queuing, or other non-wildlife oriented activities.
- ~~20.22.~~ To launch or land any aircraft.
23. To launch, land or operate any unmanned aerial vehicle including but not limited to drones, and model airplanes.

~~21-24.~~ To leave any decoys or anything used as decoys set up in the field or on the water overnight.

~~22-25.~~ To engage in water contact activity, ~~To swim,~~ except in designated waters or where in association with specifically authorized ~~water contact activities.~~

~~23-26.~~ To discharge a firearm or bow within designated parking, camping, or picnic areas.

~~24-27.~~ To possess the following types of ammunition and/or firearms: tracer rounds, armor-piercing rounds, military hardened rounds with explosive or radioactive substances, .50 caliber BMG rounds, or fully automatic firearms.

~~25-28.~~ To possess, store, or use hay, straw, or mulch which has not been certified as noxious weed free in accordance with the Weed Free Forage Crop Certification Act, Sections 35-27.5-101 to 108, C.R.S., or any other state or province participating in the Regional Certified Weed Free Forage Program. See Appendix A of this chapter. All materials so certified shall be clearly marked as such by the certifying state or province. Exempted from this prohibition are persons transporting such materials on Federal, State, or County roads that cross Division property; and hay produced on the property where it is being used.

~~26-29.~~ Upon notification by authorized Colorado Parks and Wildlife personnel of a violation of any of the above (or any other law of the State of Colorado) and where the unlawful activity is not immediately and permanently discontinued or if it is of a continuing nature, the violator(s) may be required to leave Colorado Parks and Wildlife property for a minimum of 72 hours.

~~27-30.~~ To trap, unless such trapping is done in accordance with the provisions of 33-6-204 (General Exemptions), 33-6-205 (Exemptions for Departments of Health), 33-6-206 (Nonlethal Methods Exemptions), #901 and Chapter W-3 of these regulations. Persons wishing to use the above-mentioned exemptions must have prior authorization from Colorado Parks and Wildlife.

~~28-31.~~ To conduct field trials or group dog training without first obtaining a field trial license, in accordance with the provisions of Chapter W-8 of these regulations.

~~29-32.~~ ~~30-~~Consumption of alcoholic beverages on lands and waters under the supervision, administration, and/or jurisdiction of the Division is permitted with the following exceptions:

- a. It shall be prohibited to consume alcoholic beverages on any archery or firearm range unless specifically authorized by a concession contract, cooperative agreement or special activities permit, and then only allowed in areas specifically designated by the contract, agreement, or permit.
- b. It shall be prohibited to sell and/or dispense alcoholic beverages on any lands and waters under the supervision, administration, and/or jurisdiction of the Division unless specifically authorized by a concession contract, cooperative agreement, or special activities permit, and then only allowed in areas specifically designated by the contract, agreement, or permit and the applicant party has obtained all appropriate licenses and permits to sell and/or dispense alcoholic beverages.

- c. It shall be prohibited to be present on any lands and waters under the supervision, administration, and/or jurisdiction of the Division when under the influence of alcohol or any controlled substance to the degree that may endanger oneself or another person, damage property or resources, or may cause unreasonable interference with another person's enjoyment of any lands or waters under the supervision, administration, and/or jurisdiction of the Division.

D. Limitation of People and Vehicle Usage

1. The Director of Colorado Parks and Wildlife may establish and enforce a limitation not to exceed sixty (60) days, on public occupancy of the land and water areas owned or leased by the Division.

The Director shall use only the following criteria when establishing such limitation:

- a. The location and size of the area.
 - b. The location, type and condition of roads, vehicle parking areas and the number and type of sanitary facilities available.
 - c. The number of users and vehicles the area will tolerate without significant degradation to wildlife resources, and public or private property.
 - d. Opportunity to assure public safety, health and welfare.
2. Whenever such limitation is exercised, the area(s) involved shall be posted indicating the specific number of persons or vehicles permitted within the area at all times when such area is posted. It shall be unlawful for any person or vehicle to enter any such area(s) posted as being fully occupied or after being advised by an officer of the Division that the area is full.
 3. The Division may waive these restrictions for daytime use during a specified period of time for organized supervised groups whose numbers exceed the limitations set forth. Written approval must first be obtained from the appropriate Regional Manager.

E. Closure of Properties to Public Use

1. The Director of Colorado Parks and Wildlife may establish and enforce temporary closures of, or restrictions on, lands or waters owned or leased by the Division, or portions thereof, for a period not to exceed nine months, when any one of the following criteria apply:
 - a. The property has sustained a natural or man-made disaster such as drought, wildfire, flooding, or disease outbreak which makes public access unsafe, or where access by the public could result in additional and significant environmental damage.
 - b. The facilities on the property are unsafe.
 - c. To protect threatened or endangered wildlife species, protect wildlife resources from significant natural or manmade threats, such as the introduction or spread of disease or nuisance species, changing environmental conditions or other similar threats, protect time-sensitive wildlife use of lands or waters, or facilitate Division-sponsored wildlife research projects or management activities.

2. Whenever such closure is instituted, the area(s) involved shall be posted indicating the nature and purpose of the closure. It shall be unlawful for any person or vehicle to enter any such area(s) posted as closed.

F. Criteria for Activities Requiring Express Authorization - Whenever an activity requires expressed authorization (e.g. target practice) the Division shall grant or deny permission based on consideration of public safety and wildlife resource protection.

G. Commercial Use of State Wildlife Areas

1. Except as provided herein, commercial use of state wildlife areas, including, but not limited to, the provision of any goods or services to members of the general public using the state wildlife area, is prohibited. However, commercial uses of state wildlife areas may be allowed by the Division when:
 - a. such commercial use will not adversely impact wildlife resources or habitat;
 - b. there is a demonstrated need for the goods or services to be provided as part of such commercial use;
 - c. such commercial use will not unreasonably interfere with the primary wildlife related recreational uses of the state wildlife area by members of the general public;
 - d. the state wildlife area, and its existing facilities, can safely accommodate such commercial use; and
 - e. Such commercial uses may be exclusive or nonexclusive, as determined by the Division to be necessary for the proper management of the state wildlife area in light of the criteria set forth above and the compensation provided to the Division.
2. Prior to making any commercial use of a state wildlife area, a person must receive a permit from the Division or enter into a commercial use agreement with the Division providing for such use. Any person accessing a State Wildlife Area under such authority is not required to have a valid hunting or fishing license, or Colorado State Wildlife Area pass. Such permit or agreement shall, at a minimum, include provisions regarding:
 - a. the specific goods or services to be provided;
 - b. user number restrictions;
 - c. seasonal or time restrictions;
 - d. record-keeping requirements, including, but not limited to, a requirement that the authorized user maintain records regarding the goods and services provided, the date(s) and time(s) the person provided these goods and services on the property, and the number of goods or services provided, by user day, for a period of at least three years. Such records shall be available for inspection by the Division;
 - e. compensation to the Division: a minimum fee equal to 5% of the gross income generated by the activity shall be paid to the Division, but in no event shall any fee for a commercial use permit or agreement be less than \$100. The \$100 minimum shall be paid at the time the permit is issued or the agreement is signed. The Division may impose additional items, conditions and charges in connection with the permit or agreement as reasonably necessary to offset the administrative burden, costs or risks associated with the proposed activities;
 - f. the Division may retain third party consultants to evaluate the potential adverse impacts of the proposed activity and develop appropriate strategies to offset or mitigate such risks. The applicant shall be notified if the Division decides to retain a consultant and shall be given the opportunity to provide input concerning consultant

selection and scope of work. The applicant shall be responsible for the actual costs associated with this consultant review.

- g. the term or length of the permit or agreement, and a provision providing for cancellation or termination of such permit or agreement for any failure to comply with its terms and conditions and any applicable laws;
 - h. any other provision necessary to protect wildlife resources, habitat or public safety, to prevent conflict with primary wildlife related recreational uses of the state wildlife area by the general public or to properly administer the commercial use and the commercial use permit or agreement, including bonding requirements.
3. Incidental commercial services such as the renting of pack animals or their services to remove harvested animals; emergency vehicle repairs or tow services; or other similar incidental services may be provided to wildlife recreational users without a commercial use permit or agreement when the service is relatively infrequent, the provider does not advertise for or solicit business specifically for a state wildlife area and maintains a separate place of business, and the service is not one for which the provider is required by law to obtain a guide or outfitter license.

H. Special (Non-Wildlife Related) Use of State Wildlife Areas

1. Except for uses or activities otherwise specifically prohibited by these regulations, the Division may allow special (non-wildlife related) uses of state wildlife areas. Special uses may only be allowed if:
 - a. such use will not adversely impact wildlife resources or habitat;
 - b. such use will not interfere with wildlife-related recreational uses of the state wildlife area by members of the general public;
 - c. such use is non-commercial in nature; and
 - d. the state wildlife areas, and its existing facilities, can safely accommodate such use.
2. Prior to making any special use of a state wildlife area, a person must receive a permit from the Division or enter into a special use agreement with the Division. Any person accessing a State Wildlife Area under such authority is not required to have a valid hunting or fishing license, or Colorado State Wildlife Area pass. Such permit or agreement shall, at a minimum, include provisions regarding:
 - a. the nature of the special use;
 - b. user number restrictions;
 - c. time and date restrictions;
 - d. compensation to the Division: A minimum fee of \$100 shall apply to all special use permits and agreements, but in no event shall the compensation received by the Division be less than the costs of administering such use, including, but not limited to, staff time;
 - e. cancellation or termination of the permit or agreement for any failure to comply with the terms and conditions of the permit or agreement and any applicable laws; and
 - f. any other provision necessary to protect wildlife resources, habitat or public safety, to prevent conflict with primary wildlife related recreational uses of the state wildlife area by the general public or to properly administer the special use and the special use permit or agreement, including bonding requirements.

I. Utility and Road Easements

1. The Director may grant easements, for a term not to exceed twenty-five (25) years, on properties owned in fee title by the Division after consideration of the following:
 - a. financial consideration for the easement represents fair market value and is no more than \$100,000;
 - b. the easement is customary or minor in nature, or is a replacement, modification or confirmation of an existing easement;
 - c. the easement is not detrimental to wildlife habitat, water resources, or the operation of a hatchery, fish rearing facility or administrative facility and is in the public interest; and
 - d. the businesses or persons involved in or maintaining the utility or road easements are not required to have a valid hunting or fishing license, or Colorado State Wildlife Area pass.

J. Leases

1. The Director may execute documents related to existing leases wherein the Division is either the lessor or lessee, after consideration of the following:
 - a. the document is a renewal, extension or amendment of an existing lease;
 - b. the renewal or extension is for a term not to exceed twenty-five (25) years;
 - c. total consideration for the entire potential term of the renewal, extension or amendment represents fair market value and is no more than \$100,000;
 - d. the renewal, extension or amendment supports, protects, enhances or is not detrimental to wildlife habitat, water resources or the operation of a hatchery, fish rearing facility or administrative facility and is in the public interest; and
 - e. the businesses or persons involved in or maintaining the lease are not required to have a valid hunting or fishing license, or Colorado State Wildlife Area pass.

2. The Director may execute a new lease for staff housing for a term not to exceed twelve (12) months.

ARTICLE II - PROPERTY-SPECIFIC PROVISIONS

#901 - PROPERTY-SPECIFIC REGULATIONS

See Appendix B for a list of properties without property-specific regulations, to which only restrictions in #900 apply)

- A. On all Division properties which have reservations available or required, those reservations may be made by phone or online (cpw.state.co.us). Reservations for small game and waterfowl hunting may not be made more than 14 days in advance of the hunt date, nor after 12:00 noon on the day before the hunt date. Reservations for big game hunting may not be made more than 45 days in advance of the start of the season for which the reservation is being made. Unless otherwise specified, reservations for big game hunting are valid throughout the season designated by the license. Hunters who wish to cancel a reservation must do so no later than 12:00 noon on the day before the hunt date. Failure to hunt a reserved area without prior cancellation, or follow check station procedures, may cause forfeiture of the privilege to make reservations for the remainder of the hunting season. Hunters are limited to a maximum of one reservation per hunt date. Hunters must possess a valid license for the species to be hunted in order to make a reservation. Reservations are not transferable. The individual named on the reservation must be at the property on the day of the hunt. Hunters with reservations may only hunt the hunt area specified on the reservation. Any exceptions to the above restrictions will be listed under property specific regulations.

- B. In addition to or in place of those restrictions listed in regulation #900, the following provisions or restrictions apply:
 1. **Adams State Wildlife Area - Routt County**
 - a. Public access is prohibited from December 1 through ~~June 30~~ July 15.
 - b. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting. Camping is prohibited.
 - c. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
 - d. ~~Dogs are prohibited, except as an aid in hunting grouse.~~
 - e. ~~Vehicle access is prohibited beyond the parking area.~~

 2. **Adobe Creek Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Bent and Kiowa Counties**
 - a. Public access is prohibited from one (1) hour after sunset to one (1) hour before sunrise ~~daily~~, except while for camping, while hunting, or while fishing.

 - b. ~~All terrain vehicles, dirt bikes, and snowmobiles are prohibited.~~
 - c. ~~Public access to the frozen surface of the lake is prohibited.~~
 - d. ~~Public access to the dams, inlets, and outlet structures is prohibited, except for~~ while fishing.
 - d. Launching and use of all vessels is allowed.
 - e. Water contact activities are allowed.
 - f. Camping is allowed in designated and established camping areas only.

g. Fires are allowed within an established containment structure in designated areas.

3. Alberta Park Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Mineral County

- a. Launching and use of all vessels is allowed.
- b. Operating a vessel in a manner that creates a whitewater wake is prohibited.

3.4. Almont Triangle State Wildlife Area - Gunnison County

- a. Public access is prohibited from December 1 through April 30.

5. Andrews Lake State Wildlife Areas - San Juan

- a. Vessel use is prohibited, except for hand-launched vessels that are propelled by hand.

4.6. Andrick Ponds State Wildlife Area - Morgan County

- a. Public access is prohibited from 9:00 p.m. – 4:00 a.m.
- b. Public access is limited to Saturdays, Sundays, Wednesdays, and state and federal holidays.
- ~~c. Camping is prohibited. From June 1 through August 31 wildlife viewing is allowed from designated area only.~~
- ~~d. From September 1 through the dark goose season, only migratory bird hunting within designated areas is permitted. Reservations are required and valid until sunrise, and are limited to three (3) per hunter annually. Reservations must be made in accordance with #901.A of these regulations. Fires are prohibited.~~
- ~~e. Hunters must check-in and out at check stations. Hunters may not check-in until 4:00 a.m. and can only hunt the area reserved. Hunters may check-in on a first-come, first-serve basis after a hunter checks out or after sunrise if a hunter has not checked-in. Maximum of four (4) hunters allowed per hunting area. Fishing is prohibited.~~
- ~~f. From the end of the dark goose season through the spring turkey season, only turkey hunting is permitted. During spring turkey season, reservations are required and valid until sunrise. Hunters must check-in and out at the check station on CR AA, but may hunt the entire property. Dog training is prohibited.~~
- ~~g. During waterfowl and turkey seasons, scouting is prohibited, except on Thursdays from 10:00 a.m. – 2:00 p.m. All persons must check-in and out at check stations. All firearms and dogs are prohibited while scouting. Target practice is prohibited.~~
- ~~h. Hunting with centerfire rifles is prohibited.~~
- ~~i. Hunting on Clark Lake is prohibited.~~
- ~~j. From September 1 through the dark goose season, only migratory bird hunting within designated areas is permitted. Reservations are required and valid until sunrise, and are limited to three (3) per hunter annually. Reservations must be made in accordance with #901.A of these regulations. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.~~
- ~~k. Hunters must check-in and out at check stations. Hunters may not check in until 4:00 am and can only hunt the area reserved. Hunters may check-in on a first-come, first-serve basis after a hunter checks out or after sunrise if a hunter has not checked-in. Maximum of four (4) hunters allowed per hunting area. Fishing is prohibited.~~

- l. ~~From the end of the dark goose season through the spring turkey season, only turkey hunting is permitted. During spring turkey season, reservations are required and valid until sunrise. Hunters must check in and out at the check station on CR AA, but may hunt the entire property. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times.~~
- m. ~~During waterfowl and turkey seasons, scouting is prohibited, except on Thursdays from 10:00 am— 2:00 pm. All persons must check in and out at check stations. All firearms and dogs are prohibited while scouting. Dog training is prohibited.~~

7. Apishapa State Wildlife - Las Animas County

- a. ~~Public access is prohibited from June 1 through August 15.~~
- b. ~~Camping is allowed in designated parking areas by licensed hunters during an established big game, spring turkey, and fall turkey season plus three (3) days before and three (3) days after each season.~~

5. Arikaree State Wildlife Area - Yuma County

- ~~a. Public access is prohibited from June 1— August 31.~~
- ~~b. Public access is prohibited from 9:00 pm— 4:00 am.~~
- ~~c. Camping is prohibited.~~
- ~~d. Fires are prohibited.~~
- ~~e. Dog training is prohibited.~~
- ~~f. Target practice is prohibited except when authorized by the Area Wildlife Manager.~~

8. Arkansas River/Big Bend State Wildlife Area (Fishing Easement) - Chaffee County

- a. ~~Public access is prohibited, except while fishing.~~
- b. ~~Parking and access is allowed from designated parking areas only.~~
- c. ~~Dogs are prohibited.~~

6.9. Atwood State Wildlife Area - Logan County

- a. ~~Public access is prohibited from 9:00 p.m. – 4:00 a.m.~~
- b. ~~All recreational activities, except deer hunting, are prohibited on opening weekend of the regular plains rifle deer season and on the opening day and first weekend of the late plains rifle deer season. Camping is prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Fires are prohibited. The launching or takeout of vessels is prohibited during waterfowl seasons.~~
- d. ~~Dog training is prohibited.~~
- e. ~~Horses use is are prohibited.~~
- f. ~~Target practice is prohibited except when authorized by the Area Wildlife Manager.~~
- g. ~~All recreational activities, except deer hunting, are prohibited on opening weekend of the regular plains rifle deer season and on the opening day and first weekend of the late plains rifle deer season.~~
- h. ~~The launching or takeout of vessels is prohibited during waterfowl seasons.~~

7.10. Badger Basin State Wildlife Area (Fishing Easement) - Park County

- a. ~~Camping is prohibited. Public access is prohibited, except while fishing.~~
- b. ~~Public access is allowed within the fenced and posted easement only.~~

- ~~bc.~~ ~~Fires are prohibited~~ Parking and access is allowed from designated parking areas only.
- ~~ed.~~ ~~Hunting is prohibited.~~
- ~~d.~~ ~~Parking is prohibited, except in designated areas.~~
- ~~e.~~ ~~Public access is allowed only from designated parking areas and is prohibited beyond the fenced and posted easement.~~

8-11. Banner Lakes State Wildlife Area - Weld County

- a. ~~Public access is prohibited north of Colo 52 from April 1 through July 15~~ Boating is prohibited, except for float tubes or craft propelled by hand.
- b. ~~Camping is prohibited~~ Public access is restricted to foot traffic only.
- c. ~~Fires are prohibited~~ Parking and access is allowed from designated parking areas only.
- d. Public access is prohibited from the first day of the regular waterfowl season to the day before the first day of pheasant season, except for waterfowl hunting on Saturdays, Sundays, Mondays and state and federal holidays. During this period reservations are available for waterfowl, but not required. Reservations are valid throughout the reserved day until the hunter with the reservation checks out. Hunters may check-in on a first come, first served basis after a hunter with a reservation checks out, or if no reservation exists for a hunt area after 12:00 midnight immediately preceding the hunt, or if a reserved area is not claimed by legal sunrise. Reservations may be made in accordance with #901.A of these regulations. No more than four hunters are allowed per reservation. Hunters with reservations may only hunt the hunt area specified on the reservation. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except when hunting or training hunting dogs.
- e. Waterfowl hunters must check-in and check out at the designated check station. Discharge of bows is allowed for bowfishing.
- f. ~~Horseback riding is prohibited~~ Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting, training hunting dogs, or bowfishing.
- g. ~~Bicycling is prohibited.~~
- ~~h.~~ ~~Fishing is prohibited from October 1 through the end of February.~~
- ~~ih.~~ Public access is prohibited from the first day of the regular waterfowl season to the day before the first day of pheasant season, except for waterfowl hunting on Saturdays, Sundays, Mondays and state and federal holidays. During this period reservations are available for waterfowl, but not required. Reservations are valid throughout the reserved day until the hunter with the reservation checks out. Hunters may check in on a first come, first served basis after a hunter with a reservation checks out, or if no reservation exists for a hunt area after 12:00 midnight immediately preceding the hunt, or if a reserved area is not claimed by legal sunrise. Reservations may be made in accordance with #901.A of these regulations. No more than four hunters are allowed per reservation. Hunters with reservations may only hunt the hunt area specified on the reservation. Vessel use is prohibited, except for hand-launched vessels that are propelled by hand when used as an aid for fishing or hunting or dog training.
- ~~ij.~~ ~~From the Thursday before September 1 through the end of the dark goose season, scouting is permitted only on Thursdays that are not open to hunting within and immediately prior to established waterfowl seasons. Scouting will be permitted from 10:00 am until 2:00 pm with a reservation confirmation number or letter issued by the Division, and all persons scouting must check in and check~~

- out at the check station. During scouting dates, firearms and dogs are prohibited. Horse use is prohibited.
- ~~kj.~~ Waterfowl hunters must check in and check out at the designated check station. Bicycles are prohibited.
 - ~~lk.~~ Public access is allowed only through designated parking areas.
 - ~~m.~~ Public access is prohibited north of Colo 52 from April 1 through July 15.
 - ~~n.~~ Public access is restricted to foot traffic only.
 - ~~e.~~ Dog training is ~~permitted~~ allowed north of Colo 52 during February, March and July 16 to August 31 only. Dog training is ~~permitted~~ allowed south of Colo 52 from February 1 through August 31 only.
 - ~~pl.~~ Field trials may be authorized during February, March, and August only. No more than four (4) field trials will be allowed per year, except that the number of group training events will not be limited.
 - ~~qm.~~ Domestic birds, feral birds, or ~~privately-owned~~ privately owned game birds may be released for field trials and for dog training south of Colo 52 by permit only, in accordance with the provisions of this chapter and other applicable regulations, including, but not limited to, #007, #008, #009, #801 and #804 of these regulations. All such birds taken during training activities shall be removed from the State Wildlife Area by the dog training permittee and all ~~privately-owned~~ privately owned game birds shall be prepared for human consumption.
 - ~~rn.~~ The Division is authorized to implement a dog training reservation system should overcrowding become an issue on the State Wildlife Area.

9.12. Basalt State Wildlife Area (Basalt Unit, Christine Unit, Toner Unit, Peachblow Unit, 7 Castles Unit, Schuck Unit) - Eagle and Pitkin Counties

- ~~a.~~ From March 15 through October 14, firearms may only be discharged on the shooting range on Monday, Tuesday, Thursday, and Friday from 7:00 a.m. until 7:00 p.m., and on Saturday and Sunday from 9:00 a.m. until 5:00 p.m. From October 15 through March 14, firearms may only be discharged on the shooting range on Monday, Tuesday, Thursday, and Friday from 9:00 a.m. until 4:00 p.m., and on Saturday and Sunday from 9:00 a.m. until 4:00 p.m. Except for muzzle-loaders, firearms on the shooting range are restricted to those lower than .50 caliber. Discharge of shotguns is allowed.
- ~~b.~~ With the exception of Christine Lake and the Basalt Shooting Range, public access is prohibited from December 1 through July 15, except while spring turkey hunting. Fully automatic firearms are prohibited.
- ~~c.~~ Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting or on the designated shooting range. From March 15 — October 14, firearms may only be discharged on the shooting range on Monday, Tuesday, Thursday and Friday from 7:00 a.m. until 7:00 p.m., and on Saturday and Sunday from 9:00 a.m. until 5:00 p.m. From October 15 — March 14, firearms may only be discharged on the shooting range on Monday, Tuesday, Thursday and Friday from 9:00 a.m. until 4:00 p.m., and on Saturday and Sunday from 9:00 a.m. until 4:00 p.m.
- ~~d.~~ Boating is ~~vessel use~~ is prohibited on Christine Lake.
- ~~e.~~ Camping is ~~prohibited~~ allowed, except by licensed hunters during an established big game or turkey season plus three (3) days before and three (3) days after each such season. With the exception of the Christine Lake and rifle range areas, all human activity is prohibited from December 1 to April 15 of the following year.

- f. Camping is prohibited ~~at all times~~ within one-quarter (1/4) mile of the Frying Pan River.
- g. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- h. ~~Water contact activities are prohibited on Christine Lake.~~
- i. ~~Field trials may be authorized during August and September only.~~
- j. ~~Dogs are prohibited, except as provided in 'i'.~~
- k. ~~Mountain bikes are prohibited.~~

40.13. Bayfield Lions Club Shooting Range - La Plata County

- a. Public access is allowed April 1 through November 30.
- b. Public access is allowed from 9:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m. from April 1 ~~through~~ October 31.
- c. Public access is allowed from 10:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. from November 1 ~~through~~ November 30.
- d. Pistol or rifle shooting is prohibited on the shotgun trap range.
- e. Shotguns, shooting slugs only, are allowed on the pistol-rifle range.
- f. Except for muzzleloaders, rifles are restricted to those smaller than .50 caliber.
- g. Except for clay targets, glass or other breakable targets are prohibited.
- h. Public access to Bayfield Lions Club Shooting Range is exempt from requirements set forth in section #900(C)1 of these regulations.

44.14. Beaver Creek Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Rio Grande County

- a. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.
- b. Launching and use of all vessels is allowed.
- c. Operating a vessel in a manner that creates a whitewater wake is prohibited. Bowfishing is prohibited.
- e. ~~Open fires are prohibited on the ice.~~
- d. ~~Boating is prohibited in a manner that creates a white water wake.~~

15. Beaver Creek State Wildlife Area - Fremont County

- a. Public access is prohibited from August 15 through April 30, except while hunting or fishing or while wildlife viewing from established parking areas.
- b. Dogs are prohibited.

42.16. Beaver Lake State Wildlife Area (Marble) - Gunnison County

- a. Vessel use is prohibited, except for hand-launched vessels that are propelled by hand when used as an aid for fishing.
- b. Boating is prohibited, except for float tubes or craft propelled by hand. Motor vehicles are prohibited on the dam.
- b.c. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- e. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.
- d. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- e. ~~Vehicles are prohibited on dam.~~

43.17. Bellaire Lake State Wildlife Area - Larimer County

- a. ~~Boating-Vessel use~~ is prohibited, except for hand-launched vessels that are float tubes or craft propelled by hand, wind or electric motor.
- b. Public access to Bellaire Lake State Wildlife Area is exempt from requirements set forth in section #900(C)1 of these regulations.

14.18. Bergen Peak State Wildlife Area - Clear Creek and Jefferson Counties

- a. ~~Public access is prohibited, except by foot and horse only~~ Discharge of firearms of bows is prohibited, except while hunting.
- b. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Dogs are allowed but~~ must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times, except as authorized in #900(C)(15) when used to hunt small game.
- e. ~~The discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except when hunting.~~

19. Big Meadows State Wildlife Area - Mineral County

- a. Launching and use of all vessels is allowed.
- b. Operating a vessel in a manner that creates a whitewater wake is prohibited.

15.20. Big Thompson Ponds State Wildlife Area - Larimer County

- a. Public access is prohibited from one (1) hour after sunset to one (1) hour before sunrise daily, except while fishing or when authorized by a night hunting permit. ~~Boating is prohibited, except for float tubes used for fishing.~~
- b. ~~Camping is prohibited~~ Vessel use is prohibited, except for hand-launched vessels that are propelled by hand when used as an aid for fishing or hunting.
- c. ~~Dog training is prohibited~~ Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting or bowfishing.
- d. ~~Fires are prohibited~~ Horse use is prohibited.
- e. ~~Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except when hunting.~~ Bicycles are prohibited.
- f. ~~Discharge of bows is allowed for bowfishing~~ Dog training and field trials are prohibited.
- g. ~~Public access is prohibited from one hour after sunset to one hour before sunrise daily, except when fishing or when authorized by a night hunting permit.~~
- h. ~~Horseback riding is prohibited.~~
- i. ~~Bicycle riding is prohibited.~~

16.21. Bighorn Springs State Wildlife Area (Fishing Easement) - Chaffee County

- a. Public access is prohibited, except while for fishing only.
- b. ~~Access is allowed only within the high water line~~ Public access is prohibited from one-half (1/2) hour after sunset to sunrise.
- c. Parking and access is allowed in from designated parking lots areas only.
- d. ~~Dogs are prohibited~~ Camping is prohibited.
- e. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~

17.22. Bill Patterson State Wildlife Area – Garfield County

- a. ~~Camping is prohibited~~ Waterfowl hunting is allowed from designated blinds only.
- b. ~~Fires are prohibited~~ Hunting is allowed with shotguns only.
- c. ~~Waterfowl hunting from designated blinds only~~ Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.
- d. ~~Hunting allowed with shotguns only~~ Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times except as authorized in #900(C)(15).

18-23. Billy Creek State Wildlife Area - Ouray and Montrose Counties

- a. Camping is allowed by licensed hunters during an established big game season plus (3) days before and (3) days after each season. ~~Snowmobile use is prohibited on the Colona Tract.~~
- b. Public access is prohibited from January 1 through April 30, except for hunting, fishing, and trapping along the Uncompahgre River corridor from US Hwy 550 to 100 feet from the east bank of the river.
- c. Launching and take out of non-motorized vessels is allowed. ~~Except for hunting, fishing and trapping along the Uncompahgre River corridor from US Hwy 550 to 100 feet on the eastern bank of the Uncompahgre River as posted, public access is prohibited from January 1 through April 30.~~

19-24. Bitterbrush State Wildlife Area - Moffat County

- a. Public access is prohibited from January 15 through April 30.
- b. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Motor V~~vehicle access is restricted to Moffat Co Rds 59 and 143.
- e. The placing of any portable blind, marker, stand or related structure is prohibited prior to August 1 annually and must be removed -
- f. ~~Any person who places any such portable blind, marker, stand or related structure shall be responsible for the removal of such materials, which removal must take place within 24 hours after that person harvestings an animal or within seven (7) days after the end of the archery pronghorn season, whichever comes first.~~

20-25. Blacktail Conservation Easement - Routt County

- a. Public access is prohibited from December 1 through ~~June 30~~July 15.
- b. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Dogs are prohibited, except as an aid in hunting grouse.~~
- e. ~~Vehicle access is prohibited beyond designated parking areas.~~

21-26. Bliss State Wildlife Area - Larimer County

- a. Vessel ~~launching and takeouts are~~use is prohibited.

22-27. Blue River State Wildlife Area (~~Blue River Unit, Eagles Nest Unit, Sutton Unit~~) - Summit County

- a. ~~Camping is prohibited~~Overnight parking is prohibited.
- b. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.
- c. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Firewood cutting is prohibited.~~
- e. ~~Vehicle parking overnight is prohibited.~~

28. Bob Terrell State Wildlife Area - Garfield County

- a. Launching and use of vessels is allowed, except that launching and take out of personal watercraft (PWC) is prohibited.
- b. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.

23-29. Bodo State Wildlife Area - La Plata County

- a. Public access is prohibited from December 1 through April ~~4530~~, except that:
 1. Small game hunting is allowed south of CR 210.
 2. ~~The Public access to the~~ Smelter Mountain Trail is allowed by open for foot access only from 10:00 a.m. - 2:00 p.m. ~~Dogs are prohibited from access under this provision.~~
- ~~b. Camping is prohibited.~~
- ~~eb.~~ Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except when while hunting.
- ~~dc.~~ ~~Snowmobile use is prohibited.~~
- ~~e.~~ ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- ~~f.~~ ~~The l~~aunching of paragliders is allowed from the Smelter Mountain Trail, subject to the restrictions listed in a.2 above.
- ~~d.~~ Dogs are allowed from May 1 through September 30 but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times, except as authorized in #900(C)(15).
- ~~e.~~ Dogs are allowed pursuant to #900(C)(15) from October 1 through November 30.

24-30. Boedecker Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Larimer County

- a. ~~Public access is prohibited from one (1) hour after sunset to one (1) hour before sunrise except while fishing. Boating is prohibited in a manner that creates a white water wake.~~
- b. Fishing is prohibited from vessels from November 1 through the last day of the migratory waterfowl season.
- c. ~~Horseback riding is prohibited~~ Launching and use of all vessels is allowed.
- ~~d.~~ Operating a vessel in a manner that creates a whitewater wake is prohibited.
- ~~de.~~ Sail surfboards are prohibited.
- ~~ef.~~ Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except when while hunting or bowfishing.
- ~~fg.~~ ~~Discharge of bows is allowed for bowfishing.~~ Horse use is prohibited.
- ~~g.~~ ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- ~~h.~~ ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- ~~i.~~ ~~Public access is prohibited from one hour after sunset to one hour before sunrise daily, except for fishing or when authorized by a night hunting permit.~~

25-31. Bosque del Oso State Wildlife Area - Las Animas County

- ~~a.~~ ~~Fires are prohibited, except in designated areas and in the fire containment structures provided by the Division.~~
- ~~b.~~ ~~The discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.~~
- ~~c.~~ ~~Discharge of bows is allowed for bowfishing.~~
- ~~d.~~ ~~Camping is prohibited outside designated areas, except by hunters during an established hunting season.~~
- ~~e.~~ ~~Parking is prohibited, except in designated areas.~~
- ~~f.~~ ~~Leaving unattended any food or refuse is prohibited unless it is being stored in a bear resistant manner or container.~~
- ~~g.~~ ~~Snowmobile, motorized and all terrain vehicles and bicycle use of established roads and trails may be prohibited when necessary to protect wildlife and prevent resource damage. Closures will be posted.~~

- ~~h.~~ Public access is prohibited from December 1 through April 30, except for properly licensed big game and spring turkey hunters and one non-hunting companion.
- ~~i.~~ Fishing is prohibited on the South Fork of the Purgatoire River within the boundaries of the Bosque del Oso State Wildlife Area from the first day after the Labor Day holiday weekend to the first day of the Memorial Day holiday.
- ~~c.~~ Parking and access is allowed from designated parking areas only.
- ~~d.~~ Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting or bowfishing.
- ~~e.~~ Camping is allowed by licensed hunters during an established big game, spring turkey, and fall turkey season plus three (3) days before and three (3) days after each season.
- ~~f.~~ Fires are allowed within a containment structure in designated camping areas.
- ~~g.~~ Leaving any unattended food or trash is prohibited unless it is being stored in a bear resistant manner or container.

26-32. Bravo State Wildlife Area - Logan County

- a. Public access is prohibited from 9:00 p.m. – 4:00 a.m.
- b. All recreational activities, except deer hunting, are prohibited on the opening weekend of the regular plains rifle deer season and on the opening day and first weekend of the late plains rifle deer season. Camping is prohibited.
- c. The launching or takeout of vessels is prohibited during waterfowl seasons. Fires are prohibited.
- d. Horse ~~use is~~ are prohibited.
- e. Field trials are prohibited.
- ~~f.~~ Target practice is prohibited except when authorized by the Area Wildlife Manager.
- ~~g.~~ All recreational activities, except deer hunting, are prohibited on the opening weekend of the regular plains rifle deer season and on the opening day and first weekend of the late plains rifle deer season.
- ~~h.~~ The launching or takeout of vessels is prohibited during waterfowl seasons.

27-33. Brower State Wildlife Area - Weld County

- ~~a.~~ Camping is prohibited.
- ~~b.~~ Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except shotguns or bows may be used while hunting.
- ~~c.~~ Public access is prohibited from the day after the spring turkey season through August 31. Additionally, public access is prohibited from the day after the close of the regular goose season through the day before the opening of the spring turkey season.
- ~~d.~~ Public access is prohibited, except unless while hunting with a valid hunting license.
- ~~e.~~ Fishing is prohibited.
- ~~f.~~ Public access is prohibited one (1) hour after sunset to 4:00 a.m.
- ~~g.~~ Parking is ~~only~~ allowed in the designated parking area only.
- ~~h.~~ Fishing is prohibited.
- ~~f.~~ Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except shotguns or bows may only be used while hunting.
- ~~g.~~ Horse use is prohibited.
- ~~i.~~ Fires are prohibited.

- ~~j.—Target practice is prohibited.~~
- ~~k.—Dogs are prohibited, except as an aid in hunting.~~
- ~~l.—Dog training is prohibited, except when training dogs for the purpose of hunting.~~
- ~~m.—The launching or takeout of vessels is prohibited.~~
- ~~n.—Hunting with center-fire rifles or muzzleloaders is prohibited.~~

28. — Brown Lakes State Wildlife Area – Hinsdale County

- ~~a.—Camping is prohibited.~~

29-34. Brownlee State Wildlife Area (Fishing Lease) - (Michigan River) Jackson County

- ~~a. a.—Public access is prohibited, except while for fishing only.~~
- ~~a.b. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.~~

30-35. Brownlee II State Wildlife Area (Fishing Lease) - (North Platte River) Jackson County

- ~~a. a.—Public access is prohibited, except while for fishing only.~~
- ~~a.b. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.~~

31-36. Browns Park State Wildlife Area (Beaver Creek Unit, Calloway Unit, Cold Springs Mountain Unit, Wiggins Unit) - Moffat County

- a. Public use is prohibited within the posted administrative area of the Calloway Unit.
- b. Public access on the Wiggins Unit is allowed by foot or horseback only except along the main road that runs east and west on the south end of the property.
~~Camping is prohibited in posted areas within the Cold Springs Mountain Unit.~~
- c. Camping is allowed in the Cold Springs Mountain Unit and only west of Beaver Creek in the Beaver Creek Unit except as posted.
- d. Fires are allowed within a containment structure.

32-37. Brush State Wildlife Area - Morgan County

- a. Public access is prohibited from 9:00 p.m. – 4:00 a.m., ~~except with an authorized night hunting permit.~~
- b. All recreational activities, except deer hunting, are prohibited on the opening weekend of regular plains rifle deer season and on the opening day and first weekend of the late plains rifle deer season.~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- c. The launching or takeout of vessels is prohibited during waterfowl seasons.~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- ~~d.—Target practice is prohibited except when authorized by the Area Wildlife Manager.~~
- ~~e.—Horse use is prohibited, except for training hunting dogs in February, March, April (through the Wednesday preceding the turkey season), and August.~~
- f. All recreational activities, except deer hunting, are prohibited on the opening weekend of regular plains rifle deer season and on the opening day and first weekend of the late plains rifle deer season.
- ~~g.—The launching or takeout of vessels is prohibited during waterfowl seasons.~~

33-38. Brush Hollow State Wildlife Area - Fremont County

- a. Boating is prohibited in a manner that creates a white water wake.~~Operating a vessel in a manner that creates a whitewater wake is prohibited.~~

- b. Hunting and the discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.
- ~~b. Camping is prohibited.~~
- ~~c. Fires are prohibited.~~

34.39. Brush Prairie Ponds State Wildlife Area - Morgan County

- a. Public access is prohibited from 9:00 p.m. – 4:00 a.m.
- b. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- ~~c. Fires are prohibited.~~
- ~~d. Target practice is prohibited.~~
- e. From September 1 through the dark goose season, only hunting ~~permitted~~allowed. Hunters must check-in and out at the check station.
- ~~f.~~ From September 1 ~~through~~ November 30, only migratory bird hunting within designated areas is ~~permitted~~allowed, and only on Saturdays, Sundays, Wednesdays, and state and federal holidays. Reservations are required and valid until sunrise, and are limited to three (3) per hunter annually. Reservations must be made in accordance with #901.A of these regulations.
- ~~g.~~ Hunters may not check-in until 4:00 a.m. and can only hunt the area reserved or which they check into. Hunters may check-in on a first-come, first-serve basis after a hunter checks out or after sunrise if a hunter has not checked-in. Maximum of four (4) hunters and two (2) vehicles allowed per hunting area.
- ~~h.~~ From September 1 ~~through~~ November 30, scouting is prohibited, except on Thursdays from 10:00 a.m. – 2:00 p.m. All persons must check-in and out at the check station. All firearms and dogs are prohibited while scouting.
- ~~i.~~ From December 1 through the dark goose season, hunters may check-in on a first-come, first-serve basis after 4:00 a.m. or after a hunter checks out. Five (5) hunting areas are open for check-in. Hunters properly checked in may hunt anywhere on the property.
- ~~j.~~ Up to two (2) hunting areas are reserved each year for residents with a physical address of Brush, CO. Applications to enter the drawing are available at the CPW Brush Service Center in mid-August. Hunters must possess a valid license to hunt waterfowl to enter the drawing. Hunters may apply for one hunt area per day, but can list multiple requests on one application. Hunters successful in the drawing are required to comply with all hunting restrictions listed in regulation #901.A of these regulations.
- ~~h.~~ Discharge of a firearm or bow is prohibited, except while hunting.

35.40. Buena Vista State Wildlife Area - Chaffee County

- a. Public access to Buena Vista State Wildlife Area is exempt from requirements set forth in section #900(C)1 of these regulations.

41. Burry State Wildlife Area (Fishing Lease) - Garfield County

- a. Public access is prohibited, except while fishing.
- b. Public access is limited to designated points as posted.
- c. Dogs are prohibited.

36.42. Centennial State Wildlife Area - Gunnison County

- a. Public access is prohibited from December 1 through June 30.
- b. ~~Motorized and mechanized vehicle use is restricted as posted.~~

~~c. Camping is prohibited.~~ Dog training and field trials are prohibited.

37.43. Centennial Valley State Wildlife Area – Weld County

- a. Public access is prohibited from one (1) hour after sunset – 4:00 a.m.
- b. Public access is prohibited from the day after the last day of the spring turkey season through August 31.
- c. During the spring turkey season, public access is prohibited except for licensed turkey hunters that have a turkey hunting reservation. A total of ten (10) reservation slots per day will be available for spring turkey hunters during the spring turkey season. Turkey hunters with a reservation may hunt the entire property. There is no annual limit on the number of turkey reservations. Reservations must be made in accordance with #901.A of these regulations. A maximum of four (4) hunters are allowed per turkey hunting reservation slot.
- d. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- e. ~~Dogs are prohibited, except as an aid to hunting.~~
- f. ~~Horses are prohibited.~~
- g. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- h. ~~Target practice is prohibited.~~
- i. ~~Hunting with centerfire rifles is prohibited.~~
- j. ~~The launching or takeout of vessels is prohibited.~~
- k. During the regular duck seasons, public access is limited to Saturdays, Sundays, Wednesdays, and state and federal holidays. Reservations are required to hunt waterfowl and small game, and are limited to three (3) per hunter annually. Waterfowl and small game hunters may only hunt the areas specified on their reservation. Reservations must be made in accordance with #901.A of these regulations.
- le. All reservation hunters must check out at one of the check stations located in each parking lot of the property.
- mf. Small game and waterfowl hunting is prohibited on the opening weekend of the regular plains rifle deer season and the opening day and first weekend of the late plains rifle deer season.
- g. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.
- h. Hunting with centerfire rifles is prohibited.
- i. Horse use is prohibited.

38.44. Cerro Summit State Wildlife Area - Montrose County

- a. Public access is prohibited, except for while fishing and hunting only.
- b. Public access is allowed by foot only.
- c. Parking and public access to the property is allowed from designated parking areas only.
- d. Hunting is prohibited from December 1 to August 14.
- ee. Fishing is prohibited from December 1 to February 28.
- d. ~~Access to the property is from the designated parking area only.~~
- e. ~~Public access is by foot only.~~
- f. Dogs are allowed as an aid in small game hunting only. Dogs are prohibited, from entering the water except as an aid in hunting.
- g. Vessel use and ~~W~~water contact activity is prohibited, except for launching and use of ~~by~~ float tubes (with waders) for fishing only.

45. Chaffee County Shooting Range State Wildlife Area - Chaffee County

- a. Public access is prohibited from sunset to sunrise.

39-46. Champion State Wildlife Area (Fishing Easement) - Chaffee County

- a. Public access is prohibited, except for while fishing ~~only~~.
b. ~~All Parking and~~ access is allowed must be from designated parking areas only.

40-47. Chance Gulch State Wildlife Area – Gunnison County

- a. Public access is prohibited from March 1 through June 30, except for through traffic on Gunnison Co Rd 42a and established roads connecting to designated BLM roads.

41. Charlie Meyers State Wildlife Area - Park County

- a. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
b. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~

42. Chatfield State Fish Unit - Douglas County

- a. ~~Dogs are prohibited.~~

43-48. Cherokee State Wildlife Area (Upper Unit, Middle Unit, Lower Unit, Lone Pine Unit, Roy Brown Unit) - Larimer County

- a. ~~Motor vehicle access is permitted on established roads as posted.~~
b. ~~Public access is prohibited from September 1 to May 1, except~~ while for hunting and fishing.
c. ~~Hunting and fishing access after the close of the last big game season is by foot only.~~
d. ~~Horse use is back and bicycle riding are~~ restricted to designated roads and trails, except for horses used as an aid in hunting big game.
e. Horse use is prohibited while hunting mountain lion.
f. Horse use is allowed on the Rattlesnake Loop on the Lone Pine Unit from May 2 through August 31.
g. Camping is allowed.
h. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times, except as authorized in #900(C)(15).

44-49. Chesmore State Wildlife Area - Chaffee County

- a. Public access to Chesmore State Wildlife Area is exempt from requirements set forth in section #900(C)1 of these regulations.

45-50. Christina State Wildlife Area (Elk River Fishing Easement) - Routt County

- a. Public access is prohibited, except while fishing.
b. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
c. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~

46-51. Chubb Park Ranch State Wildlife Area - Chaffee County

- a. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
b. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
c. ~~Target practice is prohibited.~~

- ~~d. Vehicles are prohibited off the county road.~~
- ~~e. Snowmobiles are prohibited.~~

47-52. Chuck Lewis State Wildlife Area - Routt County

- a. Public access is prohibited from sunset to sunrise except while hunting or fishing.
~~Overnight parking is prohibited.~~
- b. Overnight parking is prohibited.~~Public access is prohibited from 10:00 pm through 4:00 am daily.~~
- c. Camping is prohibited.
- ~~d. Fires are prohibited.~~
- ~~e. Dogs are prohibited, except as an aid in hunting waterfowl.~~
- ~~f. Big game and small game hunting are prohibited.~~
- ~~gd.~~ Waterfowl hunting is permitted~~allowed~~, except for within 50 yards of the bridge on Routt Co Rd 14F.
- ~~he.~~ Horses are ~~prohibited~~ allowed in the outside of the parking area.

- f. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.
- ~~i. Bicycles are prohibited.~~
- ~~j. The launching or takeout of all flotation devices (including, but not limited to, kayaks, canoes, rafts and tubes), except those being used exclusively for fishing, is prohibited.~~

48-53. Cimarron State Wildlife Area - Montrose and Gunnison Counties

- ~~a. Camping is prohibited.~~
- ~~b. Fires are prohibited.~~
- ~~c. Snowmobile use is prohibited.~~
- ~~db.~~ Vehicle Overnight parking is prohibited, except in established parking areas.
- ~~ec.~~ Public access is prohibited from January 1 through June 30.

49-54. Clear Creek Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Chaffee County

- a. Camping is ~~allowed~~ prohibited, except in ~~designated~~ established camping areas on the west end of the property only.
- b. Fires are ~~allowed~~ within a containment structure in designated camping areas, prohibited, except in campgrounds.
- c. Fishing is prohibited from the dam, spillway, outlet structures and downstream to US 24.

50-55. Cline Ranch State Wildlife Area - Park County

- a. Public access is allowed in designated parking area only.~~Access is by foot and horseback only.~~
- b. Horse use is restricted to designated trails only.~~A reservation is required for all horse use. Reservations may be made by calling the Park County Office of Tourism and Community Development at (719) 836-4279. A maximum of two reservations per day are allowed.~~
- ~~c. All access must be from designated parking areas only.~~
- ~~d. Overnight parking is prohibited~~
- ~~ec.~~ Fishing access is restricted to designated fishing areas (beats) only. Access to each fishing beat is restricted to occupants of the vehicle parked in the parking stall assigned to that beat (determined by corresponding number). No more than

~~four anglers are allowed per vehicle, and only one vehicle is allowed per stall. Fishing is by artificial flies and lures only.~~

~~f. The bag and possession limit for trout is two fish.~~

~~gd. Fishing is prohibited from October 1 through the end of February.~~

~~he. Hunting access is limited to occupants of vehicles parked in designated parking stalls with a maximum of four hunters per vehicle. Fishing access is restricted to designated fishing areas (beats) only. Access to each fishing beat is restricted to occupants of the vehicle parked in the parking stall assigned to that beat (determined by corresponding number). No more than four anglers are allowed per vehicle, and only one vehicle is allowed per stall.~~

~~if. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting. Hunting access is limited to occupants of vehicles parked in designated parking stalls with a maximum of four hunters per vehicle.~~

~~ig. Dogs are prohibited except as an aid in hunting training and field trials are prohibited.~~

~~k. Dog training is prohibited.~~

~~l. Camping is prohibited.~~

~~m. Fires are prohibited.~~

~~n. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.~~

56. Coal Creek Ranch State Wildlife Area (Access Easement) - Rio Blanco County

~~a. Public access allowed from May 1 through November 30 while fishing only.~~

~~b. Public access is allowed while deer and elk hunting during the archery and muzzleloader season only.~~

~~c. Public access is limited to four hunters per day and hunters must sign in and out of property as posted.~~

~~d. Parking and access is allowed from designated parking areas only.~~

51-57. Coalbed Canyon State Wildlife Area – Dolores County

~~a. Camping is prohibited.~~

~~b. Fires are prohibited.~~

~~c. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.~~

52-58. Cochetopa State Wildlife Area - Saguache County

~~a. Camping is prohibited.~~

~~b. Dogs are prohibited.~~

~~c. Fires are prohibited.~~

~~d. Public access is prohibited, except allowed by foot only from established designated parking areas.~~

~~eb. Public access is prohibited from one (1) hour after sunset until one (1) hour before sunrise, except when a hunter is retrieving downed game.~~

~~fc. Big game hunting is prohibited north of the posted east/west center line of Section 27, Range 2 East, Township 46 North.~~

~~d. Dogs are prohibited.~~

53-59. Coller State Wildlife Area - Rio Grande and Mineral Counties

~~a. Camping is prohibited Overnight parking is prohibited.~~

~~b. Snowmobile use is prohibited.~~

- c. Vessel use is prohibited, except for launching and take out of vessels that are propelled by hand.
- ~~e. Overnight parking is prohibited.~~
- d. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times, except as authorized in #900(C)(15).

54-60. Collins Mountain Ranch State Wildlife Area (Access Easement) – Rio Blanco County

- a. Public access is prohibited, except while hunting is restricted to elk and deer or elk hunting.
- b. Hunting access is allowed by reservation only. Reservation holders must have their confirmation letter with them at all times while hunting on the property.
- ~~c. To make a reservation, hunters must already possess a big game hunting license for one of the specific hunt codes permitted on the property.~~
- ~~dc. All hunters must comply with the Hunter Reservation System and reservations must be made through the Hunter Reservation System in accordance with #901.A of these regulations. Reservations must be made through the Hunter Reservation System in accordance with #901.A of these regulations.~~
- ~~ed. Motor vehicle use is prohibited, except for on designated roadways or through permission of the ranch owners. All other access is restricted to walk-in access only. Hunters with a reservation may be accompanied by one other person who is not hunting.~~
- ~~fe. Discharge of firearms or bows prohibited, except while hunting. Hunters may only access the property during the dates specified on their reservation.~~
- ~~gf. Fishing is prohibited. Vehicle use is prohibited except on designated roadways or through permission of the ranch owners. All other access is restricted to walk-in access only.~~
- ~~h. The following are prohibited on the property: overnight camping, dogs, fires, fishing, woodcutting, target shooting/sight-in, building permanent blinds, or gathering artifacts.~~
- ~~i. Reservations for the antlered deer and elk hunts are valid throughout the season designated by the deer or elk license.~~
- ~~j. Reservation for the antlerless elk hunts are restricted to certain portions of the late rifle private-land-only season.~~

55-61. Colorado River Island State Wildlife Area - Mesa County

- a. Camping is prohibited.
- ~~b. Hunting is prohibited, except for waterfowl hunting from designated blinds.~~
- ~~cb. Dogs are prohibited, except as an aid to hunting.~~
- ~~d. Waterfowl hunting on this property is allowed by reservation only. Reservations must be made through the Hunter Reservation System in accordance with #901.A of these regulations.~~
- ~~ec. All hunter must comply with the Hunter Reservation System and reservations must be made through the Hunter Reservation System in accordance with #901.A of these regulations. Hunters with reservations may only hunt the hunt area specified on the reservation. Hunters must check in and out at the property.~~
- d. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.

56-62. Colorow Mountain State Wildlife Area - Rio Blanco County

- a. Public access is prohibited from February 1 through April 30.
- b. Motorized vehicles are prohibited in the Scenery Gulch Unit.
- c. Motorized vehicles are prohibited in the Tschuddi Unit north of the designated camping area.
- d. Parking and ~~access is allowed from~~ camping is permitted in designated parking areas only, ~~as posted~~.
- e. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited within 200 yards of camping or parking areas or any structure.
- f. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.
- g. Camping is allowed in designated areas only.
- h. Fires are allowed within a containment structure.

57-63. Columbine State Wildlife Area - Douglas County

- a. Discharge of firearms is prohibited.
- b. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- ~~c.~~ Fishing is prohibited.
- ~~d.~~ Hunting is prohibited.
- ~~e.~~ Public access is prohibited in riparian areas for the protection of Preble's meadow jumping mouse, as posted.

58-64. Cottonwood State Wildlife Area - Morgan County

- a. Public access is prohibited from 9:00 p.m. – 4:00 a.m., ~~except with an authorized night hunting permit.~~
- b. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- ~~c.~~ ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- ~~d.~~ ~~Target practice is prohibited except when authorized by the Area Wildlife Manager.~~
- ~~e.~~ ~~Horse use is prohibited, except for training hunting dogs in February, March, April (through Wednesday preceding the turkey season), and August.~~
- ~~f.~~ All recreational activities, except deer hunting, are prohibited on the opening weekend of the regular plains rifle deer season and on the opening day and first weekend of the late plains rifle deer season.
- ~~g.~~ The launching or takeout of vessels is prohibited during waterfowl seasons.

59-65. Cottonwood Creek State Wildlife Area - Chaffee County

- a. Public access to Cottonwood Creek State Wildlife Area is exempt from requirements set forth in section #900(C)1 of these regulations.

60-66. Cowdrey Lake State Wildlife Area - Jackson County

- a. ~~Boating is~~ Operating a vessel prohibited in a manner that creates a white-water wake is prohibited.
- b. ~~Sail surfboards are prohibited~~ Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.
- c. Camping is allowed in designated areas only.
- d. Fires are allowed within an established containment structure in designated areas.
- e. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times except as authorized in #900(C)(15).

61-67. Creede State Wildlife Area – Mineral County

- a. ~~Public access is prohibited unless fishing~~Hatchery Tract:
 - 1. Hunting and the discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.
 - 2. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times.
 - 3. Overnight parking is prohibited.
- b. Mountain Views RV Park Fishing Easement
 - 1. Public access is allowed from designated access points as posted.
 - 2. Public access within the high water mark of the Rio Grande River is prohibited, except while fishing.
- c. Deep Creek Bridge Tract
 - 1. Hunting and the discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.
 - 2. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times.
 - 3. Overnight parking is prohibited.
- d. Vessel use is prohibited, except for launching and take out of vessels that are propelled by hand.

62-68. Crooked Wash Ranch State Wildlife Area (Access Easement) – Moffat County

- a. Public access is prohibited, except while ~~Hunting is restricted to antlerless elk hunting.~~
- b. ~~Hunting~~ access is allowed by reservation only. ~~Reservation holders must have their confirmation letter with them at all times while hunting on the property.~~
- c. All hunters must comply with the Hunter Reservation System and reservations must be made through the Hunter Reservation System in accordance with #901.A of these regulations. ~~To make a reservation, hunters must already possess a big game license for one of the specific hunt codes permitted on the property.~~
- d. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting. ~~Reservations must be made through the Hunter Reservation System in accordance with #901.A of these regulations.~~
- e. Motor vehicle use is prohibited, except for on designated roadways or through permission of the ranch owners. All other access is restricted to walk-in access only. ~~Hunters with a reservation may be accompanied by one other person who is not hunting.~~
- f. Fishing is prohibited. ~~Hunters may only access the property during the dates specified on their reservation.~~
- g. ~~Vehicle use is prohibited except on designated roadways or through permission of the ranch owners. All other access is restricted to walk-in access only.~~
- h. ~~The following are prohibited on the property: overnight camping, dogs, fires, fishing, woodcutting, target shooting/sight in, building permanent blinds, or gathering artifacts.~~

63-69. Cross Canyon State Wildlife Area - Dolores County

- a. Public access during the first two days of the rifle deer and elk seasons is restricted to youth and a non-hunting mentor. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- ~~b. Fires are prohibited.~~
- eb. Parking is allowed ~~prohibited, except~~ in designated parking areas only.
- ~~d. Snowmobile use is prohibited.~~

~~e. Access during the first two days of the rifle deer and elk seasons is restricted to youth and a non-hunting mentor.~~

~~fc. Discharge of firearms and or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.~~

~~gd. Dogs are prohibited, unless used as an aide in hunting training and field trials are prohibited.~~

64.70. Dan Noble State Wildlife Area - San Miguel County

a. Miramonte Reservoir Tract

1. Camping is ~~prohibited, except in the established campgrounds located along the Northeast, Southwest and Southeast portions of the reservoir.~~ allowed in designated areas only.

2. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except ~~when~~ while hunting ~~waterfowl.~~

3. ~~Waterskiing is prohibited from 6:00 pm through 10 am.~~ Launching and use of all vessels is allowed. Trailered vessels must be launched from boat ramps.

4. Waterskiing and ~~jet skiing~~ personal watercraft (PWC) are ~~allowed~~ prohibited, except in designated areas ~~located in only on~~ the western half of the reservoir. Waterskiing is allowed from 10:00 a.m. to sunset. Such areas will be designated as necessary to avoid conflicts with wildlife related recreational activities.

5. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times, except as authorized in #900(C)(15).

b. Greager Tract

1. Public access is prohibited from March 1 through May 15, except under permit issued by AWM/DWM for viewing purposes.

2. Public access is allowed by foot or horseback only.

3. Viewing site is limited to area selected by Division personnel.

34. Viewing parties will abide by all restrictions and conditions on the permit.

45. Snowmobile use is prohibited.

5. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~

6. ~~Access by foot or horseback only.~~

c. John Kane Tract

1. Public access is prohibited from March 1 through May 15.

2. Public access is allowed by foot or horseback only.

3. Snowmobile use is prohibited.

3. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~

4. ~~Access by foot or horseback only.~~

65.71. Dawn Pond State Wildlife Area - Bent County

a. Public access is ~~prohibited, except while~~ for fishing only; hunting is by landowner permission only.

b. Parking and access is allowed from designated parking areas only. ~~Boating is prohibited, except for float tubes or craft propelled by hand or electric motor.~~

c. ~~Parking is prohibited, except in designated areas.~~ Vessel use is prohibited, except for hand-launched vessels that are propelled by hand or electric motors are allowed when used as an aid in fishing or hunting.

66.72. Delaney Butte Lakes State Wildlife Area - Jackson County

- a. ~~Boating is prohibited~~Operating a vessel in a manner that creates a white-water wake ~~is prohibited~~.
- b. ~~Sail surfboards are prohibited~~Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.
- c. Fires are allowed within an established containment structure in designated areas.
- d. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times except as authorized in #900(C)(15).

67.73. Devil Creek State Wildlife Area - Archuleta County

- a. Snowmobile use is prohibited.
- b. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~

68.74. Deweese Reservoir State Wildlife Area – Custer County

- a. ~~a.~~Vessel use is prohibited, except while fishing. Any other water recreation use, other than fishing, is restricted to owners with deeded recreation rights on Deweese Reservoir.
- b. ~~Off-highway vehicle (OHV)~~ use is prohibited. Snowmobile use is allowed only as an aid in ice fishing.
- c. Camping is allowed by reservation only in designated and established camping areas.
- d. Fires are allowed within an established containment structure in designated camping areas.
- e. Glass containers are prohibited.
- f. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times, except as authorized in #900(C)(15).

69.75. Diamond J State Wildlife Area (Hunting and Fishing Lease) - (Illinois River and Michigan River) – Jackson County

- a. Public ~~a~~Access is allowed while ~~for~~ fishing, small game hunting, and waterfowl hunting only.
- b. Hunting is ~~restricted~~allowed with shotguns or by falconry only.
- c. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.

70.76. Dolores River State Wildlife Area - Montezuma County

- a. Parking is allowed in designated parking areas only.~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- b. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Fishing is prohibited in the rearing ponds.~~

71.77. Dome Lakes State Wildlife Area - Saguache County

- a. Discharge of firearms or bows is and hunting are prohibited in the designated safety zones or as posted.
- b. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times, except when used as an aid in hunting waterfowl.
- c. Camping is allowed in designated areas.
- d. Fires are allowed within a containment structure in designated camping areas.

72-78. Dome Rock State Wildlife Area - Teller County

- a. Public access is prohibited from December 1 through July 15 in the area bounded on the east by the Sand Creek Trail, on the north by the Dome Rock Trail, and on the west and south by the property boundaries. The Dome Rock Trail west of the Jack Rabbit Lodge is closed from December 1 through July 15. Camping is prohibited.
- b. Dogs are prohibited. Parking and public access is allowed from designated parking lots and connecting trails from Mueller State Park only.
- c. Fires are prohibited.
- d. Horseback and pack animal use is limited to allowed on designated roads and trails only, except when used as an aid to big game hunting.
- e. Public access is prohibited from December 1 to July 15 in the area bounded on the east by the Sand Creek Trail, on the north by the Dome Rock Trail, and on the west and south by the property boundaries. The Dome Rock Trail west of the Jack Rabbit Lodge is closed from December 1 to July 15.
- f. Public access is restricted to foot or horseback only from designated parking lots and connecting trails from Mueller State Park.
- g. Rock climbing is prohibited.
- e. Dogs are prohibited.

73-79. Douglas Reservoir - Larimer County

- a. Hunting is prohibited.
- b. Fires are prohibited.
- c. Boating in a manner that creates a white water wake is prohibited.
- d. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.
- e. Sailboards, sailboats, and ice skating are prohibited.
- f. Camping is prohibited.
- g. Public access is prohibited from one (1) hour after sunset until one (1) hour before sunrise, except while use other than fishing is prohibited.
- b. Hunting and the discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.
- c. The use of any vessel or single compartment air or gas filled flotation device and all water contact is prohibited, unless actively fishing.
- d. Operating a vessel in a manner that creates a whitewater wake is prohibited.
- e. Sailboards, sailboats and ice skating is prohibited.
- hf. All terrain type vehicles, dirt bikes OHV and snowmobiles use is are prohibited.
- g. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times, except as authorized in #900(C)(15). The use of any vessel or single compartment air or gas filled flotation device and all water contact is prohibited, unless actively fishing.

74-80. Dowdy Lake State Wildlife Area - Larimer County

- a. Launching and use of all vessels is allowed.
- b. Boating is Operating a vessel prohibited in a manner that creates a white-water wake is prohibited.
- cb. Public access to Dowdy Lake State Wildlife Area is exempt from requirements set forth in section #900(C)1 of these regulations.

75-81. Dry Creek Basin State Wildlife Area - San Miguel County

- a. Snowmobile use is prohibited.

- b. Camping is ~~prohibited, except~~ allowed in designated areas by licensed hunters during an established big game season plus three (3) days before and three (3) days after each season.

76-82. Duck Creek State Wildlife Area - Logan County

- a. Public access is prohibited from 9:00 p.m. – 4:00 a.m.
- b. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Target practice is prohibited except when authorized by the Area Wildlife Manager.~~
- e. ~~One field trial per year in February, March, or August may be authorized.~~

77-83. Dune Ridge State Wildlife Area - Logan County

- a. Public access is prohibited from 9:00 p.m. – 4:00 a.m.
- b. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Target practice is prohibited except when authorized by the Area Wildlife Manager.~~
- e. ~~Horse use is prohibited, except for training hunting dogs in February, March, April (through the Wednesday preceding the turkey season), and August.~~
- f. ~~All recreational activities, except deer hunting, are prohibited on the opening weekend of the regular plains rifle deer season and on the opening day and first weekend of the late plains rifle deer season.~~
- g. ~~The launching or takeout of vessels is prohibited during waterfowl seasons.~~

78-84. Dutch Gulch State Wildlife Area - Gunnison County

- a. Public access is prohibited from March 1 through June 30, except for through traffic on Gunnison Co. Rd 42 and on established roads connecting to designated BLM roads.
- b. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~

79-85. Eagle River State Wildlife Area (Fishing Leases) - Eagle County

- a. ~~Camping is prohibited~~ Public access is prohibited, except while fishing.
- b. ~~Fires are prohibited~~ Public access is limited to designated points as posted.
- c. ~~Public access is prohibited, except for fishing.~~
- d. ~~Dogs are prohibited.~~
- e. ~~Public access (ingress and egress) is limited to designated points as posted to protect private property.~~

80-86. Eagle Rock State Wildlife Area - Yuma County

- a. Public access prohibited from 9 p.m. ~~to~~ 4 a.m.
- b. Public access is ~~restricted to~~ allowed by foot traffic only.
- c. ~~Camping is prohibited~~ Horse use is prohibited, except while used in hunting.
- d. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- e. ~~Dog training is prohibited.~~
- f. ~~Target practice is prohibited, except when authorized by the Area Wildlife Manager.~~
- g. ~~Horse use is prohibited, except when used in hunting.~~

81-87. Echo Canyon Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Archuleta County

- a. ~~Launching and use of all vessels is allowed. Camping is prohibited.~~
- b. ~~Operating a vessel in a manner that creates a whitewater wake is prohibited. Fires are prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting. Boating in a manner that creates a white water wake is prohibited.~~
- d. Snowmobile use is prohibited.
- e. ~~Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times, except as authorized in #900(C)(15).~~

82-88. Elk Springs Ranch State Wildlife Area - Moffat County

- a. Public access is prohibited from March 1 through August 14.

83-89. Elliott State Wildlife Area - Morgan County

- a. Public access is prohibited from 9:00 p.m. – 4:00 a.m., ~~except with an authorized night hunting permit.~~
- b. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Horse use is prohibited, except for training hunting dogs in February, March, April (through the Wednesday preceding the turkey season), and August.~~
- e. All recreational activities, except deer hunting, are prohibited on the opening weekend of the regular plains rifle deer season and on the opening day and first weekend of the late plains rifle deer season.
- f. Landowner permission is required to hunt deer on access easement.
- g. The launching or takeout of vessels is prohibited during waterfowl seasons.
- h. Lonetree Tract:
 - 1. From September 1 through the regular duck seasons, hunters must check-in and out at check station. Hunters may not check-in until 4:00 a.m.
- i. Hamlin Tract:
 - 1. From September 1 through the regular duck seasons, hunters must check-in and out at check stations. Hunters may check-in on a first-come, first-serve basis after 4:00 a.m. or after another hunter checks out. Hunters may only hunt the area they check into, and must comply with youth-mentor only area restrictions as posted. Maximum of four (4) hunters allowed per hunting area.
- j. Union Tract:
 - 1. Only waterfowl hunting ~~permitted-allowed~~ from designated blinds or areas, and only on Saturdays, Sundays, Wednesdays, and state and federal holidays. Reservations are required and valid until sunrise, and are limited to three (3) per hunter annually. Reservations must be made in accordance with #901.A of these regulations.
 - 2. All hunters must check-in and out at check station. Hunters may not check-in until 4:00 a.m. and can only hunt the area reserved or which they check into. Hunters may check-in on a first-come, first-serve basis after a hunter checks out or after sunrise. A maximum of four (4) hunters allowed per hunting area.
 - 3. During waterfowl seasons, scouting is prohibited, except on Thursdays from 10:00 a.m. until 2:00 p.m. All persons must check-in and out at the check station. All firearms and dogs prohibited while scouting.

84-90. Emerald Mountain State Wildlife Area - Routt County

- a. Public access is prohibited from December 1 through ~~June 30~~ July 15.
- b. Public access is prohibited from sunset to sunrise except while fishing. 10:00 p.m. through 4:00 a.m. daily.
- c. Public access is allowed by foot and horseback only.
- d. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~ Discharge of firearms of bows is prohibited.
- e. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- f. ~~Dogs are prohibited.~~

85-91. Escalante State Wildlife Area - Mesa, Delta & Montrose Counties

- a. Public access is prohibited on the Hamilton and Lower Roubideau tracts from March 15 through July 31.
- b. Public access is prohibited in the Lower Roubideau tract youth area as posted from August 1 through March 14 except for youth fishing and hunting. No more than one mentor per youth hunter may engage in hunting.
- c. Field trials may be authorized during February, March, August, and September only.
- ~~b~~d. Dog training is prohibited on the Hamilton and Lower Roubideau tracts during any upland game bird or migratory bird season.
- ~~c~~e. Game birds listed in #009(B) of these regulations may be released by the Division or its agent for educational or training purposes without seasonal or numerical restrictions.
- d. ~~Public access is prohibited on the Hamilton and Lower Roubideau tracts from March 15 through July 31.~~
- e. ~~Hunting is limited to youth mentor hunting only on the Lower Roubideau tracts. No more than one mentor per youth hunter may engage in hunting.~~
- f. ~~Bowfishing is prohibited.~~

86-92. Fish Creek State Wildlife Area - Dolores County

- a. ~~Camping is prohibited, except during deer and elk seasons.~~
- b. ~~Public access is prohibited from December 1 through June 30.~~
- b. Camping is allowed in designated parking areas by licensed hunters during an established big game season plus three (3) days before and three (3) days after each season.

87-93. Flagler Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Kit Carson County

- a. ~~Boating is prohibited during the migratory waterfowl season, except for craft propelled by hand, wind or electric motor.~~
- b. ~~Boating is prohibited in a manner that creates a white water wake, except waterskiing is permitted on Sundays and Mondays from June 1 through August 31.~~
- e. ~~Hunting is prohibited, except for limited to youth mentor hunting only. No more than one mentor per youth hunter may engage in hunting.~~
- b. Camping is allowed by licensed hunters during an established big game season or spring and fall turkey season plus three (3) days before and three (3) days after each season or while actively fishing.
- c. Fires are allowed within an established containment structure in designated areas.

88-94. Flanders Ranch State Wildlife Area (Hunting and Fishing Easement) – Routt County

- a. Public access is allowed by foot only.
 - b. Public access is allowed from designated parking areas only.
 - ~~b.c.~~ Fishing is prohibited during established big game hunting seasons.
 - ~~c.d.~~ Waterfowl and big game hunting on the property will be permitted for one (1) group (up to four hunters) per day during established waterfowl seasons is allowed by reservation only.
 - e. All hunters must comply with the Hunter Reservation System and reservations must be made through the Hunter Reservation System in accordance with #901.A of these regulations.
- ~~89. Big game hunting on the property will be divided across eight established time periods with up to eight (8) reservations available per time period:~~
- ~~i. Three archery seasons for deer and elk (no overlap with muzzleloader season),~~
 - ~~ii. The muzzleloader deer and elk season,~~
 - ~~iii. The first regular rifle elk season,~~
 - ~~iv. The second regular rifle deer and elk season,~~
 - ~~v. The third regular rifle deer and elk season, and~~
 - ~~vi. The fourth regular rifle deer and elk season.~~
 - ~~b. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting. Waterfowl and big game hunting access is by reservation only. Reservation holders must have their confirmation letter with them at all times while hunting on the property.~~
 - ~~c. To make a reservation, big game hunters must already possess a license for one of the specific hunt codes permitted on the property.~~
 - ~~d. Reservations may be obtained through the Hunter Reservation System according to #901.A of these regulations.~~
 - ~~f. _____~~
 - ~~g. Launching and take out of vessels is prohibited.~~
 - ~~e. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash no greater than six feet in length by the handler, except as authorized in #900(C)(15) when used as an aid in waterfowl hunting.~~
 - ~~f. _____~~
 - ~~g. _____~~
 - ~~h. _____~~
 - ~~i. _____~~
 - ~~j. _____~~
- ~~Parking is prohibited, except in designated areas.~~
- ~~Public boating, launching or the recovery of boats from the Yampa River is prohibited.~~
- ~~h. _____~~

90. Fort Lyon State Wildlife Area – Bent County

- ~~a. ATVs and dirt bikes are prohibited.~~

91. Four Mile State Wildlife Area – Douglas County

- ~~a. Access is by foot and horseback only.~~
- ~~b. Camping is prohibited.~~
- ~~c. Fires are prohibited.~~

92-95. Frank State Wildlife Area - Weld and Larimer counties

- ~~a. All public access, including fishing and wildlife-related recreation, is prohibited north of the Poudre River.~~
- ~~b. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except when while bowfishing.~~
- ~~c. Fires are prohibited.~~

- ~~d.~~ Hunting is prohibited.
- ~~e.~~ Camping is prohibited.
- ~~fd.~~ ~~Boating is prohibited~~ Operating a vessel in a manner that creates a white-water wake is prohibited.
- e. Bicycles are allowed.

93-96. Franklin Island State Wildlife Area - Mesa County

- ~~a.~~ ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- ~~b.~~ Hunting is prohibited, except for waterfowl hunting from designated blinds.
- ~~c.~~ ~~Dogs are prohibited, except as an aid to hunting.~~
- ~~db.~~ Waterfowl hunting ~~on this property~~ is allowed by reservation only. ~~Reservations must be made through the Hunter Reservation System in accordance with #901.A of these regulations.~~
- ~~ec.~~ All hunters must comply with the Hunter Reservation System and reservations must be made through the Hunter Reservation System in accordance with #901.A of these regulations ~~Hunters with reservations may only hunt the hunt area specified on the reservation. Hunters must check in and out at the property.~~
- ~~d.~~ Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited. except while hunting.

94-97. Frantz Lake State Wildlife Area - Chaffee County

- ~~a.~~ ~~Camping is prohibited.~~ Vessel use is prohibited, except for hand-launched vessels that are propelled by hand, wind or electric motor.
- ~~b.~~ Hunting and the D ~~ischarge of firearms or bows~~ and firearms is prohibited.
- ~~c.~~ Water contact activities are allowed.
- ~~d.~~ Bicycles are allowed.
- ~~e.~~ Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times.

95-98. Frenchman Creek State Wildlife Area - Phillips County

- ~~a.~~ Public access is prohibited from 9:00 p.m. – 4:00 a.m.
- ~~b.~~ ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- ~~c.~~ ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- ~~d.~~ ~~Target practice is prohibited except when authorized by the Area Wildlife Manager.~~

99. Frying Pan State Wildlife Area (Fishing Lease) - Eagle County

- ~~a.~~ Public access is prohibited except while fishing.
- ~~b.~~ Public access is limited to designated point as posted.
- ~~c.~~ Dogs are prohibited.

96-100. Garfield Creek State Wildlife Area - Garfield County

- ~~a.~~ Public access is prohibited from December 1 through July 15, except for spring turkey hunters. ~~Camping is prohibited, except for seven days before the beginning of regular big game seasons through seven days after the end of regular big game seasons.~~
- ~~b.~~ Grouse hunting is prohibited on the Upper Baldy Unit. ~~Hunting is prohibited in the designated safety zone as posted.~~
- ~~c.~~ Hunting is prohibited within 75 yards of the center line of Garfield Co Rds 312 and 328.

- d. ~~Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited in the designated safety zones, or as posted. Public access is prohibited from December 1 through July 15, except for spring turkey hunters hunting below the junction or small game hunters hunting above the junction of Garfield Co Rds 312 and 328.~~
- e. ~~Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting. Dogs are prohibited, except as an aid in hunting.~~
- f. ~~Camping is allowed by licensed hunters during an established big game season plus three (3) days before and three (3) days after each season. Bicycles are restricted to Garfield Co Rds 312 and 328.~~
- g. ~~Fires are allowed within a containment structure while camping. Hunting of dusky grouse and ruffed grouse is prohibited on the Upper Baldy Tract.~~

97-101. Granada State Wildlife Area (formerly known as the XY River Tract)- Prowers County

- a. ~~Parking and access is allowed from designated parking areas only. Fires are prohibited.~~
- b. ~~Public access is prohibited from one (1) hour after sunset until one (1) hour before sunrise, except while actively hunting or fishing. Camping is prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Parking is prohibited, except in designated areas.~~
- d. ~~ATVs and dirt bikes are prohibited. All other motor vehicle use is restricted to access roads and parking lots only.~~
- e. ~~Area will be closed to public access from one hour after sunset until one hour before sunrise.~~
- f. ~~Midwestern Farms Tract~~
 - 1. ~~Hunting is restricted prohibited, except in the to the area south of the river road road and is by shotgun, archery, or falconry only.~~
 - 2. ~~Operating a vessel in a manner that creates a whitewater wake is prohibited. Swimming is prohibited.~~
 - 3. ~~Boating is prohibited.~~
 - 4. ~~Float tubes are prohibited.~~

98-102. Granby Ranch Conservation Easement - Grand County

- a. Public access (~~Gazebo and associated Gazebo trail excluded~~) is prohibited from November 15 ~~until through~~ April 15~~14~~.
- b. ~~Motor vehicles are prohibited~~Public access is allowed on designated trails only.
- c. ~~Fires are prohibited~~Bicycles are allowed on designated trails only.
- d. Dogs ~~are allowed but~~ must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times except as authorized in #900(C)(15).
- e. Public access to Granby Ranch Conservation Easement is exempt from requirements set forth in section #900(C)1 of these regulations.

99-103. Grand Junction - West Lake State Wildlife Area - Mesa County

- a. ~~Public access is prohibited from 9:00 p.m. – 6:00 a.m.~~
- b. ~~Boating Vessel use~~ is prohibited.
- c. ~~Public access is prohibited from 9:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m~~Hunting is prohibited.
- d. ~~Water contact activities are prohibited~~Dogs are allowed.
- e. Public access to Grand Junction - West Lake State Wildlife Area is exempt from requirements set forth in section #900(C)1 of these regulations.

400-104. Granite State Wildlife Area (Fishing Easement) - Chaffee County

- a. Public access is prohibited, except while fishing.
- b. Camping is prohibited. Launching and take out of vessels is prohibited.
- ~~bc. Fires are prohibited.~~
- ~~c. Dogs are prohibited.~~
- ~~dd. Mining activities and panning are prohibited.~~
- ~~e. Vessel ingress and egress is prohibited.~~

404-105. Grieve Ranch Conservation Easement - Routt County

- a. Public access is prohibited on the hay meadows north of Routt County Road 129. Fires are prohibited
- b. Public access to the Little Snake River while fishing is only allowed on the river corridor plus 20 feet above the high water line on either bank. Dogs are prohibited, except as an aid in hunting.
- c. Discharge of Firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting when used during lawful hunting activities.
- d. OHV and snowmobile use is prohibited. Camping is prohibited, except in developed campgrounds
- e. Camping is allowed in designated areas only. Snowmobile, all-terrain vehicle, and motorcycle use is prohibited.
- f. Fires are allowed within a containment structure in designated campgrounds. Commercial use is prohibited.
- ~~g. Woodcutting and gathering is prohibited.~~
- ~~h. Public access is prohibited on the hay meadows north of Routt County Road 129.~~
- ~~i. Fishing access to the Little Snake River is restricted to the river corridor plus 20 feet above the high water line on either bank.~~

402-106. Groundhog Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Dolores County

- a. Launching and use of vessels may be allowed as posted. Contact the Durango CPW office for current information. When allowed, trailered vessels must be launched from CPW boat ramp. When allowed, operating a vessel in a manner that creates a whitewater wake is prohibited. Boating is prohibited in a manner that creates a white water wake.
- b. Snowmobiles are allowed only as an aid in ice fishing. All motorized or trailered boats must launch at the CPW boat ramp.
- c. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times, except as authorized in #900(C)(15). Camping is prohibited.
- d. Public access to Groundhog Reservoir State Wildlife Area is exempt from requirements set forth in section #900(C)1 of these regulations.

403-107. Gunnison River State Wildlife Area (Van Tuyl and Redden) - Gunnison County

- a. Public access to the Gunnison River is by foot only from the Van Tuyl trail intersection at the Y-gate.
- b. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except for waterfowl hunting ~~with shotguns~~ on the Van Tuyl tract only.
- c. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times, except when used as an aid in hunting waterfowl. Camping is prohibited.
- ~~d. Fires are prohibited.~~

404-108. Gunnison State Wildlife Area - Gunnison County

- a. Public access ~~to the Gunnison River~~ is prohibited from December 1 through April 30.
- b. Public access to the Blinberry Gulch parcel is prohibited from December 1 through June 30.
- c. Public access is prohibited from one (1) hour after sunset to one (1) hour before sunrise, except for lawful hunting activities. from May 1 to August 15.
- d. Beaver Creek Trail is restricted to foot and horseback travel only.
- e. Camping is restricted to allowed in designated areas by licensed hunters during an established big game season plus three (3) days before and three (3) days after each season, and permitted August 16 to November 30 only.
- e. Beaver Creek Trail is restricted to foot and horseback travel only. f. Fires are allowed within a containment structure in designated camping areas.
- g. Archery range users must comply with archery range rules as posted.

405-109. Gypsum Ponds State Wildlife Area - Eagle County

- a. Public aAccess is prohibited between sunset and sunrise ~~to all users~~, except ~~those in the act of~~while hunting or fishing.
- b. Camping is prohibited Parking and public access is allowed through designated points as posted only.
- c. Fires are prohibited Launching and take out of vessels prohibited.
- d. Glass containers are prohibited.
- e. Dogs are prohibited from March 15 through June-July 15, to protect nesting waterfowl. When allowed dogs must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times except as authorized in #900(C)(15).
- f. Dogs are prohibited on the eastern ponds, except when being used for waterfowl hunting.
- g. Vessel launching and takeouts are prohibited.
- h. Field trials may be authorized during August and September only.

406-110. Hardeman State Wildlife Area (Fishing Easement) – Lake County

- a. Public access is prohibited, except while fishing.
- b. Camping is prohibited Launching and take out of vessels is prohibited.
- ~~c~~b. Fires are prohibited Hunting and the discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.
- ~~d~~e. Dogs are prohibited.
- ~~e~~d. Firearms are prohibited.
- e. Mining activities and panning are prohibited.
- f. Vessel ingress and egress is prohibited.

407-111. Harmon State Wildlife Area (Fishing Easement) - Chaffee County

- a. Public access is prohibited, except whilefor fishing ~~only~~.
- b. Fires and overnight camping are prohibited Public access is prohibited from one (1) hour after sunset to one (1) hour before sunrise.
- c. Firearms and hunting are Hunting and the discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.
- d. Dogs are prohibited.

408-112. Haviland Lake State Wildlife Area - La Plata County

- a. ~~Boating-Vessel use~~ is prohibited, except for hand-launched vessels that float tubes or craft are propelled by hand, wind or electric motor.
- b. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.

409-113. Hayden Shooting Range – Routt County

- a. Public access is prohibited from sunset to sunrise.
- b. Exploding targets and any targets other than paper and cardboard are prohibited.
- c. All rounds must impact designated berms, except for shotguns using bird shot.

114. Headwaters Ranch State Wildlife Fishing Easement – Lake County

- a. Public access is prohibited, except while fishing.
- b. Parking and access is allowed from designated parking areas only.
- c. Dogs are prohibited.

440-115. Heckendorf State Wildlife Area - Chaffee County

- a. ~~All Parking and~~ access must be allowed from designated parking areas only.
- b. Public access is prohibited from August 15 through April 30, except while hunting or while wildlife viewing from established parking areas. Camping is prohibited.
- c. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~

444-116. Hereford Haven State Wildlife Area – Routt County

- ~~a. Public a~~Access is allowed by foot only.
- ~~b. Fishing is prohibited during established big game seasons.~~
- ~~eb. Waterfowl hunting is allowed by reservation only.~~
Waterfowl hunting on the property is limited to one (1) group (up to four (4) hunters) per day during established waterfowl seasons.
- ~~dc. All hunters must comply with the Hunter Reservation System and reservations must be made through the Hunter Reservation System in accordance with #901.A of these regulations. Big game and small game hunting prohibited.~~
- ~~ed. Waterfowl hunting is by reservation only. Reservation holders must have their confirmation letter with them at all times while hunting on the property. Reservations may be obtained through the Hunter Reservation System according to #901.A of these regulations.~~
- ~~f. Big game and small game hunting prohibited. Dogs are prohibited, except as an aid in hunting waterfowl.~~
- ~~ge. Launching or the recovery of vessels from the Yampa River prohibited. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.~~
- f. Fishing is prohibited during established big game seasons.
- g. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times, except when used as an aid in hunting.

442-117. Higel State Wildlife Area - Alamosa County

- a. Public access is prohibited from September 1 through February 14, except on Saturdays, Sundays, Wednesday, and state and federal holidays.
- b. From September 1 through February 14, a valid access permit must be obtained. A maximum of 25 permits will be issued per day and are available at no charge on a first-come, first-served basis. Permits may be obtained by emailing montevista.wildlife@state.co.us or by calling (719) 587-6900.

1. Reservations may be made up to 14 days in advance, but not less than two days before the date requested.
- c. Public access is prohibited from February 15 through July 15 annually ~~to protect nesting water birds.~~
- d. The Area Wildlife Manager may authorize special use of the area during closures to accommodate educational or scientific uses if it will not be detrimental to nesting or migrating water birds.

413.118. Hohnholz Lakes State Wildlife Area - Larimer County

- a. Boating is prohibited, except for craft propelled by hand, wind or electric motor.
- b. Camping is prohibited, except within the Laramie River camping area.
- c. Public access is prohibited on the Grace Creek access road except to licensed hunters, beginning August 16 through the last day of the fourth rifle season.
- d. Sail surfboards are prohibited.

414.119. Holbrook Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Otero County

- a. ~~Hunting Discharge of firearms or bows~~ is prohibited in the designated safety zones, or as posted around the residence on the southwest side, as posted.
- b. Launching and use of all vessels is allowed.
- c. Water contact activities are allowed.
- d. Camping is allowed in designated and established camping areas.
- e. Fires are allowed within an established containment structure in designated areas.

415.120. Holly State Wildlife Area - Prowers County

- a. ~~Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited in the designated safety zones, or as posted. Camping is prohibited.~~
- b. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- c. ~~ATVs and dirt bikes are prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Hunting prohibited in designated safety zones between US 50 and Prowers Co Rd ff.~~

416.121. Holyoke State Wildlife Area - Phillips County

- a. Public access is prohibited from 9:00 p.m. – 4:00 a.m.
- b. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Target practice is prohibited except when authorized by the Area Wildlife Manager.~~

417.122. Home Lake State Wildlife Area - Rio Grande County

- a. ~~Boating is prohibited, except for float tubes or craft propelled by hand, wind, electric motor, or motorboats as provided in b and c below.~~
- b. ~~Motorboats up to 10 horsepower may be used at anytime.~~
- c. ~~Motorboats greater than and including 10 horsepower may be used only between the hours of 10 a.m. and 4 p.m.~~
- d. ~~Public access is prohibited from sunset to sunrise daily, except for fishing.~~
- e. Hunting and the discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.
- c. Vessel use is prohibited, except for launching and use of vessels that are propelled by hand, wind, electric motor, or motorboats up to 10 horsepower.

- ~~fd.~~ Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times, except as authorized in #900(C)(15).
- ~~e.~~ Public access to Home Lake State Wildlife Area is exempt from requirements set forth in section #900(C)1 of these regulations.

118-123. Horse Creek Reservoir State Wildlife Area (Timber Lake) - Bent & Otero

Counties

- a. Public access is prohibited from one (1) hour after sunset to one (1) hour before sunrise daily, except ~~for~~ while fishing.
- b. ~~All terrain vehicles, dirt bikes, and snowmobiles are prohibited.~~
- ~~e.~~ Public access to the frozen surface of the lake is prohibited.
- ~~dc.~~ Public access to the dams, inlets, and outlet structures is prohibited, except ~~for~~ while fishing.

119-124. Horsethief Canyon State Wildlife Area - Mesa County

- a. ~~Camping is prohibited~~Public access is prohibited from March 15 through July 15 as posted except while spring turkey hunting.
- b. Public access is prohibited between sunset and sunrise, except while fishing and hunting. Turkey hunting is prohibited, except:
 - 1. ~~Youth mentor spring turkey hunting is allowed by limited access permit only.~~
 - 2. ~~Hunters with limited GMU 30 turkey licenses may hunt on Skipper's Island only.~~
- c. All turkey hunting; and waterfowl hunting west of Blind #1 south of the Colorado River are allowed by reservation only.—Hunting is permitted with shotguns, hand-held bows, and muzzle-loading rifles or by falconry.
- d. All turkey hunters; and waterfowl hunters west of Blind #1 south of the Colorado River must comply with the Hunter Reservation System and reservations must be made through the Hunter Reservation System in accordance with #901.A of these regulations. Fires are prohibited.
- e. Waterfowl hunting is prohibited from Wednesday through Friday of each week, except for on Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day, and New Year's Day. Waterfowl hunting on Saturday is restricted to youth mentor hunting only from 100 yards east of Blind #1 to the western boundary of the property.
- f. Hunting is allowed with shotguns, hand-held bows, and muzzle-loading rifles or by falconry. Users wishing to hunt waterfowl on the west end of the property must reserve a specific designated blind and are restricted to hunt from or within 100 yards of that blind. No more than four hunters are permitted per blind. Reservations must be made through the Hunter Reservation System in accordance with #901.A of these regulations.
- g. Quail hunting is prohibited.
- h. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited in the designated safety zones, or as posted. Hunters with reservations may only hunt the hunt area specified on the reservation. Hunters must check in and out at the property.
- hi. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times except as authorized in #900(C)(15). Permits are not required for waterfowl hunting 100 yards east of Blind #1 to the eastern boundary of the property, including Skipper's Island.
- ij. Public access is prohibited between 9 p.m. and 5 a.m., except for fishing.
- j. ~~Quail hunting is prohibited.~~

- ~~k. Waterfowl hunting is prohibited from Wednesday through Friday of each week, except on Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day and New Year's Day.~~
- ~~l. Game birds listed in #009(B) of these regulations may be released by the Division or its agent for educational or training purposes without seasonal or numerical restrictions.~~
- ~~m. Waterfowl hunting on North Skipper's island is prohibited except limited to existing waterfowl blinds only.~~
- e. Public access to Horsethief Canyon State Wildlife Area is exempt from requirements set forth in section #900(C)1 of these regulations.

120-125. Hot Creek State Wildlife Area - Conejos County

- ~~a. Snowmobile use is prohibited.~~
- b. Vehicles are prohibited from January 1 through April 30.
- ~~b. Snowmobile use is prohibited.~~
- ~~c. Camping is allowed by licensed hunters during an established big game season plus three (3) days before and three (3) days after each season.~~
- ~~d. Fires are allowed within a containment structure.~~

121-126. Hot Sulphur Springs State Wildlife Area (Joe Gerrans Unit, Byers Canyon Rifle Range, Hot Sulphur Springs State Ranch, Lone Buck Unit, Parshall Divide Unit, Paul F. Gilbert Fishing Area, Pioneer Park Unit and Jenny Williams Unit) - Grand County

- ~~a. Public access is prohibited on the Byers Canyon Rifle Range, except between sunrise and sunset. Camping is prohibited, except in the Joe Gerrans Unit and Lone Buck campgrounds.~~
- ~~b. Public access on the Byers Canyon Rifle Range is prohibited from January 1 through April 30. Discharge of firearms is prohibited in the Joe Gerrans Unit, Lone Buck campgrounds and Paul F. Gilbert Fishing Area.~~
- ~~c. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting or on the designated shooting range. Public access is prohibited on the Byers Canyon Rifle Range, except between sunrise and sunset daily when in compliance with all posted range rules.~~
- ~~d. Camping is allowed in designated campgrounds, in designated sites from May 15 through December 15. Public access on the Byers Canyon Rifle Range may be prohibited for the protection of wintering big game.~~
- ~~e. Fires and off-road travel are prohibited on the Parshall Divide Unit are allowed within an established containment structure in designated areas.~~
- ~~f. Bowfishing is prohibited. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times except as authorized in #900(C)(15).~~

127. Huerfano State Wildlife Area - Huerfano County

- ~~a. Camping is allowed by licensed hunters during an established big game season or spring and fall turkey season plus three (3) days before and three (3) after each season or when engaged in fishing activities.~~

122-128. Hugo State Wildlife Area - Lincoln County

- ~~a. Camping is allowed by licensed hunters during an established big game season or spring and fall turkey season plus three (3) days before and three (3) days after each season or while actively fishing. Boating is prohibited.~~

- b. Fires are allowed within an established containment structure in designated areas.

423-129. Indian Run State Wildlife Area - Routt County

- a. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting. Camping is restricted to designated areas only.
- b. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited in designated safety zones, or as posted areas.
- c. Camping is allowed in designated areas only.
- d. Fires are allowed within a containment structure.

424-130. Jackson Lake State Wildlife Area - Morgan County

- a. Public access is prohibited from 9:00 p.m. – 4:00 a.m., except ~~for legal~~while fishing ~~activities.~~
- b. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Fishing is prohibited from October 1 through the dark goose season.~~
- e. Ice fishing is prohibited.
- f. ~~Target practice and hunting with centerfire rifles are prohibited~~Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.
- g. Hunting with centerfire rifles is prohibited.
- f. Vessels and hunting are prohibited on frozen surface of lake.
- h. During the teal season and the first split of the regular duck season, reservations are required on Saturdays, Sundays, and state and federal holidays to hunt waterfowl. Reservations are valid until sunrise and are limited to three (3) per hunter annually. Reservations must be made through the Hunter Reservation System in accordance with #901.A of these regulations. Reservations are not required Monday through Friday, except state and federal holidays, and hunters may check-in on a first-come, first-served basis.
- i. Waterfowl hunters must check-in and out at the check station. Hunters may not check-in until 4:00 a.m. and can only hunt the area reserved. Hunters may check-in on a first-come, first-served basis after a hunter checks out or after sunrise if a hunter has not checked in. A maximum of four (4) hunters are allowed per hunting area.

131. Jackson State Wildlife Area (Fishing Lease) - Garfield County

- a. Public access is prohibited, except while fishing.
- b. Public access is allowed from designated points as posted only.
- c. Dogs are prohibited.

425-132. James M. John State Wildlife Area - Las Animas County

- a. ~~Camping is prohibited within one hundred (100) feet of any stream.~~
- b. ~~Public access is prohibited from December 1 through April 1~~June 30.
- c. ~~Public access is prohibited, except by foot or horseback only.~~
- d. Hunting access is ~~prohibited~~restricted during the regular rifle deer and elk seasons, except for licensed to big game hunters that have a hunting access permit. Permits are issued through only, on a drawing process basis. Applications for fall hunting access permits are available July 1 online. Applications are due

July 21. Permit holders must comply with all provisions of the hunting access permit, in accordance with #209(B)(1).

- c. Camping is allowed by licensed hunters during an established big game or turkey season plus three (3) days before and three (3) days after each season.
- d. Camping is prohibited within one-hundred (100) feet of any stream.
- e. Dogs are prohibited.

426-133. James Mark Jones State Wildlife Area - Park County

- a. Public access is prohibited January 1 through May 1.
- b. ~~Fires are prohibited, except in established fire rings at designated parking areas. Camping is allowed from May 2 through August 13.~~
- c. Camping is allowed by licensed hunters from August 14 through the end of the late elk season.
- d. Fires are allowed within an established containment structure in designated areas.
- e. Dog training and field trials are prohibited.

427-134. Jean K. Tool State Wildlife Area - Morgan County

- a. Public access is prohibited from 9:00 p.m. – 4:00 a.m., ~~except with an authorized night hunting permit.~~
- b. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Target practice is prohibited except when authorized by the Area Wildlife Manager.~~
- e. ~~Horse use is prohibited, except for training hunting dogs in February, March, April (through the Wednesday preceding the turkey season), and August.~~
- f. ~~All recreational activities, except deer hunting, are prohibited on the opening weekend of the regular plains rifle deer season and on the opening day and first weekend of the late plains rifle deer season.~~
- gc. The launching or takeout of vessels is prohibited during waterfowl seasons.

428-135. Jensen State Wildlife Area - Rio Blanco County

- a. ~~Camping is prohibited, except in designated areas.~~
- b. ~~Public access is prohibited from January 1 through July 15.~~
- b. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.
- c. Camping is allowed in designated areas only.
- d. Fires are allowed within a containment structure.

429-136. Jerry Creek Reservoirs State Wildlife Area (Jerry Creek Reservoirs #1 and #2) - Mesa County

- a. ~~Hunting is prohibited~~Public access to the frozen surface of the lake is prohibited.
- b. ~~Camping is prohibited~~Vessel use is prohibited, except for launching and use of float tubes for fishing.
- c. ~~Fires are~~Hunting is prohibited.
- d. Discharge of Ffirearms or bows isare prohibited.
- e. ~~Boating, floating, swimming and wading are prohibited.~~
- f. ~~Ice fishing on, and all other public access to, the frozen surface of the lake is prohibited.~~
- g. ~~Pets and other domestic animals are prohibited.~~

~~h. Vehicles (motorized or non-motorized) are prohibited.~~

430-137. Jim Olterman/Lone Cone State Wildlife Area - Dolores County

- a. Snowmobile use is prohibited.
- b. Camping is allowed in designated areas by licensed hunters during an established big game season or spring turkey season plus (3) days before and (3) days after each season.

434-138. Joe Moore Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Montezuma County

- a. Launching and use of vessels may be allowed as posted. Contact the Durango CPW office for current information. When allowed, operating a vessel in a manner that creates a whitewater wake is prohibited.~~Boating is prohibited in a manner that creates a white water wake.~~
- b. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- c. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times, except as authorized in #900(C)(15).

432-139. John Martin Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Bent County

- a. Field trials may be authorized during February, March, August, and September only.
- b. Vessels are prohibited F~~rom~~ November 1 through the last day of the migratory waterfowl season as posted on, ~~vessel use is allowed on~~ U.S. Army Corps of Engineer property under lands ~~leased by to~~ Colorado Parks and Wildlife, except as posted, to retrieve downed waterfowl only in order to provide for waterfowl resting.
- c. ~~ATVs and dirt bikes are prohibited.~~Camping is allowed in designated and established camping areas.
- d. Fires are allowed within an established containment structure in designated areas.

433-140. Jumbo (Julesburg) Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Logan and Sedgwick Counties

- a. Property is limited to 250 vehicles.
- b. Hunting is prohibited from the frozen surface of the lake.~~All loud noises that disturb the peace, except legal hunting activities, are prohibited from 10:00 pm – 6:00 am.~~
- c. ~~Target practice is prohibited.~~Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.
- d. Launching and use of all vessels is allowed.
- e. Waterskiing is prohibited from 7:00 p.m. – 10:00 a.m., Friday through Monday of Memorial Day weekend.
- ef. Vessels are prohibited within 50 feet of outlet structure.
- fg. ~~The~~Launching of motorized vessels or sailboats is prohibited if the Aquatic Nuisance Species (ANS) inspection station is closed.
- gh. Hand-launched and hand-powered vessels shall only be used for fishing, to set-up/pick-up decoys or retrieve downed waterfowl after the ANS inspection station closes for the year or until the reservoir is frozen.

- hi. ~~Hunting is prohibited from the frozen surface of the lake~~Camping is allowed in designated areas in designated number sites.
- j. One camping unit is allowed per campsite.
- k. Quiet hours will be enforced from 10:00 p.m. – 6:00 a.m. Legal hunting activities are except from quite hours.
- l. Fires are allowed within a containment structure in designated camping areas.
- m. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times except as authorized in #900(C)(15).

134.141. Jumping Cow State Wildlife Area - Elbert County

- a. Hunting access is allowed by permit only. Hunters must have a valid license for their activity prior to applying for a permit. Permit holders shall have their permit on their person at all times while on the property. Permits may designate specific geographic hunting zones; in this case permits are restricted to the listed zone and are not valid property-wide. Access permits for hunters will be issued free of charge. Permits may be obtained via a drawing process. Permits on the Woodard Unit will be issued with priority given to mobility-impaired hunters and youth (accompanied by one hunting mentor). Applications are available from the CPW in Denver (303)291-7227. Application due dates are as follows:
 - 1. Applications for fall hunting access are due the 3rd Monday in August.
 - 2. Spring turkey applications are due the 3rd Monday in March.~~is restricted to dove, turkey, doe pronghorn, antlerless elk, antlerless white-tailed deer, and antlerless mule deer. Hunting on the Woodard Unit is restricted to waterfowl, small game (excluding dove, turkey, and coyote), doe pronghorn, antlerless mule deer, and antlerless white-tailed deer.~~
- b. ~~Hunting is restricted to dove, turkey, doe pronghorn, antlerless elk, antlerless white-tailed deer, and antlerless mule deer. Hunting on the Woodard Unit is restricted to waterfowl, small game (excluding dove, turkey, and coyote), doe pronghorn, antlerless mule deer, and antlerless white-tailed deer. Hunting and fishing access is allowed by permit only. Hunters and anglers must have a valid license for their activity prior to applying for a permit. Permit holders shall have their permit on their person at all times while on the property. Permits may designate specific geographic hunting zones; in this case permits are restricted to the listed zone and are not valid property-wide. Access permits for hunters and anglers will be issued free of charge. Permits may be obtained via a drawing process. Permits on the Woodard Unit will be issued with priority given to mobility-impaired hunters and youth (accompanied by one hunting mentor). Applications are available from the CPW in Denver (303)291-7227. Application due dates are as follows:~~
 - 1. ~~Applications for fall hunting access are due the 3rd Monday in August.~~
 - 2. ~~Spring turkey applications due 3rd Monday in March.~~
 - 3. ~~Fishing applications due 14 days prior to intended access date.~~
- c. ~~Permitted hunters and anglers~~ may take one other person (an observer) who is not hunting ~~or fishing~~ with them onto the property; however that person must remain with the permit holder at all times. On the Woodard Unit, a mobility-impaired person may bring two non-hunting companions.
- d. Permitted hunters may not enter the property prior to the first Monday after the opening day of their individual season. Permits valid for hunting dove, wild

turkey, or that are valid for the Woodard Unit only, may access the property on opening day of their season.

- e. Vehicular access to the property is restricted.- Motor vehicle use is only allowed on marked existing roadways that lead to marked parking areas.- All other access is restricted to foot and horseback only. On the Woodard Unit, mobility-impaired hunters are allowed to use an Off-highway vehicle (OHV) for hunting and game retrieval as specified on their permit.
- f. All gates on the property shall be left in the condition in which they are found after passing through the gateway.
- g. ~~Public a~~Access is ~~allowed~~~~permitted~~ from two hours prior to sunrise to one hour after sunset, ~~—except that when an animal is harvested the successful hunter is allowed to remain as long as is necessary to remove the animal.~~~~In the event that an animal has been harvested by a hunter, the hunter may remain as long as is reasonable to recover and remove the animal from the property.~~
- h. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- i. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- j. ~~Dogs are prohibited on the Woodard Unit.~~

135.142. Junction Butte State Wildlife Area - Grand County

- a. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- b. ~~Hang gliding is prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Vehicles are prohibited, except from the day after Labor Day through the day after any late big game season~~December 31.

136.143. Karney Ranch State Wildlife Area - Bent County

- a. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- b. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Firewood collection is prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Off-highway vehicle (OHV) use is prohibited.~~
- e. ~~Public access is~~ allowed ~~prohibited from one (1) hour before after sunrise sunset~~ until one (1) hour ~~after before sunsetsunrise~~, except ~~that~~ when an animal is harvested the successful hunter ~~is allowed to~~may remain as long as ~~is~~ necessary to remove the animal.
- f. ~~Public access is prohibited in the~~ building envelopedesignated safety zones, or as posted.
- g. Parking and access is allowed from designated parking areas only.
- d. Ornate box turtle collection and/or release is prohibited.
- h. Night hunting with artificial light may be permitted as provided in regulation #W-303.E.10.
- i. ~~Foot access only. All vehicles are restricted to roads and parking lots.~~
- j. ~~Dogs are prohibited except as an aid to hunting.~~
- k. ~~No public access to signed safety zones.~~

137.144. Karval Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Lincoln County

- a. a. —Camping is allowed by licensed hunters during an established big game season or spring and fall turkey season plus three (3) days before and three (3) days after each season or while actively fishing. ~~Boating is prohibited, except for float tubes or craft propelled by hand, wind or electric motor.~~

~~a.b. Fires are allowed within an established containment structure in designated areas.~~

138-145. Kemp-Breeze State Wildlife Area - Grand County

- ~~a. Public access on the Breeze Unit hay meadow wetland is prohibited from March 15 through July 15. Fishing at the Breeze Unit Kids Pond is restricted to youth fishing only and those anglers with mobility impairments who are restricted to a wheelchair.~~
- ~~b. Fishing at the Breeze Unit Kids Pond is restricted to youth fishing only and those anglers with mobility impairments. Public access on the Breeze Unit hay meadow wetland is prohibited from March 15 through July 15.~~
- ~~c. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times except as authorized in #900(C)(15).~~

139-146. Kinney Lake State Wildlife Area- Lincoln County

- ~~a. a.—Camping is allowed by licensed hunters during an established big game season or spring and fall turkey season plus three (3) days before and three (3) days after each season or while actively fishing. Boating is prohibited, except for float tubes or craft propelled by hand, wind or electric motor.~~
- ~~a.b. Fires are allowed within an established containment structure in designated areas.~~

140-147. Knight-Imler State Wildlife Area - Park County

- ~~a. Camping is prohibited.~~
- ~~b.—Fires are prohibited.~~
- ~~c.—Public access is prohibited beyond 25 feet from the center line of the stream.~~

141-148. Knudson State Wildlife Area - Logan County

- ~~a. Public access is prohibited from 9:00 p.m. – 4:00 a.m.~~
- ~~b. Camping is prohibited.~~
- ~~c.—Fires are prohibited.~~
- ~~d.—Target practice is prohibited.~~
- ~~e.—Horses are prohibited.~~
- ~~f.—All recreational activities, except deer hunting, are prohibited on the opening weekend of the regular plains rifle deer season and on the opening day and first weekend of the late plains rifle deer season.~~
- ~~gc. Landowner permission required to hunt deer on access easement.~~
- ~~d. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.~~
- ~~e. Horse use is prohibited, except when used as an aid in hunting.~~
- ~~hf. The launching or takeout of vessels is prohibited during waterfowl seasons.~~

149. La Jara Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Conejos County

- ~~a. Camping is allowed, except during established big game seasons when camping is allowed only by licensed big game hunters plus three (3) days before and three (3) days after each season.~~
- ~~b. Fires are allowed within a containment structure.~~

142-150. La Jara Creek State Wildlife Area - Conejos County

- a. ~~Snowmobile use is prohibited.~~
- b. ~~Vehicles are prohibited from January 1 through the last Thursday prior to Memorial Day.~~
- b. ~~Snowmobile use is prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Camping is allowed while engaged in hunting or fishing activities.~~
- d. ~~Fires are allowed within a containment structure.~~

443-151. Lake Beckwith State Wildlife Area - Pueblo County

- a. ~~Ice fishing and all public access to the frozen surface of the lake is prohibited. Camping is prohibited.~~
- b. ~~Boating is prohibited, except for craft propelled by hand, wind or electric motor.~~
- e. ~~Hunting and the discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.~~
- dc. ~~Fires are prohibited. Vessel use is prohibited except for hand-launched vessels that are propelled by hand, wind or electric motor.~~
- e. ~~Ice fishing and all public access to the frozen surface of the lake is prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times.~~
- fe. Public access to Lake Beckwith State Wildlife Area is exempt from requirements set forth in section #900(C)1 of these regulations.

444-152. Lake Dorothea State Wildlife Area - Las Animas County

- a. ~~Public access to trails A & B is allowed by foot, bicycle, and horseback use only.~~
- b. ~~Public access to trails C & D is allowed by foot and horseback only. Public access to these trails is prohibited from December 1 through April 30 and from May 15 through June 30, except for licensed spring turkey hunters.~~
- c. ~~Parking and access is allowed from designated parking areas only.~~
- d. ~~Hunting access is prohibited during the regular rifle deer and elk seasons, except for licensed big game hunters that have a hunting access permit. Permits are issued through a drawing process. Applications for fall hunting access permits are available July 1 online. Applications are due July 21. Permit holders must comply with all provisions of the hunting access permit.~~
- e. ~~Trapping is prohibited.~~
- f. ~~Vessel use is prohibited, except for hand-launched vessels that are propelled by hand when used as an aid for fishing.~~
- g. ~~Camping is allowed by licensed hunters during an established big game, spring and fall turkey season plus three (3) days before and three (3) days after each season.~~
- e. ~~Camping is prohibited within two hundred (200) yards of Lake Dorothea or one-hundred (100) feet of any stream, except in designated areas.~~
- b. ~~Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except shotguns or bows are allowed while hunting.~~
- c. ~~Discharge of bows is allowed for bowfishing.~~
- d. ~~Hunting big game is prohibited, except by means of archery.~~
- e. ~~Public access is prohibited, except by foot or horseback from established parking areas.~~
- f. ~~Trapping is prohibited.~~

445-153. Lake John State Wildlife Area - Jackson County

- a. ~~Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting. Camping is prohibited, except in established camping areas.~~
- b. ~~Camping is allowed west of Lake John Dam. Waterskiing is prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Sail surfboards are prohibited.~~ Fires are allowed within an established containment structure in designated areas.
- d. ~~Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all time except as authorized in #900(C)(15).~~

446.154. Lake Pueblo State Wildlife Area - Pueblo County

- a. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- b. ~~Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except shotguns or bows, are allowed may be used while hunting or bowfishing.~~
- b. ~~Launching and use of all vessels is allowed.~~
- c. ~~Water contact activities are allowed.~~
- d. ~~Jumping, diving, or swinging from cliffs, ledges or man-made structures is prohibited, including, but not limited to, boat docks, marina infrastructure, and the railroad trestle in Turkey Creek. Discharge of bows is allowed for bowfishing.~~
- d. ~~Fires are prohibited. Bicycles are prohibited.~~
- e. Field trials may be authorized during February, March, August, and September only.
- f. ~~Target practice is prohibited.~~
- g. ~~Jumping, diving or swinging from cliffs, ledges or man-made structures is prohibited, including, but not limited to, boat docks, marina infrastructure and the railroad trestle in Turkey Creek.~~

447.155. Leatha Jean Stassen State Wildlife Area - Mesa County

- a. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~ Public access is prohibited between sunset and sunrise except while fishing.
- b. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Hunting is prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Public access is prohibited from one-half (1/2) hour after sunset to one-half (1/2) hour before sunrise.~~
- e. ~~Motor vehicles are prohibited.~~

448.156. Lennartz State Wildlife Area - Logan County

- a. Public access is prohibited.

449.157. Little Snake State Wildlife Area - Moffat County

- a. ~~The placing of a portable blind, marker, stand or related structure is prohibited prior to August 1 annually. Camping is prohibited, except in self-contained units during any deer, elk, or pronghorn season.~~
- b. ~~Camping is allowed in self-contained camping trailers or campers by licensed hunters during any deer, elk, or pronghorn season plus three (3) days before and (3) days after each season. Fires are prohibited.~~

450.158. Loma Boat Launch State Wildlife Area - Mesa County

- a. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~ Parking and access is allowed from designated areas only.

- b. ~~Discharge of firearms is prohibited~~Launching and use of vessels is allowed, except that the launching and take out of personal watercraft (PWC) is prohibited.
- c. ~~Fires are prohibited~~Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.
- d. ~~The launching and/or use of personal water craft (jet skis) is prohibited.~~
- e. ~~Parking is restricted to designated areas only~~Dogs are allowed.

454-159. Lon Hagler State Wildlife Area - Larimer County

- a. ~~Boating is prohibited in a manner that creates a white water wake.~~Public access is prohibited from one (1) hour after sunset to one (1) hour before sunrise, except while fishing.
- b. ~~Camping is prohibited~~Parking is allowed in designated parking areas only.
- c. Fishing is prohibited in the inlet structure and the annex pond.
- d. Vessel use is prohibited, except when used as an aid for fishing. Sailboats are prohibited.
- e. ~~Horseback riding is prohibited~~Operating a vessel in a manner that creates a whitewater wake is prohibited.
- ef. ~~Sail surfboards are prohibited~~Horse use is prohibited.
- fg. ~~Sailboats are prohibited.~~
- g. ~~Target practice is prohibited.~~
- hh. ~~Fires are prohibited~~Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on physical leash by the handler at all times unless on a vessel.
- ii. ~~Bicycling is prohibited~~Dogs are prohibited west of the lake side parking lots except between September 1 and the last day of February when used as an aid to hunting.
- j. ~~All pet leashes must be no longer than six feet in length.~~
- k. ~~Any dog on a boat is not required to be on a leash.~~
- l. ~~Between September 1 and the last day of February, dogs are prohibited west of the lakeside parking lots, except as an aid to hunting.~~
- m. ~~Between March 1 and August 31, dogs are prohibited west of the lakeside parking lots.~~
- nj. Dogs are prohibited on the annex pond and adjacent lands, as posted, to protect wildlife habitat and nesting wildlife.

452-160. Lone Dome State Wildlife Area - Montezuma and Dolores counties

- a. Overnight parking is prohibited, except in designated areas.
- b. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~

453-161. Louisiana Purchase Ranch State Wildlife Area (Access Easement) – Moffat County

- a. ~~Public access is prohibited, except while~~Hunting is restricted to deer and elk hunting.
- b. ~~Hunting access is allowed~~by reservation only. Reservation holders must have their confirmation letter with them at all times while hunting on the property.
- c. All hunters must comply with the Hunter Reservation System and reservations must be made through the Hunter Reservation System in accordance with #901.A of these regulations. To make a reservation, hunters must already possess a big game license for one of the specific hunt codes permitted on the property.

- d. ~~Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting. Reservations must be made through the Hunter Reservation System in accordance with #901.A of these regulations.~~
- e. ~~Vehicle use is prohibited, except for on designated roadways or through permission of the ranch owners. All other access is allowed by foot only. Hunters with a reservation may be accompanied by up to two (2) other people who are not hunting.~~
- f. ~~Fishing is prohibited. Hunters may only access the property during the dates specified on their reservation.~~
- g. ~~Vehicle use is prohibited except on designated roadways or through permission of the ranch owners. All other access is restricted to walk-in access only.~~
- h. ~~The following are prohibited on the property: overnight camping, dogs, fires, fishing, woodcutting, target shooting/sight-in, building permanent blinds, or gathering artifacts.~~
- i. ~~Reservations are valid starting the sixth day of the season designated by the license through the end of the season.~~

154.162. Love Meadow Watchable Wildlife Area - Chaffee County

- a. ~~Open~~ Public access is ~~prohibited, except for~~ while wildlife viewing ~~from established parking area~~ only.
- b. Public access to Love Meadow Watchable Wildlife Area is exempt from requirements set forth in section #900(C)1 of these regulations.

155.163. Manville State Wildlife Area (Fishing Lease) - (Roaring Fork of the North Platte River) Jackson County

- a. ~~a.~~ Public access is ~~prohibited, except while~~ for fishing ~~only.~~
- a.b. ~~Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.~~

164. Mason Family State Wildlife Area – Hinsdale County

- a. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- b. ~~Fires are allowed within a containment structure in designated camping areas.~~
- c. ~~Food, trash or other attractants must be stored or secured in bear-resistant containers or inside vehicles.~~
- d. ~~Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times, except as authorized in #900(C)(15).~~

156.165. McCluskey State Wildlife Area - Delta County

- a. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- b. ~~Dogs are prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Public access is prohibited, except for~~ while hunting, ~~fishing,~~ or trapping.
- e.b. Public access is prohibited from the day after the conclusion of the annual big game seasons through April 30.
- c. ~~Dogs are prohibited.~~

157.166. Meeker Pastures State Wildlife Area - Rio Blanco County

- a. ~~Hunting B~~ big game ~~hunting~~ is ~~allowed~~ restricted to the use of ~~with~~ archery equipment only.

158-167. Melon Valley State Wildlife Area - Otero County

- a. ~~Hunting is prohibited~~ On weekends, ~~except hunting is limited to~~for youth mentor hunting only. -No more than one mentor per youth hunter may engage in hunting.
- ~~a.b.~~ Camping is allowed from August 15 through May 31.

159-168. Messex State Wildlife Area - Washington and Logan Counties

- a. Public access is prohibited from 9:00 p.m. – 4:00 a.m., ~~except with an authorized night hunting permit.~~
- b. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Target practice is prohibited except when authorized by the area wildlife manager.~~
- e. ~~Horse use is prohibited, except for training hunting dogs in February, March, April (through the Wednesday preceding the turkey season), and August.~~
- f. ~~All recreational activities, except deer hunting, are prohibited on the opening weekend of the regular plains rifle deer season and on the opening day and first weekend of the late plains rifle deer season.~~
- gc. Landowner permission required to hunt deer on access easement.
- hd. The launching or takeout of vessels is prohibited during waterfowl seasons.

160-169. Mike Higbee State Wildlife Area - Prowers County

- a. ~~ATVs and dirt bikes are prohibited.~~
- b. ~~Closed to p~~Public access is prohibited from one (1) hour after sunset until one (1) hour before sunrise, ~~except while~~unless camping ~~in designated areas~~ or while actively hunting or fishing.
- be. Game birds listed in #009(B) of these regulations may be released by the Division or its agent for educational or training purposes without seasonal or numerical restrictions.
- c. Camping is allowed in designated and established camping areas.

161-170. Miller Ranch State Wildlife Area - Gunnison County

- a. Public access is prohibited from March 1 through June 30.
- b. Hunting is prohibited north of Gunnison Co Rd 7 except for mentored youth hunting by permit only. A maximum of four free permits will be available daily on a first-come, first-served basis. Permits are available by reservation through the Gunnison Service Center at 300 W. New York Ave., Gunnison, CO, or by calling 970-641-7060. Reservations may be made up to 30 days in advance but not less than two days before the requested hunt date. Upon reservation, the youth hunter and mentor will be provided a map with access points and restrictions. Mentors are not allowed to hunt.
- c. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited in the designated safety zones, or as posted.
- d. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- e. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- f. ~~Dogs are prohibited.~~

162-171. Mitani-Tokuyasu State Wildlife Area - Weld County

- a. Public access is prohibited from one (1) hour after sunset through 4:00 a.m.
- b. Public access prohibited from the day after the close of the spring turkey season

through August 31.

- c. Hunting access is limited to occupants of vehicles legally parked in 1 of 4 spaces in the designated parking area. A reservation is required to occupy a parking space from 4:00 a.m. until noon. Reservations may be made in accordance with #901.A of these regulations. After noon each day, parking spaces are available on a first-come, first-serve basis.~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Fires are prohibited~~Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.
- e. ~~Target practice is prohibited.~~
- f. ~~The launching or takeout of vessels is prohibited.~~
- g. ~~Horses use is are~~ prohibited.
- h. ~~Hunting access is limited to occupants of vehicles legally parked in 1 of 4 spaces in the designated parking area. A reservation is required to occupy a parking space from 4:00 am until noon. Reservations may be made in accordance with #901.A of these regulations. After noon each day, parking spaces are available on a first-come, first-serve basis.~~

463-172. Mogensen Ponds State Wildlife (Fishing) Area - Mesa County

- a. Hunting is prohibited, except for waterfowl hunting from designated blinds.
- b. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Discharge of F~~firearms or bows isare prohibited, except while huntingas provided in (a) above.
- e. ~~Pets or other domestic animals are prohibited.~~
- f. ~~Vehicles (motorized or non-motorized) are prohibited.~~

464-173. Mountain Home Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Costilla County

- a. ~~a.~~Launching and use of all vessels is allowed.~~Waterskiing is prohibited.~~
- b. Operating a vessel in a manner that create a whitewater wake is prohibited.
- c. Camping is allowed in designated areas.
- d. Fires are allowed within an established containment structure in designated camping areas.
- a.e. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times, except when used as an aid in hunting.

465-174. Mount Evans State Wildlife Area - Clear Creek County

- a. ~~Camping shall be limited to five days in any 45-day period, except during big game seasons in designated campgrounds.~~
- b. ~~Dogs are prohibited, except when used in hunting or on a leash.~~
- c. ~~Public access is prohibited from January 1 through June 14.~~
- db. Public access ~~Use of the property~~ is restricted to only fishing and hunting activities from the day after Labor Day through the end of the 4th regular rifle season.
- ec. ~~Vehicles are prohibited from the day after Labor Day through June 14, except during regular rifle deer and elk seasons.~~
- fd. ~~Groups of 25 or more people must obtain a permit prior to use. -Permits shall be issued to limit access to no more than one group at one time.~~

- e. Camping is allowed but limited to five (5) days in any 45 day period, except during established big game seasons when camping is restricted to licensed big game hunters.
- f. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times, except as authorized in #900(C)(15).

466-175. Mount Ouray State Wildlife Area - Chaffee County

- a. ~~Camping is prohibited~~Parking and access is allowed from designated parking areas only.
- b. ~~Fires are prohibited~~Hunting with centerfire rifles is prohibited.
- c. ~~Access to the property is from designated parking areas only.~~
- d. ~~Hunting is permitted with shotguns, hand-held bows, and muzzleloaders or by falconry only.~~

467-176. Mount Shavano State Wildlife Area - Chaffee County

- a. Public access is prohibited south of Chaffee Co. Rd. 154 and west of Colorado State Highway 291.
- b. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- d. ~~From the upper-west end of the Mount Shavano SFU, upstream to the marked property boundary, dischargeing of firearms or bows is prohibited, except whilewhen hunting.~~ Hunting with centerfire rifles is prohibited which is permitted only with shotguns, hand-held bows, muzzleloaders or by falconry.
- e. ~~From the upper-east end of the Mount Shavano SFU, downstream to the Colo. Hwy 291 Bridge, dischargeing of firearms or bows is prohibited except while hunting.~~ Hunting is allowedpermitted only with hand-held bows onlyor by falconry.
- f. ~~Hunting is prohibited between Colorado State Highway 291 and the Arkansas River from the Colorado State Highway 291 Bridge downstream to Chaffee County Road 175.~~
- e. Bicycles are allowed.
- f. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times.

177. Mount Werner State Wildlife Area (Fishing Easement) – Routt County

- a. Public access is prohibited, except while fishing.
- b. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.

468-178. Murphy State Wildlife Area (Fishing Lease) - (Michigan River) Jackson County

- a. ~~a.~~ Public access is prohibited, except for-while fishing only.
- a-b. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.

469-179. Nakagawa State Wildlife Area - Weld County

- a. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- b. ~~Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except when hunting.~~
- c. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~

470-180. Narraquinne Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Montezuma County

- a. ~~Public access is prohibited from one (1) hour after sunset to one (1) hour before sunrise, except while fishing. Camping is prohibited.~~
- b. ~~Launching and use of vessels may be allowed as posted. Contact the Durango CPW office for current information. Fires are prohibited.~~
- c. Glass containers are prohibited.
- d. ~~Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times, except as authorized in #900(C)(15). Public access is prohibited from one hour after sunset to one hour before sunrise, except for fishing~~
- e. Public access to Narraguinnep Reservoir State Wildlife Area is exempt from requirements set forth in section #900(C)1 of these regulations.

474-181. North Fork State Wildlife Area - Larimer County

- a. Public access is prohibited, except ~~for~~ while fishing.
- b. Public access to North Fork State Wildlife Area is exempt from requirements set forth in section #900(C)1 of these regulations.

472-182. North Lake State Wildlife Area - Las Animas County

- a. ~~Boating Vessel use~~ is prohibited, except for ~~float tubes or craft~~ hand-launched vessels that are propelled by hand, wind or electric motor when used as an aid to fishing.
- b. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Fires are prohibited~~

473-183. Oak Ridge State Wildlife Area (~~Bel Aire Unit, Lake Avery Unit, Oak Ridge Unit, Jon Wangnild Unit, Sleepy Cat Ponds Unit, and Sleepy Cat Fishing Easement~~) - Rio Blanco County

- a. ~~Public access is prohibited on the Oak Ridge Unit from December 1 through July 15 except for CPW youth outreach turkey hunts April 1 through 30 and valid GMU 23 turkey license holders and their companion May 1 through 31. Camping is prohibited, except in designated areas.~~
- b. ~~Public access is prohibited on Sleepy Cat Ponds Unit and Sleepy Cat Fishing Easement, except while fishing. Public access is prohibited on the Oak Ridge Unit from December 1 through July 15 except for CPW youth outreach turkey hunts April 1-30 and valid GMU 23 turkey license holders and their companion May 1-31.~~
- c. ~~Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting. Public access is prohibited on Sleepy Cat Ponds Unit and Sleepy Cat Fishing Easement, except for fishing.~~
- d. ~~Hunting is allowed south of Rio Blanco Co Rd 8, west of Rio Blanco Co Rd 17, and north and east of Rio Blanco Co Rd 10 by archery equipment only. Hunting is prohibited, except by archery in that portion south of Rio Blanco Co Rd 8, west of Rio Blanco Co Rd 17, and north and east of Rio Blanco Co Rd 10.~~
- e. ~~Launching and use of vessels not associated with fishing or hunting activities are allowed in designated areas only. Water skiing, jet skis, and boating other than wakeless boating, are prohibited on Lake Avery.~~
- f. ~~Operating a vessel in a manner that creates a whitewater wake is prohibited on Lake Avery.~~
- g. ~~Water contact activities are allowed in designated areas only.~~

- h. Camping is allowed in designated areas only.
- i. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times on the Lake Avery Unit except as authorized in #900(C)(15).

174.184. Ogden-Treat State Wildlife Area (Fishing Easement) - Fremont County

- a. a.—Public access is prohibited, except for while fishing only.
- b. Parking and access is allowed from designated parking areas only.
- a-c. Dogs are prohibited.

175.185. Orchard Mesa Wildlife Area - Mesa County

- a. Public aAccess is allowed only to the Wildlife Area is only from the parking area located on “C” Road between 30 and 31 Roads.
- b. Public access is allowed by foot only. Vehicles are prohibited beyond the parking area.
- c. Dogs are prohibited, except as an aid to hunting.
- d. Horses are prohibited.
- e. Public access is prohibited from March 15 through July 15 Public access is prohibited from March 15 to July 14 annually to protect nesting migratory birds.
- fd. Small game hunting is prohibited, except for waterfowl hunting. Waterfowl hunting on this property is by reservation only. Reservations must be made through the Hunter Reservation System in accordance with #901.A of these regulations.
- e. Big game and waterfowl hunting is allowed by reservation only.
- f. Big game hunting is allowed with archery equipment only.
- g. Waterfowl hunting ers must hunt is allowed from designated blinds or zones identified for each blind. No more than four hunters allowed per blind only.
- h. All hunters must comply with the Hunter Reservation System and reservations must be made through the Hunter Reservation System in accordance with #901.A of these regulations No other small game hunting allowed.
- i. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting. Deer hunting access is by reservation only. Reservation holders must have their confirmation letter with them at all times while hunting on the property.
- j. To make a reservation for deer hunting, hunters must already possess a big game license for one of the specific hunt codes permitted on the property.
- k. Reservations for deer hunting must be made through the Hunter Reservation System in accordance with #901.A of these regulations.
- l. Deer hunters with a reservation may be accompanied by up to two (2) people who are not hunting.
- m. Deer hunters may only access the property during the dates specified on their reservation.
- n. Only archery equipment will be allowed for deer hunting.
- e. Hunters with reservations may only hunt the hunt area specified on the reservation. Hunters must check in and out at the property.
- p. The following are prohibited on the property: overnight camping, fires, fishing, woodcutting, target shooting/sight-in, building permanent blinds, or gathering artifacts.

176.186. Orient Mine State Wildlife Area – Saguache County

- a. Public aAccess to adjacent public lands through the property for hunting purposes is allowed October 1 ~~–through~~ May 31 annually. Hunters wishing to

gain access across the property to adjacent federal lands must contact the Orient Land Trust and adhere to their check-in/out procedures.

- b. ~~Public a~~Access through the property ~~by the public~~ for all purposes is prohibited ~~three (3)~~ hours before sunrise and ~~three (3)~~ hours after sunset, except when an animal has been harvested on adjacent public lands.
- c. ~~Public a~~Access to the property is allowed by foot only from adjacent public lands.
- d. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- e. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- f. ~~Hunting and the discharge of firearms or bows~~ is prohibited.
- eg. Public access to Orient Mine State Wildlife Area is exempt from requirements set forth in section #900(C)1 of these regulations.

477-187. Overland Trail State Wildlife Area - Logan County

- a. Public access is prohibited from 9:00 p.m. – 4:00 a.m.
- b. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Target practice is prohibited except when authorized by the Area Wildlife Manager.~~
- e. ~~Horse use is prohibited, except for training hunting dogs in February, March, April (through the Wednesday preceding the turkey season), and August.~~
- f. ~~All recreational activities, except deer hunting, are prohibited on the opening weekend of the regular plains rifle deer season and on the opening day and first weekend of the late plains rifle deer season.~~
- gc. The launching or takeout of vessels is prohibited during waterfowl seasons.

188. Owl Mountain State Wildlife Area - Jackson County

- a. ~~Discharge of firearms prohibited, except while hunting.~~

478-189. Paddock State Wildlife Area - Lake County

- a. ~~Public access is prohibited from August 15 through November 30, except while hunting with a valid bighorn sheep, deer, elk or bear license.~~
~~Fishing access is allowed in Iowa Gulch and Upper Empire Gulch only.~~
- b. ~~Fishing access is prohibited, except in Iowa Gulch and Upper Empire Gulch. During bighorn sheep season and regular rifle deer, elk and bear seasons, access is restricted to hunting for those species only, and only to hunters with a proper and valid license for any of those species.~~
- c. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Dogs are prohibited.~~
- e. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- f. ~~Access is by foot only.~~

479-190. Parachute Ponds State Wildlife Area - Garfield County

- a. ~~Camping is prohibited~~Public access to the frozen surface of the lake is prohibited.
- b. ~~Fires are prohibited~~Vessel use is prohibited, except for launching and use of float tubes for fishing only.
- c. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times except as authorized in #900(C)(15).~~Swimming is prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Float tubes are permitted for fishing only.~~

480-191. Parvin Lake State Wildlife Area - Larimer County

- a. ~~Boating-Vessel use~~ is prohibited, except for launching and use of float tubes ~~used~~ for fishing only.
- b. ~~Fishermen-Anglers~~ must enter the area on foot through the gate at the check station and must check ~~-~~in and out at the check station when open.

484-192. Pastorius Reservoir State Wildlife Area - La Plata County

- a. Vessel use is prohibited, except for launching and use of vessels that are propelled by hand, wind or electric motor. ~~Boating is prohibited, except for float tubes or craft propelled by hand or electric motor.~~
- b. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- c. ~~—~~Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except when-while hunting.
- d. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- e. ~~—~~Hunting is prohibited, except on Saturdays, Sundays, and Wednesdays.
- d. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times, except as authorized in #900(C)(15).

482-193. Perins Peak State Wildlife Area - La Plata County

- a. Public access is prohibited west of La Plata County Road 208 from December 1 through April 30, except turkey hunters. ~~Camping is prohibited, except during deer and elk seasons.~~
- b. Public access is prohibited east of La Plata Co Rd 208 from December 1 through July 31. ~~Discharge of firearms is prohibited, except when hunting.~~
- c. Camping is allowed by licensed hunters during an established big game season plus three (3) days before and three (3) days after each season. ~~Public access is prohibited West of La Plata County Road 208 from December 1 through April 15, except turkey hunters possessing a valid, unfilled spring turkey license.~~
- d. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting. ~~Public access is prohibited east of La Plata Co Rd 208 from December 1 through July 31.~~
- e. Snowmobile use is prohibited.
- f. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times from May 1 through September 30 west of CR 208 and from August 1 through September 30 east of CR 208, except as authorized in #900(C)(15). ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- g. Dogs are allowed pursuant to #900(C)(15) from October 1 through November 30.

483-194. Perkins State Wildlife Area (Access Easement) - Grand County

- a. ~~Open-Public access is prohibited, except for-while~~ hunting access only.
- b. ~~Access is by foot or horseback only.~~
- c. ~~Motorized travel is prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- e. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- f. ~~Target shooting is prohibited.~~
- g. ~~Dogs are prohibited, except as an aid to hunting.~~

195. Piceance State Wildlife Area - Garfield/Rio Blanco County

- a. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited in the designated safety zones, or as posted on the Little Hills Unit.

- b. Camping is allowed.
- c. Camping is allowed in designated areas only on the Yellow Creek and Square S Units.
- d. Fires are allowed within in a containment structure.

184-196. Pikes Peak State Wildlife Area - Teller County

- a. a.—Public access is prohibited from April 1 through July 15.
- a-b. Dogs are prohibited.

185-197. Plateau Creek State Wildlife Area - Mesa County

- a. a.—Public access is prohibitedVehicles are prohibited from December 1 through August 1April 30, except for on the shooting range.
- b. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting or on the designated shooting range.
- c. Camping is allowed by licensed hunters during an established big game season plus three (3) days before and three (3) days after each season.
- a-d. Fires are allowed within a containment structure while camping.

186-198. Playa Blanca State Wildlife Area - Alamosa County

- a. Public access is prohibited from February 15 through July 15.
- b. Public access is ~~permitted~~allowed in designated areas on Tuesdays, Thursdays, and Saturdays from July 16 ~~to~~through February 14.
- c. Camping is allowed during waterfowl hunting seasons by licensed waterfowl hunters and only in parking areas with self-contained camping trailers or campers.

187-199. Pony Express State Wildlife Area - Sedgwick County

- a. Public access is prohibited from 9:00 p.m. – 4:00 a.m.
- ~~b. Camping is prohibited.~~
- ~~c.—Fires are prohibited.~~
- ~~d.—Target practice is prohibited except when authorized by the area wildlife manager.~~
- ~~e.—Horse use is prohibited, except for training hunting dogs in February, March, April (through the Wednesday preceding the turkey season), and August.~~
- ~~f.—All recreational activities, except deer hunting, are prohibited on the opening weekend of the regular plains rifle deer season and on the opening day and first weekend of the late plains rifle deer season.~~
- gc. The launching or takeout of vessels is prohibited during waterfowl seasons.

188-200. Pot Creek State Wildlife Area (Access Easement) – Moffat County

- a. Public access is prohibited, except while elk huntingHunting is restricted to antlerless elk.
- b. Hunting allowed by reservation only.
- bc. All hunters must comply with the Hunter Reservation System and reservations must be made through the Hunter Reservation System in accordance with #901.A of these regulationsHunting access is by reservation only and reservation holders must have their confirmation letter with them while hunting on the property.

- ~~ed. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting. To make a reservation, hunters must already possess a big game license for one of the specific hunt codes permitted on the property.~~
- ~~de. Motor vehicle use is prohibited, except on designated roadways or through permission of the ranch owners. All other public access is allowed by foot only. Reservations must be made through the Hunter Reservation System in accordance with #901.A of these regulations.~~
- ~~ef. Fishing is prohibited. Hunters with reservations may be accompanied by one (1) other person who is not hunting.~~
- ~~f. Hunters may only access the property during the dates specified on their reservation.~~
- ~~g. Vehicle use is prohibited except on designated roadways or through permission of the ranch owners. All other access is restricted to walk-in access only.~~
- ~~h. The following are prohibited on the property: overnight camping, dogs, fires, fishing, woodcutting, target shooting/sight-in, building permanent blinds, or gathering artifacts.~~

189-201. Pothook Ranch State Wildlife Area (Fishing Easement) – (Slater Creek) Moffat County

- a. Public access is prohibited, except for fishing, wildlife viewing and ~~these~~ hunting with a limited Ranching for Wildlife big game license valid for this property.
- b. ~~All p~~Public fishing and wildlife viewing access is allowed by foot only from the designated parking areas/access points only.
- c. Public fishing ~~access is~~ allowed~~restricted to~~ within 20 feet of the high water line of both banks of Slater Creek only.
- d. ~~Public hunting and public hunting access is prohibited, except for those hunting with a limited Ranching for Wildlife big game license valid for this property. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.~~
- e. ~~Accessing adjacent parcels of public land via this property for the purpose of hunting is prohibited. Overnight parking is prohibited.~~
- ~~f. Shooting, archery, target practice, camping, fires, woodcutting, gathering artifacts, pets/livestock, overnight parking, motorized or mechanized travel, launching or taking out of vessels prohibited.~~

190-202. Poudre River State Wildlife Area - Larimer County

- ~~a. Camping is prohibited.~~
- ~~b. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except when hunting or bowfishing.~~
- ~~c. Discharge of bows is allowed for bowfishing.~~
- ~~db. Public access to Poudre River State Wildlife Area is exempt from requirements set forth in section #900(C)1 of these regulations.~~

191-203. Prewitt Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Logan and Washington Counties

- a. Property limited to 250 vehicles.
- b. ~~From October 1 through the dark goose season, fishing is restricted to the dam, ice fishing is restricted to 50 yards of the dam, and boating is prohibited, except for craft propelled by hand or electric motor used to set and pick up decoys and retrieve downed waterfowl. All loud noises that disturb the peace, except legal hunting activities, are prohibited from 10:00 pm — 6:00 am.~~

- c. ~~Hunting prohibited as posted, including hunting from floating devices. Camping is prohibited as posted.~~
- d. ~~Fires are prohibited as posted~~ Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.
- e. ~~Glass beverage containers are prohibited~~ OHV and snowmobile use is prohibited.
- f. Launching and use of all vessels is allowed. Hunting prohibited as posted, including hunting from floating devices.
- g. ~~Target practice is prohibited.~~
- h. ~~Sailing and windsurfing prohibited, except in July and August.~~
- ig. ~~Boating is~~ Operating a vessel ~~prohibited~~ in a manner that creates a white-water wake is prohibited.
- jh. Waterskiing and personal watercraft (PWC) use is prohibited.
- kj. ~~From October 1 through the dark goose season, fishing restricted to the dam, ice fishing restricted to 50 yards of the dam, and boating prohibited, except for craft propelled by hand or electric motor used to set and pick up decoys and retrieve downed waterfowl. Camping is allowed only in camping areas at designated campsite markers.~~
- j. Only one camping unit is allowed per campsite.
- k. Quiet hours will be enforced from 10:00 p.m. – 6:00 a.m. Legal hunting activities are exempt from quiet hours.
- l. Fires are allowed within a containment structure in designated camping areas.
- m. Glass containers are prohibited.
- n. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times except as authorized in #900(C)(15).

192-204. Pridemore State Wildlife Area (Fishing Lease) - Chaffee County

- a. ~~a.~~ Public access is prohibited, except for while fishing only.
- b. Launching and take out of vessels is prohibited.
- ~~a.c.~~ Dogs are prohibited.

193-205. Puett Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Montezuma County

- a. Launching and use of vessels may be allowed as posted. Contact the Durango CPW office for current information. When allowed, operating a vessel in a manner that creates a whitewater wake is prohibited. Camping is prohibited.
- b. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all time, except as authorized in #900(C)(15). Fires are prohibited.
- c. ~~Boating in a manner that creates a white water wake is prohibited.~~

194-206. Queens State Wildlife Area (Nee Noshe, Nee So Pah, Nee Gronda, Upper Queens and Lower Queens (Neeskah)) - Kiowa County

- a. ~~Boating is prohibited~~ Operating a vessel in a manner that creates a white-water wake in the channel between Upper Queens and Lower Queens (Neeskah) is prohibited.
- b. Swimming is allowed. Upper Queens and Lower Queens (Neeskah) (including channel), Nee Noshe, Nee So Pah, and Nee Gronda.
 1. ~~Hunters must check in and out at the check station when open.~~
 2. ~~Recreational boating is allowed.~~
 3. ~~ATVs and dirt bikes are prohibited.~~

- c. Hunters must check-in and out of fields/pits at the check station during waterfowl season.
- d. Camping is allowed in designated and established camping areas.
- e. Fires are allowed within an established containment structure in designated areas.
- f. Neer Noshe
 1. From December 1 through the last day of migratory waterfowl season, vessel use is allowed, as posted, only to retrieve downed waterfowl ~~to provide for waterfowl resting as necessary depending on water levels, weather, and the presence of birds.~~
 2. Launching and use of all vessels is allowed.
 3. All water contact activities are allowed.

495.207. Radium State Wildlife Area - Grand, Routt, and Eagle Counties

- a. ~~a.~~—Hunting is prohibited in the designated safety zone, or as posted.
- b. Camping is allowed except as posted.
- a-c. Fires are allowed within a containment structure.

496.208. Ralston Creek State Wildlife Area - Jefferson County

- a. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- ~~b.~~ ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- ~~c.~~ Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.

497.209. Ramah State Wildlife Area - El Paso County

- a. ~~Boating is prohibited from November 1 through the last day of the migratory waterfowl season, except for float tubes or craft propelled by hand, wind or electric motor.~~
- b. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- c. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting or bowfishing. Discharge of archery equipment is allowed on the established archery shooting range.
- b. Hunting with centerfire rifles is prohibited.
- d. ~~Discharge of bows is allowed for bowfishing.~~
- e. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- f. ~~Water contact activities are prohibited.~~
- gc. Game birds listed in #009(B) of these regulations may be released by the Division or its agent for educational or training purposes without seasonal or numerical restrictions.

498.210. Red Lion State Wildlife Area - Logan County

- a. From September 1 through the regular duck seasons, hunters must check-in and out at check station. Hunters may not check-in until 4:00 a.m. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- b. Hunting prohibited from floating devices and frozen surface of the lake. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- c. Vessel use is prohibited, except for hand-launched vessels that are propelled by hand, wind or electric motor when used as an aid for fishing, or to set and pick up decoys, and retrieve downed waterfowl. Vessels must be launched from a

~~designated area as posted. Target practice is prohibited except when authorized by the Area Wildlife Manager.~~

- ~~d. Hunting prohibited from floating devices and frozen surface of the lake.~~
- ~~e. Boating prohibited, except for float tubes or craft propelled by hand or electric motor used for fishing or to set and pick up decoys and retrieve downed waterfowl. Craft must be launched from the designated area as posted.~~

199-211. Red Mountain State Wildlife Area - Grand County

- a. Public access is prohibited from ~~November 15~~December 1 through April 1514.
- b. ~~Motor vehicles are prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Dogs are allowed but~~ must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times except as authorized in #900(C)(15).

200-212. Reddy State Wildlife Area (Fishing Easement) - Lake County

- a. ~~Public a~~Access is allowed while limited to fishing only. ~~No other activity is allowed.~~
- b. ~~Public a~~Access is allowed only within 30 feet of the high water line, or as otherwise posted.
- c. ~~Parking and a~~Access is allowed only from the Highway 24 overpass from designated parking areas only. ~~or from Crystal Lake State Trust Land.~~
- d. Dogs are prohibited.

201-213. Richard State Wildlife Area (Hunting and Fishing Lease) - (North Fork of the North Platte River) Jackson County

- a. ~~Public A~~Access is prohibited, except for while hunting and fishing only.
- b. Hunting is prohibited within two hundred (200) yards of any building.
- c. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.

202-214. Rio Blanco Lake State Wildlife Area - Rio Blanco County

- a. ~~Public access to the Roselund Unit is allowed for day use only. Field trials may be authorized during February, March, August, and September only.~~
- b. ~~Parking and public access is allowed from designated parking areas only. Waterskiing is prohibited from March 1 through June 15.~~
- c. ~~Hunting big game is allowed with archery equipment only. Parking is restricted to designated areas only.~~
- d. ~~Launching and use of all vessels is allowed. Hunting big game is prohibited, except by means of archery equipment.~~
- e. ~~Water contact activities are allowed. Access to the Roselund Unit is restricted to day use only.~~
- f. Camping is allowed.
- g. Fires are allowed within a containment structure.
- h. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times except as authorized in #900(C)(15).

203-215. Rio Grande River State Wildlife Area (Del Norte Fishing Easements) - Rio Grande County

- a. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~

- ~~b.~~ Public access is prohibited, except ~~for while~~ fishing.
- b. Vessel use is prohibited, except for launching and take out of vessels propelled by hand is allowed at the CR 17 ramp.

204-216. Rio Grande State Wildlife Area - Rio Grande County

- ~~a. Fires are prohibited.~~
- ~~b.~~ Public access is prohibited from February 15 through July 15. -The Area Wildlife Manager may authorize access during this closure if the proposed access will not adversely impact nesting or wintering bird populations.
- b. From July 16 through February 14, hiking, horseback riding, and dogs kept under control on a physical leash by the handler are allowed on established roads.
- ~~c. Camping is prohibited, except in those parking areas with toilet facilities.~~
- ~~d.~~ The Area Wildlife Manager may post area specific closures to manage waterfowl hunting pressure during established waterfowl seasons, to protect maintenance and construction equipment and to protect human health and safety.
- d. Camping is allowed during waterfowl hunting seasons by licensed waterfowl hunters in those parking areas with toilet facilities.

205-217. Rito Hondo Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Hinsdale County

- a. ~~Boating-Vessel use~~ is prohibited, except for launching and use of vessels that are float tubes or craft propelled by hand, wind or electric motor when used as an aid for fishing or hunting.

206-218. Road Canyon Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Hinsdale County

- ~~a. Camping is prohibited.~~
- ~~b. Boating-Operating a vessel is prohibited~~ in a manner that creates a white-water wake is prohibited.

219. Roaring Fork/Gianinetti State Wildlife Area (Fishing Lease) - Garfield County

- a. Public access is prohibited, except while fishing.
- b. Public access is allowed from designated points as posted only.
- c. Dogs are prohibited.

207. Roaring Fork State Wildlife Area (formerly Carbondale SWA) - Garfield County

- ~~a. Camping is prohibited.~~
- ~~b. Fires are prohibited.~~
- ~~c. Discharge of firearms is prohibited.~~

220. Rock Creek State Wildlife Area - Grand County

- a. Camping is allowed.
- b. Fires are allowed within an established containment structure.

208-221. Rocky Ford State Wildlife Area - Otero County

- ~~a. Fires are prohibited~~Camping is allowed from August 15 through May 31.

209-222. Roeber State Wildlife Area - Delta County

- ~~a. Camping is prohibited.~~
- ~~b. Dogs are prohibited.~~
- ~~c. Discharge of firearms is prohibited in the open space easement area.~~

- ~~d. Fires are prohibited.~~
- ~~e. Hunting is prohibited in the open space easement area.~~
- ~~f. Public access is prohibited, except while hunting and fishing.~~
- b. Public access is prohibited from the day after the conclusion of the annual big game seasons through April 30.
- c. Hunting and the discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited in the open space easement area.
- d. Dogs are prohibited.
- ~~g. Public access is prohibited, except for hunting and fishing.~~
- ~~h. Bowfishing is prohibited.~~

240-223. Rosemont Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Teller County

- ~~a. Public access is prohibited in the dam area, vicinity of the caretaker's house, and north side of the reservoir or as posted. Boating is prohibited, except for float tubes used for fishing.~~
- ~~b. Parking and access is allowed from designated parking areas only. Camping is prohibited.~~
- ~~c. Dogs are prohibited. Vessel use is prohibited, except launching and use of float tubes for fishing only.~~
- ~~d. Fires are prohibited.~~
- ~~e. Fishing is prohibited from 9:00 p.m. until 5:00 a.m.~~
- ~~f. Public access is prohibited, except by foot from established parking areas.~~
- ~~g. Public access is prohibited in the dam area, vicinity of the caretaker's house, and north side of the reservoir, to protect administrative sites owned by the City of Colorado Springs, as posted.~~
- ~~h. Water contact activities are prohibited.~~
- ie. Ice fishing is prohibited.
- jf. Discharge of firearms is prohibited.
- g. Dogs are prohibited.

244-224. Runyon/Fountain Lakes State Wildlife Area - Pueblo County

- ~~a. Public access is prohibited from 9:30 p.m. - 7:30 a.m., except while fishing.~~
- ~~b. Boating Vessel use is prohibited, except for hand-launched vessels that are float tubes or carry-on craft propelled by hand, wind, or electric motor when used as an aid in fishing. used for fishing only. All watercraft must be under 14 feet in length.~~
- ~~b. Camping is prohibited.~~
- c. Bicycles are allowed.
- d. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times. Fires are prohibited.
- ~~d. Water contact activities are prohibited.~~
- ~~e. Public access is prohibited from sunset to sunrise, except for fishing.~~

242-225. Russell Lakes State Wildlife Area - Saguache County

- ~~a. Camping is prohibited, except with self-contained units in designated areas.~~
- ~~b. Field trials may be authorized during February, March, August, and September only.~~
- ~~c. Public access is prohibited from February 15 through July 15.~~

- b. Public access is prohibited, except as posted, to protect wintering and nesting waterfowl, and to protect administrative areas of the property.
- c. Section 29 (Herrance Lake and Island Lake) shall be closed during waterfowl hunting season.
- d. During the first split waterfowl season, Russell Lakes SWA shall close at 1:00 p.m. daily to all recreation.
- ~~e. Vehicle parking is allowed prohibited, except in established designated parking areas only.~~
- ~~e. Public access is prohibited, except as posted, to protect wintering and nesting waterfowl, and to protect administrative areas of the property.~~
- f. Camping is allowed during waterfowl hunting seasons by licensed waterfowl hunters and only in parking areas with self-contained camping trailers or campers. Section 29 shall be closed during waterfowl season.
- g. Field trials may be authorized during February, March, August, and September only. During the first split waterfowl season, Russell Lakes SWA shall close at 1:00 p.m.
- h. Public access to established restroom facilities is exempt from requirements set forth in section #900(C)1 of these regulations.

213-226. Sam Caudill State Wildlife Area - Garfield County

- a. ~~Camping is prohibited~~ Launching and use of vessel is allowed, except that the launching and take out of personal watercraft (PWC) is prohibited.
- b. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- ~~e.~~ Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.

214-227. Sanchez Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Costilla County

- a. ~~Hunting is prohibited.~~
- ~~b.~~ Public access is prohibited, except for while fishing.
- b. Discharge of firearms of bows is prohibited.
- c. ~~Camping is prohibited in the boat ramp parking area~~ allowed.
- ~~d.~~ Waterskiing is prohibited.
- ~~e.~~ Bowfishing is prohibited.
- ~~f.~~ All crayfish taken must be returned to the water of origin immediately or killed and taken into possession immediately upon catch with kill being effected by separating the abdomen from the cephalothorax (tail from body).

215-228. Sand Draw State Wildlife Area - Sedgwick County

- a. Public access is prohibited from 9:00 p.m. – 4:00 a.m.
- b. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- ~~c.~~ Fires are prohibited.
- ~~d.~~ Target practice is prohibited except when authorized by the Area Wildlife Manager.
- ~~e.~~ Hunting is limited-allowed for youth/mentor hunting only. A maximum of one (1) mentor per youth hunter may hunt.

216-229. Sands Lake State Wildlife Area - Chaffee County

- a. ~~Camping is prohibited~~ Hunting and the discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.
- b. ~~Fires are prohibited~~ Bicycles are allowed.

- c. ~~Hunting is prohibited.~~ Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times.

217-230. Sandsage State Wildlife Area - Yuma County

- a. Public access is prohibited from 9:00 p.m. – 4:00 a.m.
- b. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except shotguns with birdshot or bows may be used while hunting. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Target practice is prohibited except when authorized by the Area Wildlife Manager.~~
- e. ~~Hunting prohibited, except with bows or shotguns with birdshot.~~

218-231. Sandy Bluffs State Wildlife Area - Yuma County

- a. Public access is prohibited from June 1 ~~—through~~ August 31.
- b. Public access is prohibited from 9:00 p.m. – 4:00 a.m.
- c. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- e. ~~Dog training is prohibited.~~
- f. ~~Horses are prohibited, except while hunting.~~
- g. ~~Target practice is prohibited, except when authorized by the Area Wildlife Manager.~~

232. San Luis Hills SWA - Costilla County

- a. Public access is prohibited from March 1 through August 14.
- b. Camping is allowed while engaged in hunting or fishing activities.
- c. Fires are allowed within a containment structure when associated with hunting or fishing activities.

219-233. San Luis Lakes State Wildlife Area - Alamosa County

- a. ~~Boating is prohibited north of the buoy line.~~
- b. ~~Public access north of the buoy line and east-west fence line is prohibited from February 15 through July 15.~~ From July 16 through February 14:
 - 1. ~~Access~~ Public access is allowed by foot or horseback only.
 - 2. Bicycles are allowed as an aid in hunting and fishing only ~~prohibited.~~
 - 3. Game carts are allowed.
- b. Operating a vessel north of the buoy line is prohibited.
- c. Camping is ~~prohibited outside of~~ allowed in designated areas.
- d. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash, ~~which must be held and controlled~~ by the handler at all times except as authorized in #900(C)(15).

220-234. Sarvis Creek State Wildlife Area - Routt County

- a. ~~a.~~ Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.
- b. ~~Camping and campfires are prohibited~~ is allowed, by licensed hunters during an established big game season, except for plus three (3) days before the beginning of regular big game seasons through and three (3) days after each the end of regular big game seasons.
- a.c. Fires are allowed within a containment structure while camping.

221-235. Sawhill Ponds – Boulder County

- a. ~~Public access is prohibited between midnight and 5:00 a.m. Dogs must be kept on a six foot leash which must be held and controlled by the handler, except in designated areas.~~
- b. ~~Motorized and non-motorized vehicles (including bicycles) are prohibited beyond designated parking areas. Other activities may be prohibited as posted, to implement the management agreement between Colorado Parks and Wildlife and the City of Boulder.~~
- c. ~~Boating and float tubes are~~ Vessel use is prohibited.
- d. Hunting is prohibited.
- e. Horseback riding is ~~prohibited, except~~ allowed on established maintenance roads.
- f. ~~Public access is prohibited between midnight and 5:00 a.m.~~
- g. ~~Collecting of any kind is prohibited, except as authorized by permit.~~
- hf. ~~Other activities may be prohibited as posted, to implement the management agreement between Colorado Parks and Wildlife and the City of Boulder. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times.~~
- ig. Public access to Sawhill Ponds State Wildlife Area is exempt from requirements set forth in section #900(C)1 of these regulations.

222-236. Sedgwick Bar State Wildlife Area - Sedgwick County

- a. Public access is prohibited from 9:00 p.m. – 4:00 a.m.
- b. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Target practice is prohibited except when authorized by the Area Wildlife Manager.~~
- e. ~~Horse use is prohibited, except for training hunting dogs in February, March, April (through the Wednesday preceding the turkey season), and August.~~
- f. ~~All recreational activities, except deer hunting, are prohibited on the opening weekend of the regular plains rifle deer season and on the opening day and first weekend of the late plains rifle deer season.~~
- gc. The launching or takeout of vessels is prohibited during waterfowl seasons.

223-237. Sego Springs State Wildlife Area - Conejos County

- a. ~~Field trials may be authorized during August and September only.~~
- b. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Public access is prohibited from February 15 through July 15.~~
- db. ~~Bowfishing is prohibited~~ Camping is allowed while engaged in hunting or fishing activities.
- c. Fires are allowed within a containment structure while engaged in hunting or fishing activities.
- d. Field trials may be authorized during August and September only.

224. ~~Setchfield State Wildlife Area - Bent County~~

- a. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- b. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~

225-238. Seymour Lake State Wildlife Area - Jackson County

- a. ~~Boating is prohibited~~Operating a vessel in a manner that creates a white-water wake ~~is prohibited~~.
- b. ~~Sail surfboards are prohibited~~Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.
- c. Camping is allowed in designated areas only.
- d. Fires are allowed within an established containment structure in designated areas.
- e. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times except as authorized in #900(C)(15).

226-239. Sharptail Ridge State Wildlife Area - Douglas County

- a. ~~Public A~~access is allowed from sunrise to sunset~~restricted to day use only~~.
- b. ~~Public a~~Access is permitted~~allowed~~ by foot only.
- c. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Hunting is restricted~~prohibited except for deer and elk hunting only.
- ed. Deer and elk hunting is only allowed by permit only with a Sharptail Ridge SWA hunting permit obtained by a separate drawing. -Hunters must have a limited deer or elk license for unit 51 before applying. -No more than two hunters will be permitted daily. -Group applications are allowed for a maximum of two (2) applicants per group. -Permits will be valid for a minimum of two (2) days and a maximum of three (3) days beginning after Labor Day, and will be based on the length of the underlying season and maximization of individual hunter opportunity. -Permit applications are available from the Division in Denver 303-291-7227.
- fe. Permitted hunters may take one other person (an observer) who is not hunting with them while hunting, however that person must remain with the hunter at all times.
- gf. Permitted hunters may park inside in the parking area behind the gate during the times for which they are permitted. -Driving anywhere else on the property is prohibited.
- hg. Public access to Sharptail Ridge State Wildlife Area is exempt from requirements set forth in section #900(C)1 of these regulations.

227-240. Shriver-Wright State Wildlife Area - Rio Grande County

- a. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- b. ~~Camping is prohibited, except in parking areas with self-contained camp trailers or campers.~~
- c. ~~The Area Wildlife Manager may post area-specific closures to manage waterfowl hunting pressure during established waterfowl seasons, to protect maintenance and construction equipment, and to protect human health and safety.~~
- d. ~~Hunting is restricted to the use of archery equipment, shotguns, muzzle-loading or falconry only~~with centerfire rifles is prohibited.
- b. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited except while hunting or bows used on the archery range.
- c. Bows used on the archery range must adhere to the following:
 1. Target and field point only (no broadheads).
 2. Crossbows are prohibited.
 3. All persons must adhere to range safety rules as posted.

- d. Camping is allowed during waterfowl hunting seasons by licensed waterfowl hunters and only in parking areas with self-contained camp trailers or campers.
- e. Target practice is prohibited. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times, except as authorized by #900(C)(15).
- f. Public access to Shriver-Wright State Wildlife Area is exempt from requirements set forth in section #900(C)1 of these regulations.

228-241. Sikes Ranch State Wildlife Area - Baca and Las Animas Counties

- a. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- b. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Off-highway vehicle (OHV) use is prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Wood cutting or gathering is prohibited.~~
- e. ~~Public access is allowed-prohibited from one (1) hour before-after sun set/rise until one (1) hour before/after sun rise/set, except that when an animal is harvested the successful hunter may is allowed to remain as long as is necessary to remove the animal, and or except when authorized by a night hunting permit.~~
- f. Public access is prohibited in the building envelope and designated safety zones, or as posted.
- c. Parking and access is allowed from designated parking areas only.
- d. Trapping is allowed-prohibited, except by permit only. -Permit holders shall have their permit on their person at all times while trapping. -Permits may be obtained by calling the Lamar Service Center at 719-336-6600 or the local District Wildlife Manager at 719-980-0025.
- g. ~~Public access is prohibited in the building envelope and designated safety zones, as posted.~~
- h. ~~Parking is allowed in designated parking lots only.~~
- i. ~~All motorized travel is restricted to the primary access route (CR-O).~~

229-242. Simmons State Wildlife Area - Yuma County

- a. Public access is prohibited from June 1 through August 31.
- b. Public access is prohibited from 9:00 p.m. – 4:00 a.m.
- c. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- e. ~~Dog training is prohibited.~~
- f. ~~Target practice is prohibited except when authorized by the area wildlife manager.~~

230-243. Simpson Ponds State Wildlife Area - Larimer County

- a. Public access is prohibited from one (1) hour after sunset to one (1) hour before sunrise except while fishing or when authorized by a night hunting permit. Boating is prohibited, except for float tubes used for fishing.
- b. Camping is prohibited Vessel use is prohibited, except for hand-launched vessels that are propelled by hand when used as an aid for fishing or hunting.
- c. Dog training is prohibited Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting or bowfishing.
- d. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- e. ~~Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except when hunting.~~
- f. ~~Discharge of bows is allowed for bowfishing.~~

- ~~g. Public access is prohibited from one hour after sunset to one hour before sunrise, except for fishing or when authorized by a night hunting permit.~~
- ~~h. Horseback riding use is prohibited.~~
- ~~ie. Bicycle riding is prohibited.~~

231-244. Skaguay Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Teller County

- ~~a. Boating is prohibited in a manner that creates a white water wake. Operating a vessel in a manner that creates a whitewater wake is prohibited.~~

232-245. SKCK State Wildlife Area (Fishing Access) -- Routt County

- ~~a. Public access is prohibited, except while fishing.~~
- ~~b. Public access is limited to allowed in the designated "Fishing Access Area" and "Public Access Detour" highlighted on the posted property map.~~
- ~~c. Public access is restricted to allowed to walk-in access only.~~
- ~~bd. Public access is prohibited from one (1) hour after sunset to sunrise daily.~~
- ~~ee. Public access is prohibited from December 1 through March 31.~~
- ~~d. Camping is prohibited.~~
- ~~e. Fires are prohibited.~~
- ~~f. Dogs are prohibited.~~
- ~~g. Drones are prohibited.~~
- ~~h. Vehicle access is prohibited beyond the designated parking area. Parking is prohibited except as posted at the parking area.~~
- ~~i. Public access is allowed only from the designated parking area.~~
- ~~jf. Hunting and discharge of firearms or bows are is prohibited.~~

233. 63 Ranch - Park County

- ~~a. Camping is prohibited.~~

234-246. Smith Lake State Wildlife Area - Larimer County

- ~~a. Boating is prohibited in a manner that creates a white water wake.~~
- ~~b. Hunting is prohibited.~~
- ~~c. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.~~
- ~~d. Public access is prohibited from one (1) hour after sunset to one (1) hour before sunrise, except for while fishing.~~
- ~~eb. Camping is prohibited. Hunting and the discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.~~
- ~~fc. Snowmobile use is prohibited. Operating a vessel in a manner that creates a whitewater wake is prohibited.~~
- ~~gd. Off-highway vehicle (OHV and snowmobile) use is prohibited.~~
- ~~e. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times, except as authorized in #900(C)(15).~~
- ~~h. Fires are prohibited.~~

235-247. Smith Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Costilla County

- ~~a. Field trials may be authorized during February, March, August, and September only~~
- ~~b. Public access is prohibited from February 15 through July 15 on the north and east shore areas.~~

- ~~eb.~~ Fishing is prohibited from November 1 through the last day of the waterfowl season, except within two-hundred (200) yards of the dam.
- ~~d.~~ ~~Waterskiing is prohibited.~~
- ~~ec.~~ ~~Motor vehicles~~ are prohibited within fifty (50) feet of the water.
- ~~d.~~ Field trials may be authorized during February, March, August and September only.

236-248. South Republican State Wildlife Area - Yuma County

- a. Parking and access is allowed from designated parking areas only.
- b. Field trials may be authorized during February, March, August, and September only. –No more than two trials may be authorized during the February-March period and no more than one field trial may be authorized during the August-September period.
- ~~bc.~~ Waterfowl hunting is prohibited as posted to provide resting areas for wintering waterfowl. Waterfowl hunting access is prohibited on the downstream face of the dam.
- ~~c.~~ Parking for waterfowl hunting is prohibited, except in designated parking areas.
- d. Camping is allowed in designated and established camping areas. Waterfowl hunting access is prohibited on the downstream face of the dam.
- e. Fires are allowed within an established containment structure in designated areas.

237-249. Spanish Peaks State Wildlife Area - Las Animas County

- a. Parking and access is allowed from designated parking areas only.
- b. Camping is prohibited, allowed except in established camping areas by licensed hunters during an established big game, spring and fall turkey season plus three (3) days before and three (3) days after each season.
- ~~bc.~~ Fires are prohibited, allowed within an established containment structure in except in designated camping areas.
- ~~c.~~ Public access is prohibited, except from established parking areas.
- ~~d.~~ Vehicle parking is prohibited, except in designated areas.

238. Spinney Mountain State Wildlife Area – Park County

- ~~a.~~ Camping is prohibited.
- ~~b.~~ Fires are prohibited.

239-250. Stalker Lake State Wildlife Area - Yuma County

- a. After October 31, hunting is prohibited, except in areas east of Stalker Lake dam. Camping is prohibited.
- b. Hunting on the western half of Stalker Lake is prohibited. Fires are prohibited.
- c. Boating is prohibited, except for float tubes or craft propelled by hand or electric motor. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except for bows on the designated archery range.
- d. Target practice is prohibited, except with bows on the designated archery range. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except shotguns with birdshot, or bows may be used while hunting.
- e. Hunting is prohibited, except with bows or shotguns with birdshot. Vessel use is prohibited, except for launching and use of vessels that are propelled by hand or electric motor.

- ~~f. Hunting on the western half of Stalker Lake is prohibited.~~
- ~~g. After October 31, hunting is prohibited, except in areas east of Stalker Lake dam.~~

251. Steamboat Springs State Wildlife Area (Fishing Easement) – Routt County

- a. Public access is prohibited, except while fishing.
- b. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.

240-252. Storm Mountain Access Road - Larimer County

- a. ~~Public access is prohibited as posted, when necessary to prevent road and habitat damage, depending on weather and habitat conditions.~~
- b. Off-highway vehicles (OHV) must be trailered until on US Forest Service land.
- c. Public access to the Storm Mountain Access Road is exempt from requirements set forth in section #900(C)1 of these regulations.

241-253. Summit Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Montezuma County

- a. Launching of vessels may be allowed as posted. Contact the Durango CPW office for current information. When allowed, operating a vessel in a manner that creates a whitewater wake is prohibited. Camping is prohibited.
- b. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times, except as authorized in #900(C)(15). Fires are prohibited.
- c. ~~Boating is prohibited in a manner that creates a white water wake.~~

242-254. Tamarack Ranch State Wildlife Area - Logan County

- a. ~~Public access is prohibited from 9:00 p.m. – 4:00 a.m., except with an authorized night hunting permit.~~
- b. All recreational activities, except deer hunting, are prohibited on the opening weekend of the regular plains rifle deer season and on the opening day and first weekend of the late plains rifle deer season. Camping and fires are prohibited, except in the designated camping areas.
- c. All hunters must check-in and out at the check station, and must park at the hunting area they are checked into. After 9:00 a.m., hunters may hunt adjacent areas. Deer and turkey hunters are only required to check into East, West, or South Tamarack Area. Target practice is prohibited except when authorized by the Area Wildlife Manager.
- d. From October 25 through the regular duck seasons, reservations are available, but not required, on weekends and state and federal holidays. Reservations must be made in accordance with #901.A of these regulations. Horse use is prohibited north of I-76, except for training hunting dogs in February, March, April (through the Wednesday preceding the turkey season), and August.
- e. A maximum of three (3) field trials may be authorized during February, March, or August, and one (1) in September.
- f. All hunters must check-in and out at the check station, and must park at the hunting area they are checked into. After 9:00 am, hunters may hunt adjacent areas. Deer and turkey hunters are only required to check into East, West, or South Tamarack Area. Vessel use is prohibited during waterfowl seasons.
- g. From October 25 through the regular duck seasons, reservations are available, but not required, on weekends and state and federal holidays. Reservations must be made in accordance with #901.A of these regulations. Camping is allowed in designated areas only.

- h. ~~All recreational activities, except deer hunting, are prohibited on the opening weekend of the regular plains rifle deer season and on the opening day and first weekend of the late plains rifle deer season.~~
- i. ~~The launching or takeout of vessels is prohibited during waterfowl seasons.~~
- j. ~~Augmentation Ponds:~~
 1. From the first day of the second duck season through the dark goose season, waterfowl hunting is allowed only through a lottery drawing.
 2. Hunting is limited to a specific pond/hunt area on each day.
 3. To enter drawing, hunters must send a letter or postcard postmarked by September 30 to the CPW Brush Service Center, with name, address, phone number, CID number, and desired reservation dates. Hunters must possess a valid license to hunt waterfowl to enter drawing. Hunters may apply for multiple hunt dates on one postcard.
 4. Hunters successful in the drawing are required to comply with all hunting restrictions in #901.A of these regulations. All hunters must check-in and out at the check station. Maximum of four (4) hunters allowed per group per day. Hunters must park in designated parking areas, but are allowed to drop off decoys via existing four-wheel-drive only roads, as posted. Hunters must remain on existing roads as posted.
 5. During the light goose conservation order season, all hunters must check-in and out at check station.

243-255. Tarryall Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Park County

- a. Public access is prohibited from the dam, spillway and outlet structures.
- b. ~~Boating in~~Operating a vessel in a manner that creates a white-water wake is prohibited.
- c. ~~All terrain vehicles, dirt bikes~~OHV and snowmobiles ~~are~~use is prohibited.
- d. Discharge of firearms, pellet guns, or bows is prohibited in established campgrounds.
- e. ~~Fires are prohibited~~Camping is allowed in designated campgrounds in designated number sites.
- e.f. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times, except as authorized in #900(C)(15).

244-256. Taylor River State Wildlife Area - Gunnison County

- a. ~~Public access is prohibited from Taylor Dam to 325 yards downstream.~~Camping is prohibited.
- b. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Hunting is prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Vehicle parking is prohibited, except in designated areas.~~
- e. ~~Public access is prohibited from Taylor Dam to 325 yards downstream.~~
- b. Parking is allowed in designated parking areas only.
- c. Hunting and the discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.

245. Teter-Michigan Creek State Wildlife Area - Park County

- a. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- b. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~

246-257. Thurston Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Prowers County

- a. ~~a. Public access is prohibited from one (1) hour after sunset to one (1) hour before sunrise daily, except while fishing.~~
- b. ~~Public access to the frozen surface of the lake is prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Public access to the dams, inlets, and outlet structures is prohibited, except while fishing.~~
- a-d. ~~Boating is prohibited~~ Operating a vessel in a manner that creates a white-water wake is prohibited from November 1 through the last day of the migratory waterfowl season.
- b. ~~Public access is prohibited from one hour after sunset to one hour before sunrise daily, except for fishing.~~
- c. ~~All terrain vehicles, dirt bikes, and snowmobiles are prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Public access to the frozen surface of the lake is prohibited.~~
- e. ~~Public access to the dams, inlets, and outlet structures is prohibited, except for fishing.~~

247-258. Tilman Bishop State Wildlife Area - Mesa County

- a. Public access is prohibited ~~during the nesting and migrating period,~~ from March 15 through July 15.
- b. Public access is allowed by foot only.
- c. Hunting is allowed with archery equipment and shotguns with shot-shells or by falconry only. ~~restricted to deer, waterfowl and small game only.~~
- c. ~~Hunters must check in and out at the property.~~
- d. Big game and waterfowl hunting is allowed by reservation only. ~~Hunting is restricted to bows and shotguns with shot-shells or by falconry only.~~
- e. Waterfowl hunting is allowed from designated blinds only. ~~All access is restricted to walk-in access only.~~
- f. All hunters must comply with the Hunter Reservation System and reservations must be made through the Hunter Reservation System in accordance with #901.A of these regulations. ~~The following are prohibited on the property: overnight camping, fires, fishing, woodcutting, target shooting/sight-in, building permanent blinds, or gathering artifacts.~~
- g. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting. ~~Dogs are prohibited, except as an aid to hunting.~~
- h. ~~Waterfowl hunting on this property is by reservation only. Reservations must be made through the Hunter Reservation System in accordance with #901.A of these regulations.~~
- i. ~~Waterfowl hunters are restricted to hunting from designated blinds or in the zone identified for each blind. No more than four hunters allowed per blind.~~
- j. ~~Deer hunting access is by reservation only. Reservation holders must have their confirmation letter with them at all times while hunting on the property.~~
- k. ~~To make a reservation, deer hunters must already possess a big game license for one of the specific hunt codes permitted on the property.~~
- l. ~~Reservations for deer hunting must be made through the Hunter Reservation System in accordance with #901.A of these regulations.~~
- m. ~~Deer hunters with a reservation may be accompanied by up to two (2) people who are not hunting.~~
- n. ~~Deer hunters may only access the property during the dates specified on their reservation.~~
- o. ~~Only archery equipment will be allowed for deer hunting.~~

- ~~p. Hunters with reservations may only hunt the hunt area specified on the reservation.~~

248-259. Timpas Creek State Wildlife Area - Otero County

- a. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~ Camping is allowed from August 15 through May 31.

249-260. Tomahawk State Wildlife Area - Park County

- a. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
b. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~ Dog training and field trials are prohibited.

250-261. Tomichi Creek State Wildlife Area - Gunnison County

- a. ~~Public access is prohibited.~~ From the end of the waterfowl season through June 30, public access is allowed for fishing only.
b. ~~Dog training and field trials are prohibited.~~ Camping is prohibited.
c. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
d. ~~Dogs are prohibited, except as an aid in hunting.~~

254-262. Totten Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Montezuma County

- a. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~ Public access is prohibited along the north shore from March 1 through May 31, as posted
b. Public access is prohibited from one (1) hour after sunset to one (1) hour before sunrise, except while fishing. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
c. Glass containers are prohibited.
d. Hunting is prohibited in the inlet area ~~from September 30 through January 20, as posted, to protect resting waterfowl.~~
e. Launching and use of vessels may be allowed as posted. Contact the Durango CPW office for current information. When allowed, operating a vessel in a manner that creates a whitewater wake is prohibited. ~~Boating is prohibited in a manner that creates a white water wake.~~
f. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times, except as authorized in #900(C)(15). ~~Public access is prohibited along the north shore from March 1 through May 31.~~
g. ~~Public access is prohibited from one hour after sunset to one hour before sunrise, except for fishing.~~
h. ~~Public access to Totten Reservoir State Wildlife Area is exempt from requirements set forth in section #900(C)1 of these regulations.~~

252-263. Trujillo Meadows State Wildlife Area - Conejos County

- a. ~~a. Launching and use of all vessels is allowed.~~
~~a.b. Boating.~~ Operating a vessel is prohibited in a manner that creates a white-water wake is prohibited.

253-264. Turk's Pond State Wildlife Area - Baca County

- a. ~~Boating.~~ Vessel use is prohibited, except for launching and use of vessels that are float tubes or craft propelled by hand, wind or electric motor when used as an aid in fishing or hunting.
b. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
c. ~~All human activity is prohibited within a one-quarter (1/4) mile of the high water line around Turk's Pond including the administrative buildings, from the~~

opening day of the regular duck season through the last day of the regular dark goose season as posted. Hunters are allowed inside the closure only to retrieve downed waterfowl. Hunters must leave firearms outside of the closure.

265. Twenty Mile Pond State Wildlife Area (Fishing Easement) – Routt County

- a. Public access is prohibited, except while fishing.
- b. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.

254-266. Twin Spruce Ponds State Wildlife Area- Montezuma County

- a. Public access is prohibited from sunset to sunrise. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- b. Parking and public access is allowed from designated parking areas only. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- c. Glass containers are prohibited.
- d. Hunting and discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.
- e. Vessel use is prohibited, except for hand-launched vessels that are propelled by hand. ~~Boating is prohibited, except for float tubes or craft propelled by hand.~~
- f. ~~Public access is prohibited from sunset to sunrise.~~
- g. ~~Access to the property is from designated parking area only.~~

255-267. Two Buttes Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Baca and Prowers Counties

- a. ~~Boating-Vessel use~~ is prohibited, except for in Two Buttes Ponds below the dam, except for float tubes or craft hand-launched vessels that are propelled by hand, ~~wind~~ or electric motor in the ponds below the dam.
- b. Launching and use of all vessels is allowed on the reservoir.
- c. Water contact activities are allowed on the reservoir only.
- d. Camping is allowed in designated and established camping areas.
- e. Fires are allowed within an established containment structure in designated areas.

268. Upper Red Cliff Ranch State Wildlife Area - Custer County

- a. Public access is prohibited from December 1 through April 30, except for properly licensed hunters and one non-hunting companion.
- b. Parking and access is allowed from designated parking areas only.
- c. Hunting access is allowed by reservation only.
- d. All hunters must comply with the Hunter Reservation System and reservations must be made through the Hunter Reservation System in accordance with #901.A of these regulations.
- e. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.
- f. Camping is allowed by licensed hunters during an established big game or turkey season plus three (3) days before and three (3) days after each season. Camping is prohibited within one hundred (100) feet of any stream.
- g. Dog training and field trials are prohibited.

256-269. Vail Deer Underpass State Wildlife Area - Eagle County

- a. ~~Hunting is prohibited.~~
- b. ~~Public access is prohibited from November 1 through June 15.~~

257-270. Verner State Wildlife Area (Fishing Lease) - (North Platte River) Jackson County

- ~~a. a.~~—Public access is prohibited, except for while fishing only.
- ~~a.b.~~ Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.

258-271. Wahatoya State Wildlife Area - Huerfano County

- a. Hunting and the discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.
- b. Boating Vessel use is prohibited, except for float tubes or craft hand-launched vessels that are propelled by hand, ~~or wind~~ or electric motor when used as an aid for fishing.
- ~~b.~~ Camping is prohibited.
- c. ~~Fires are prohibited~~ Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times.

259-272. Walker State Wildlife Area - Mesa County

- a. Public access is prohibited between sunset and sunrise except for on the paved portion of the Riverfront trail and while fishing. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- b. Overnight parking is prohibited ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- c. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except bows are permitted for the purpose of while bowfishing.
- d. Hunting is prohibited.
- e. Dogs are allowed on the paved portion of the Riverfront Trail, but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times. ~~Public access is prohibited from one-half (1/2) hour after sunset to one-half (1/2) hour before sunrise.~~
- ~~f.~~ Trapping is prohibited.
- ~~g.~~ Dogs are prohibited, except that dogs on leash are permitted on the paved Riverfront Trail. All dog handlers must immediately collect, remove, and properly dispose of all dog feces left by their dog.

260-273. Watson Lake State Wildlife Area - Larimer County

- a. ~~Boating is prohibited~~ Public access is prohibited from one (1) hour after sunset to one (1) hour before sunrise, except while fishing.
- b. Public access onto the fish passage structure located on the northeast side of Watson Lake State Wildlife Area is prohibited. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- c. Public access is prohibited to the northwest side as posted to prevent access to the water outtake and fish disposal area.
- d. Fishing from the walls of the fish passage or fishing in the fish passage is prohibited.
- e. The use or possession of live minnows is prohibited.
- f. Vehicle parking is prohibited on the South Dam.
- g. Launching and take out of vessels is prohibited.
- h. Hunting and discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.

- ~~dj.~~ Ice fishing is prohibited.
- ~~ej.~~ Ice skating is prohibited.
- ~~fk.~~ Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times, except as authorized in #900(C)(15). ~~Vehicle parking is prohibited on the South Dam.~~
- ~~g.~~ Public access is prohibited to the northwest side as posted to prevent access to the water outtake and fish disposal area.

- ~~h. Discharge of firearms is prohibited.~~
- ~~i. The use or possession of live minnows is prohibited.~~
- ~~j. From one hour after sunset to one hour before sunrise, use other than fishing is prohibited.~~
- ~~k. The launching of any vessel or single compartment air or gas filled flotation device is prohibited on the stretch of the Cache La Poudre River that runs through Watson Lake State Wildlife Area.~~
- ~~l. Access onto the fish passage structure located on the northeast side of Watson Lake State Wildlife Area is prohibited.~~
- ~~m. Fishing from the walls of the fish passage or fishing in the fish passage is prohibited.~~

264-274. Waunita Watchable Wildlife Area - Gunnison County

- ~~a. Camping is prohibited.~~
- ~~b. Discharge of firearms is prohibited.~~
- ~~c. Dogs are prohibited.~~
- ~~d. Fires are prohibited.~~
- ~~e. All trash must be packed out.~~
- ~~f. Public access is ~~permitted~~ allowed from April 1 through April 30 annually only, except during the second full week (Sunday through Sunday) of the month when public access is prohibited. Public access is prohibited at all other times.~~
- b. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited.
- c. Dogs are prohibited.

262-275. Webster State Wildlife Area - Weld County

- ~~a. Public access is prohibited, except from ~~the day after~~ September 1 through the last day of ~~the~~ spring turkey season ~~through August 31.~~~~
- ~~b. Public access is allowed only for ~~From September 1 through the last day of the spring turkey season, public access is limited to only~~ licensed hunters or members of a hunting party, and only on Saturdays, Sundays, Wednesdays and state and federal holidays.~~
- ~~c. Public access is prohibited from one (1) hour after sunset to 4:00 a.m.~~
- ~~d. Hunters may only access the property by parking in a designated, numbered parking spot inside the parking lot. Parking along the access road or Weld Co Rd 394 is prohibited.~~
- ~~e. ~~Camping is prohibited~~ Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.~~
- ~~f. ~~Fires are prohibited~~ Hunting with centerfire rifles and muzzleloaders is prohibited.~~
- ~~g. Hunting is prohibited in the inflow or outflow canals ~~Target practice is prohibited.~~~~
- ~~h. Horse use is prohibited.~~
- ~~i. ~~Dogs are prohibited, except as an aid in hunting.~~~~
- ~~j. ~~Hunting with center fire rifles and muzzleloaders is prohibited.~~~~
- ~~k. ~~Hunting is prohibited in the inflow or outflow canals.~~~~

263-276. Wellington State Wildlife Area - Larimer and Weld Counties

- ~~a. Boating is prohibited, except for craft propelled by hand may be used in hunting waterfowl.~~
- ~~b. Camping is prohibited.~~

- ~~c.~~ Field trials may be authorized on the Wellington and Schware units during February, March 1 through 14, and August only. Field trials may be authorized on the Cobb Lake Unit year-round.
- ~~d.~~ Game birds listed in #009(B) of these regulations may be released on the Cobb Lake Unit by the Division or its agent for educational or training purposes without seasonal or numerical restrictions.
- ~~e.~~ Fires are prohibited.
- f. Public access is prohibited on the Wellington and Schware Units from March 15 through July 15.
- ~~g.~~ Target practice is prohibited, except when authorized by the area wildlife manager.
- ~~h.~~ Public access is prohibited on the Wellington Unit from the first day of the regular waterfowl season to the first day of the pheasant season, except on Saturday, Sundays, Mondays-Wednesday and state and federal holidays.
- ~~i.~~ Horseback riding is prohibited, except at the Cobb Lake Unit, where horses may be used during field trials. Hunting with centerfire rifles is prohibited.
- ~~j.~~ Domestic birds, feral birds, or privately-owned game birds may be released year-round for dog training on the Cobb Lake Unit by permit only, in accordance with the provisions of this chapter and other applicable regulations, including, but not limited to, #007, #008, #009, #801 and #804 of these regulations. All such birds taken during training activities shall be removed from the State Wildlife Area by the dog training permittee and all privately-owned game birds shall be prepared for human consumption. Target practice is prohibited, except when authorized by the area wildlife manager.
- ~~k.~~ Big game hunting on all units is restricted to the use of archery, shotguns with slugs, and muzzle-loading only. Vessel use is prohibited, except for launching and use of vessels that are propelled by hand and used for waterfowl hunting, dog training or field trials.
- ~~l.~~ Field trials may be authorized on the Wellington and Schware units during February, March 1 through 14, and August only. Field trials may be authorized on the Cobb Lake Unit year-round.
- ~~m.~~ Game birds listed in #009(B) of these regulations may be released on the Cobb Lake Unit by the Division or its agent for educational or training purposes without seasonal or numerical restrictions.
- ~~n.~~ Domestic birds, feral birds, or privately-owned game birds may be released year-round for dog training on the Cobb Lake Unit by permit only, in accordance with the provisions of this chapter and other applicable regulations, including, but not limited to, #007, #008, #009, #801 and #804 of these regulations. All such birds taken during training activities shall be removed from the State Wildlife Area by the dog training permittee and all privately-owned game birds shall be prepared for human consumption.
- ~~o.~~ Horse use is prohibited, except at the Cobb Lake Unit, where horses may be used during field trials.
- ~~p.~~ The Division is authorized to implement a dog training reservation system should overcrowding become an issue on the State Wildlife Area.

264.277. West Lake State Wildlife Area - Larimer County

- a. ~~Boating-Vessel use~~ is prohibited, except for launching and use of vessels that are float tubes or craft propelled by hand, wind or electric motor.

- b. Public access to West Lake State Wildlife Area is exempt from requirements set forth in section #900(C)1 of these regulations.

265-278. West Rifle Creek State Wildlife Area - Garfield County

- a. ~~Public access is prohibited on the designated shooting range between sunset and sunrise. Camping is prohibited, except from the day after Labor Day through December 31.~~
- b. ~~Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting or on the designated shooting range. Public access is prohibited on the West Rifle Creek Shooting Range, except between sunrise and sunset daily when in compliance with all posted range rules.~~
- c. ~~Camping is allowed by licensed hunters during an established big game season plus three (3) days before and three (3) days after each season.~~
- d. ~~Fires are allowed within a containment structure while camping.~~

266-279. Whitehorse State Wildlife Area - Adams County

- a. Public access is ~~limited to prohibited, except for~~ youth ~~and mentors~~ who have ~~received certification to use the property as participants in the youth hunting program. waterfowl hunting only, when authorized by the Area Wildlife Manager as participants in the Division's youth hunting program.~~
- b. ~~Public access is limited to dates specified by the program.~~
- c. ~~Parking and access is allowed from designated parking areas only.~~
- d. ~~A reservation is required for all waterfowl hunting. Reservations are available to authorized participants for waterfowl hunting. Reservations may be made must be made~~ in accordance with #901.A of these regulations. ~~Hunters with reservations may only hunt the hunt-area specified on the reservation, except when hunting areas where reservations are not required or on hunt areas which are unreserved and unoccupied. Hunters must follow check in and check out procedures as posted.~~
- e. ~~Waterfowl hunters must check-in and check-out at the designated check station and the reservation holder must be present while hunting.~~

267-280. Williams Creek Reservoir State Wildlife Area - Hinsdale County

- a. ~~Launching and use of all vessels is allowed. Camping is prohibited.~~
- b. ~~Operating a vessel in a manner that creates a whitewater wake is prohibited. Fires are prohibited.~~
- c. ~~Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting. Beating in a manner that creates a white water wake is prohibited.~~
- d. Snowmobiles are allowed only as an aid in ice fishing.
- e. ~~Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times, except as authorized in #900(C)(15). Sail surfboards are prohibited.~~

268-281. Willow Creek State Wildlife Area (Fishing and Hunting Lease) - Yuma County

- a. Public access is prohibited from June 1 through August 31.
- b. Public access is prohibited from 9:00 p.m. – 4:00 a.m.
- c. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- d. ~~Fires are prohibited.~~
- e. ~~Dog training is prohibited.~~

- ~~f.~~ Horses ~~use is are~~ prohibited.
- ~~g.~~ Target practice is prohibited except when authorized by the area wildlife manager.

269-282. Willow Creek Reservoir State Wildlife Area (Fishing/Hunting Lease) - Grand County

- a. ~~Public A~~access is prohibited, ~~except~~permitted while~~for~~ fishing, small game, and waterfowl hunting ~~only~~.
- b. ~~Public a~~Access ~~permitted is allowed~~ only through designated access points as posted.
- c. Hunting with centerfire rifles prohibited.
- ~~d.~~ ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- ~~e.~~ ~~Fires are prohibited.~~

270-283. Wind in the Willows State Wildlife Area - Hinsdale County

- a. Public access to the Easement Area is ~~allowed~~~~limited to from~~ a single point located at the southerly end of the property, just north of the bridge on Hinsdale Co Rd 33, near the intersection of Hinsdale Co Rd 33 and Hinsdale Co Rd 30. Public access to the Easement Area from any other portion of the property is prohibited.
- ~~b.~~ ~~Public access is prohibited, except while fly fishing only.~~
- ~~c.~~ ~~Public access is prohibited from one (1) hour after sunset to one (1) hour before sunrise.~~
- ~~d.~~ ~~Public access is allowed by foot only.~~
- ~~b-e.~~ Fishing access is allowed only on the Lake Fork of the Gunnison River, including twenty (20) feet on either side of the riverbank.
- ~~c.~~ ~~Public access is prohibited from one (1) hour after sunset to one (1) hour before sunrise.~~
- ~~d.~~ ~~Public access is restricted to foot traffic only.~~
- ~~e.f.~~ Dogs ~~and other pets~~ are prohibited.
- ~~f.~~ ~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- ~~g.~~ ~~Fires are prohibited.~~

271-284. Windy Gap Watchable Wildlife Area - Grand County

- a. ~~Public access is prohibited outside of the viewing area.~~~~Dogs are prohibited beyond the parking area.~~
- b. ~~Public access is prohibited from sunset to sunrise.~~~~Fishing is prohibited.~~
- c. Discharge of firearms ~~or bows~~ is prohibited.
- d. ~~Hunting is prohibited.~~~~Camping is prohibited.~~
- e. ~~Fires are~~~~Fishing is~~ prohibited.
- f. ~~Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times~~~~No human activity allowed outside viewing area.~~
- ~~g.~~ ~~Public access is prohibited from sunset to sunrise.~~
- ~~h.~~ ~~Hunting is prohibited.~~
- ~~i.~~ ~~Trapping is prohibited.~~
- ~~h.~~ Public access to Windy Gap Watchable Wildlife Area is exempt from requirements set forth in section #900(C)1 of these regulations.

272-285. Woods Lake State Wildlife Area - San Miguel County

- a. ~~Boating-Vessel use~~ is prohibited, except for launching and use of vessels that are float tubes or craft propelled by hand, wind or electric motor.
- b. ~~Camping is prohibited.~~ Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times, except as authorized in #900(C)(15).

273-286. Yampa River State Wildlife Area - Routt County

- a. ~~a.—Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.~~
- a. ~~—Launch or take out of vessels, except those being actively used for fishing, hunting or wildlife viewing is prohibited.~~ Camping is prohibited.
- b. ~~b.—Fires are prohibited.~~

274-287. Yarmony Ranch State Wildlife Area (Hunting and Fishing Easement) - Jackson County

- a. Public access is prohibited, except while hunting or fishing.
- b. Hunting is allowed for elk, moose and pronghorn with a limited public access permit only ~~restricted to antelope, moose and elk.~~
- b.c. Limited public access permits may be obtained by contacting the CPW Steamboat Springs Service Center at 970-870-3333. ~~Fishing is by artificial flies and lures only. The possession limit is two fish.~~
- ed. To obtain a limited public access permit, hunters must already possess a big game license for one of the specific hunt codes permitted on the property. ~~Limited access permits for big game hunting may be obtained by contacting the CPW Steamboat Springs Service Center at 970-870-2197.~~
- de. Limited access permits will be valid starting the 1st day of the season of the license. ~~Hunters may only access the property during the dates specified on their limited access permit.~~
- ef. Hunters may only access the property during the dates specified on their limited public access permit and may be accompanied by up to two (2) people who are not hunting. ~~To obtain a limited access permit, hunters must already possess a big game license for one of the specific hunt codes permitted on the property.~~
- fg. Public access by hunters with a limited public access permit is prohibited prior to two (2) hours before sunrise and after one (1) hour following sunset, except that when an animal has been harvested, the successful hunter and their non-hunter companion shall be allowed to remain as long as necessary to remove it. ~~Limited access permits will be valid starting the 1st day of the season of the license.~~
- gh. Fishing is prohibited during established big game hunting seasons.
- i. Parking and public access is allowed from designated parking areas only. ~~Access by hunters with a limited access permit is prohibited prior to two hours before sunrise and after one hour following sunset, except that when an animal has been harvested, the successful hunter and his/her non-hunter companion shall be allowed to remain as long as necessary to remove it. The person who is not hunting must possess a valid hunting or fishing license or Colorado State Wildlife Area pass if 16 years or age and older.~~
- hj. Public access is allowed by foot and horseback only. ~~Hunting is not allowed in the safety zone.~~
- ik. Access is only permitted from designated parking areas ~~Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited in the designated safety zones, or as posted.~~

- jl. ~~Access is permitted by foot and horseback only~~Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited, except while hunting.
- mk. ~~Hunters with a limited access permit may be accompanied by up to two (2) people who are not hunting~~Building blinds is prohibited.
- l. ~~The following are not permitted on the property: overnight camping, dogs, fires, target shooting, and building blinds.~~

ARTICLE IV - STATE FISH UNITS

#905 - PROPERTY SPECIFIC REGULATIONS

E. Roaring Judy State Fish Unit - Gunnison County

1. Public access is prohibited from one (1) hour after sunset to one (1) hour before sunrise.
2. Public access is prohibited from December 1 through April 30 on that portion of the property east of Hwy 135.~~Discharge of firearms or bows is limited to outside of the designated safety zones, as posted.~~
3. West of Hwy 135, hunting is ~~restricted~~allowed with ~~to~~ archery equipment for big game and shotguns utilizing birdshot for small game and for waterfowl only.
4. Discharge of firearms or bows is prohibited in the designated safety zones, or as posted.~~Public access prohibited from December 1 — May 15 on that portion of the property east of Hwy 135.~~
5. Fishing is prohibited in the fishing ponds and the connecting hatchery discharge stream to the hatchery outlet (on the East River) from the day after Labor Day through November 15.
6. Dogs are allowed but must be kept under control on a physical leash by the handler at all times, except when used as an aid in hunting.

APPENDIX B

1. State Wildlife Areas governed by regulation #900

Wildlife properties governed by general provisions contained in regulation #900 include those listed in the following table and any new properties acquired during the year for which property specific regulations have not been adopted:

Property Name	County
Alberta Park Reservoir SWA	Mineral
Alma SWA	Park
Andrews Lake SWA	San Juan
Apishapa SWA	Las Animas
Arkansas River/Big Bend SWA	Chaffee
Beaver Creek SWA	Fremont
Big Meadows Reservoir SWA	Mineral
Blanca SWA	Alamosa
Bob Terrell SWA	Garfield
Brackenbury SWA	Larimer
Brown Lakes SWA	Hinsdale
Brush Creek SWA	Eagle
Burchfield SWA	Baca
Cabin Creek SWA	Gunnison
Charlie Meyers SWA	Park
Coke Oven SWA	Pitkin
Deadman SWA	Prowers
Droney Gulch SWA	Chaffee
Fort Lyon SWA	Bent
Four Mile SWA	Douglas
Frying Pan River SWA	Eagle
Georgetown SWA	Clear Creek
Huerfano SWA	Huerfano
Jackson SWA	Garfield
Johnson Village SWA (Fishing Easement)	Chaffee
La Jara Reservoir SWA	Gonejos
Lake Fork Gunnison SWA (Fishing Easement)	Hinsdale
Leaps Gulch SWA	Gunnison
Mason Family SWA	Hinsdale
Masonic Park Fishing Easement	Rio Grande
Middle Taylor Creek SWA	Custer
Mt. Werner SWA (Fishing Easement)	Routt
Purgatoire River SWA	Bent
Oxbow SWA	Otero
Owl Mountain SWA	Jackson
Piceance SWA	Garfield/Rio Blanco

Pioneer Park SWA	Grand
Red Dog SWA	Prowers
Rock Creek SWA	Grand
Saguache Park	Saguache
San Luis Hills SWA	Costilla
San Miguel SWA	San Miguel
Sapinero SWA	Gunnison
Seaman Reservoir SWA	Larimer
Setchfield SWA	Bent
Spinney Mountain SWA	Park
63 Ranch SWA	Park
Steamboat Springs SWA (Fishing Easement)	Routt
Twenty Mile Pond SWA (Fishing Easement)	Routt
Terrace Reservoir SWA	Conejos
Teter-Michigan Creek SWA	Park
Twin Sisters SWA	Larimer
Van Tuyl SWA (Cabin Creek and Lost Canyon Units)	Gunnison
Wheeler SWA	Garfield
Williams Hill SWA	Pitkin
Wright's Lake SWA (Fishing Easement)	Chaffee

2. State Trust Lands governed by regulation #902

Properties leased from the State Land Board (state trust lands) governed by general provisions contained in regulation #902 include those listed in the following table and any new properties acquired during the year for which property specific regulations have not been adopted:

Property Name	County
Adelaide	Fremont
Agate Mountain	Park
Agua Ramon	Rio Grande
Alamosa Canyon	Conejos
Alkali Arroyo	Otero
Alta	Conejos
American Gulch	Rio Grande
Antelope Flats	Morgan
Antelope Tank	Las Animas
Arrowhead	Larimer
Aspen Ridge	Chaffee
Aubury Creek	Baca
Badger Basin	Park
Badger Flats	Park
Badito	Huerfano
Bear Creek	Huerfano
Beaver Brook	Clear Creek

Property Name	County
Beecher Island	Yuma
Ben Morgan Canyon	Moffat
Black Wolf Creek	Yuma
Bloom Hills	Otero
Bonny Creek	Yuma
Box Elder	Moffat
Boxelder North	Moffat
Brammer	Morgan
Briggsdale	Weld
Brush Hollow	Fremont
Buffalo Gulch	Park
Bull Pasture	Otero
Burns Canyon	Chaffee
Bustos Flat	Huerfano
Carrica	Otero
Chiquito Peak	Conejos
Cimarron River	Baca
Citadel	Moffat
Copper Mountain	Grand
Crooked Arroyo	Otero
Cross Mountain	Moffat
Crow Valley	Weld
David Canyon	Otero
Dead Horse Creek	San Miguel
Dearfield	Weld
Delmonica Gulch	Lake
Disappointment Creek	Dolores
Disappointment Valley	San Miguel
Dixie Bluffs	Otero
Dry Creek Basin	San Miguel
Dry Creek North	Larimer
Eagle Canyon	Larimer
East Alamosa	Alamosa
East Bend	Conejos
East Carrizo Creek	Las Animas
East Timpas	Otero
Eastman Basin	Weld
Ecklund	Yuma
Edler	Baca
Eleven Mile	Park
Elk Springs #1	Moffat
Flagler	Kit Carson
Flying A	Pueblo
Foster Gulch	Custer
Gallegos	Conejos
Geary Creek	Weld

Property Name	County
Gerrard	Rio Grande
Guillermo Ranch	Huerfano
Haight	Otero
Hamilton Mesa	San Miguel
Hartsel	Park
Hartsel South	Park
Hay Gulch Overlook	Yuma
Higbee Canyon	Otero
Howard Creek	Weld
Hungerford	Pueblo
Iles Grove	Moffat
Iron Springs	Otero
Jack Canyon	Otero
Jacks Creek	Saguache
Jeffway Gulch	Moffat
Jimmy Creek	Larimer
Johnson Gulch	Custer
Jubb Creek	Moffat
Juniper Hot Springs	Moffat
Keller	Bent
Keota	Weld
Kerber Creek	Saguache
Kinney Lake	Lincoln
Kirkwell	Baca
Klondike Basin	San Miguel
La Junta	Otero
Las Mesitas	Conejos
Laughlin Gulch	Saguache
Lazy D	Weld
Little Muddy	Adams
Little Snake	Moffat
Lone Rock	Baca
Maitland	Huerfano
Manhattan Creek	Larimer
McKenna Peak	San Miguel
Middle Creek	Saguache
Miner's Draw	Moffat
Mirage	Saguache
Moore Draw	Baca
Morgan Gulch	Moffat
North Devils Canyon	Otero
North Pawnee Creek	Weld
Oil Well Flats	Fremont
Old Man's Gulch	Eagle
Old Woman Creek	Saguache
Orchard	Weld

Property Name	County
Ortiz	Conejos
Packers Gap	Otero
Pawnee Coal Creek	Weld
Pawnee Valley	Logan
Pine Arroyo	Huerfano
Pinon Ridge	Moffat
Point of Rocks	Weld
Poison Spyder	San Miguel
Poitrey Canyon	Las Animas
Poitrey Creek	Las Animas
Poncha Pass	Chaffee
Punche Valley	Conejos
Queens	Kiowa
Railroad Gulch	Chaffee
Rattlesnake	Huerfano
Red Mountain	Grand
Red Rock	Otero
Robinson Creek	Weld
Rock Creek	Saugache
Rock Fall	Otero
Romeo	Conejos
Rosener	Morgan
Round Top	Otero
Russell Creek	Saguache
Rye Slough	Park
Saddle Mountain	Park
San Antonito	Conejos
Sand Arroyo	Baca
Sand Canyon	Baca
Sand Creek Central	Chaffee
Sand Creek South	Baca
Savory East	Las Animas
Settlement	Kit Carson
Shelf Road	Teller
Simmons	Yuma
Simsberry Draw	Moffat
Sixteen Ditch	Jackson
Skull Creek	Moffat
Sleeping Giant	Routt
Slide Mountain	Grand
Snyder Prairie	Washington
South Duffy Mountain	Moffat
South Fork Republican	Kit Carson, Yuma
South Fork Spring Canyon	Yuma
South Gardner	Huerfano
South Mountain	Dolores

Property Name	County
South Pawnee Creek	Weld
South Pinon Hills	Conejos
South Roggen	Weld
Spinney	Park
Spring Creek Basin	San Miguel
Spring Gulch	Saguache
Spring Valley	Kit Carson
Sterling Prairie	Logan
Steven's Gulch	Larimer
Stone Corral	Weld
Sugar Loaf	Conejos
Sultan Creek	San Juan
Sunny Moon	Baca
Taos Valley	Conejos
Tarryall Creek	Park
Tecolote Creek	Las Animas
Temple Canyon	Moffat
Texas Creek #2	Fremont
The Hogback	Huerfano
The Poso	Conejos
Thornburg Draw	Moffat
Three Mile Mountain	Park
Timberlake	Otero
Tinaja Canyon	Huerfano
Tobe Creek	Las Animas
Treasurevault Mountain	Park
Treetop	Bent
Triangle	Moffat
Troublesome Valley Ranch	Grand
Trujillo Canyon	Conejos
Tunnel Drive	Fremont
Turkey Ridge	Pueblo, Huerfano
Two Buttes	Prowers
Twomile Creek	Weld
Utleysville	Baca
Villa Grove	Saguache
Weldon Valley	Morgan
West Lime Creek	San Juan
Whiskey Creek	Eagle
Whiterock	Otero, Pueblo
Wild Horse	Weld
<u>Williams Hill</u>	<u>Pitkin</u>

Basis and Purpose:

State Wildlife Areas (SWA) are areas purchased with money from the sale of hunting and fishing licenses and equipment. SWAs are purchased for a number of reasons, the primary one being to conserve wildlife and wildlife habitat needs. A secondary benefit is providing areas for wildlife-related recreation (hunting, fishing, and wildlife watching). When not in conflict with the prior purposes, SWAs also provide opportunities for other forms of recreation. Because SWAs are acquired using federal funds, if the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service determines that a state agency has “lost control” of a property by allowing non-compatible uses, the state agency is required either to regain management control of the lands or replace such lands with lands of equal values and equal benefits as those originally acquired, or the license revenues must be restored to the State agency. Over the last 7-8 years State Wildlife Areas (SWA) use has dramatically increased, causing a corresponding rise in negative impacts on wildlife and wildlife related recreation. To combat these trends CPW has examined SWAs across the state and modified regulations to protect the wildlife and wildlife habitats found on these lands. These changes include updating the general provisions to be more restrictive and modifying language found in the property specific regulations. In addition to those restrictions, these changes also include additional property specific allowances that allow for activities that have been prohibited in the general provisions on those properties.

Beaver Creek SWA

Beaver Creek SWA is 2227 acres that include two small parking areas; there are no public restrooms or facilities. Beaver Creek is primarily managed for wildlife use and this includes planting food plots, rotation of grazing, and stream improvements. Beaver Creek SWA offers a very unique hunting and fishing opportunity. Hunters can hunt big game, small game, and turkey. Anglers can fish 3 miles of a continuous stream from the lower to the upper parking areas.

Beaver Creek SWA has become a more popular destination for activities not related to hunting and fishing. This proposed regulation will limit public access as follows: “Except for wildlife viewing from existing, established parking areas, the use of the property is restricted to hunting only from August 15 to April 30.” It will reduce the overcrowding and loss of a quality hunting and angling experience. Turkey hunters have a five-year wait to draw a limited unit turkey license that is only valid for Beaver Creek SWA, and the connecting Table Mt STL. The proposed dates will also reduce conflicts between bear hunters during the September season, archery elk and deer hunters in September, rifle deer and elk hunters in October and November, and whitetail-only hunters in December. The winter and spring dates will provide valuable winter range habitats without dog and human disturbance.

Beaver Lake SWA

Beaver Lake State Wildlife Area was purchased in 1961 by the State of Colorado. As written in the sale agreement from the previous landowner, Beaver Lake was sold to the State for "fishing purposes only." Recent recreation trends have led to non-angling water recreation overwhelming available parking and real estate on the water making it difficult to impossible for anglers to fish without becoming entangled. CPW continues to stock the lake 6-8 times annually with catchable trout. These trout are stocked on a

"put and take" basis encouraging angling and harvest. Beaver Lake is managed under statewide angling regulations with no additional angling restrictions in place. Many of the waters in the Roaring Fork valley are recognized as quality waters with either tackle restrictions, harvest restrictions or both.

Additionally, CPW annually receives complaints from Town of Marble residents who cannot leave or get to their house due to the number of SWA users who attempt to park along nearby roadways after the parking lot is full. CPW has engaged with local county commissioners and the Gunnison County Sheriff for the past several years who have requested CPW's assistance in corralling use which continues to sprawl onto the adjacent county roads making them impassable to local and emergency traffic. Patrols by CPW officers in the past several years have resulted in over 95% of the contacts being non-angling users. The regulation prohibiting non-angling related vessel use is meant to restore Beaver Lake as a unique angling opportunity where people can drive to water's edge, use bait and keep any fish caught.

Bighorn Springs SWA

The newly acquired Bighorn Springs SWA offers users limited access and requires additional rules to protect the value of the unique qualities of this property. Bighorn Springs SWA is a fishing easement and the land is owned by the Blue Triton Corporation. The property is now in a Conservation easement that Colorado Parks and Wildlife helps to manage. Blue Triton pumps water from the aquifer beneath the surface and ships the product to be bottled and sold by Arrowhead Distributors. The easement agreement provides the public with access to the Arkansas River for fishing access, protection for bighorn sheep habitat, and wildlife viewing and education and interpretation from the newly created wildlife-viewing parking lot on County Road 302. Bighorn Springs SWA is in an area with a high demand for dispersed camping and sees heavy visitation being next to the Ruby Mountain AHRA site and the gateway to Browns Canyon National Monument. During the summer months, visitors are often not able to find a camping spot and will park in the Bighorn Springs SWA. Often trash is left behind and vehicles being left overnight can disrupt those user groups that want to use the property for the allowed uses.

The construction of the parking lot included an underlayment to protect any fuel sources from vehicles or other sources from any possible contaminations. The property only allows access from the parking lot and all access is restricted to foot traffic only. CPW and Blue Triton worked together to develop appropriate rules and regulations to protect the property. Both parties agreed that defined hours for usage should be implemented. The agreed-upon hours were from sunrise to a half-past sunset. This time allows for fishing access, but also eliminates potential conflicts at the property. A gate is installed and property hours can be posted on the gate and closed if necessary to control visitation hours. The terms of the access lease dictate management including the restriction of all dogs from the property. The property is managed for water quality and Blue Triton didn't want dogs on the property.

Burry State Wildlife Area (Fishing Lease)

The addition of the Burry SWA (fishing lease) is to allow CPW to regulate and manage this property. Fishing access along the Roaring Fork River in Garfield County is very limited due to the river flowing through private properties. In June of 1994, Colorado Parks and Wildlife, formerly Colorado Division of Wildlife, purchased a fishing access easement and is still in private ownership. This easement allows for public fishing on the Roaring Fork River within boundaries agreed upon by both parties. CPW must adhere to all the terms and conditions of the lease agreement. Regulations put in place by CPW staff will allow for the terms and conditions to be met.

Cline Ranch SWA

Cline Ranch SWA requires updating to comply with changes to the Park County system. Park County owns the property and CPW has a perpetual access and management agreement for the property. When the property was originally acquired, Park County was hoping to allow for equestrian use. However, no trails were ever developed for equestrian use. At that time, the County Tourism and Community Development position was facilitating equestrian use requests. There were a few requests the first few years and there have been no known requests in the past 6-7 years. Approximately 2 years ago, this employee retired and Park County realigned their employee structure. Park County does not have an employee to facilitate this task. Park County agrees that with the lack of requests, the removal of the regulation is best for preventing any future frustration for constituents. With the lack of equestrian use requests and the addition of the SWA Access Pass, it was agreed that CPW staff could facilitate any requests for equestrian use. This will also align with making sure the equestrian use does not interfere with wildlife use and wildlife related recreation.

Coal Creek State Wildlife Area (Conservation Easement)

The addition of the Coal Creek SWA (conservation easement) is to allow CPW to regulate and manage this property. In 2020, Colorado Parks and Wildlife purchased a conservation easement on Coal Creek Ranch. Along with the conservation easement, CPW received a 20-year access easement. This easement allows for public fishing on Coal Creek within boundaries agreed upon by both parties. CPW must adhere to all the terms and conditions of the lease agreement. Regulations put in place by CPW staff will allow for the terms and conditions to be met.

Deweese Reservoir SWA

Deweese Reservoir SWA is 2,153 acres with a 275 surface acre Reservoir. The property offers camping, fishing, hunting small and large game, and wildlife viewing. Over the last few years there has been an exponential increase in visitation comparable to some busier state parks. With the increased visitation comes the struggle to maintain facilities and habitat. There are only four vault toilets on the property and one camp host and one DWM to do maintenance and law enforcement. The proposed limiting of camping numbers and restricted areas of camping will lessen the impacts on the facilities, property and habitat.

Restricting where fires are allowed will also reduce trash and keep fire rings and glass out of the lake bed as the lake recedes each year. Prohibiting the use of glass containers at the lake will hopefully reduce the broken glass on the property. Prohibiting OHV use on the property will protect the resource by reducing off road activities as well as help with public safety. Restricting the use of snowmobiles to be only used as an aid to fishing will help with public safety and prevent conflict with ice fishermen and wildlife.

Deweese is unique in the fact that the fishing rights and the recreation rights are split between two different entities. Colorado Parks and Wildlife owns the fishing rights and property owners within the Lake Deweese Resort own the recreation rights. Therefore the general public is only allowed to fish from vessels. All other vessel recreation (i.e. jet skiing, water skiing, etc.) is restricted to only those deeded property owners within the Lake Deweese Resort.

Flanders Ranch SWA (Conservation Easement & Access Easement)

The addition of the Flanders Ranch SWA (conservation & access easements) is to allow CPW to regulate and manage this property. Fishing and hunting access along the Yampa River in Routt County is very

limited due to the river flowing through private properties. Colorado Parks & Wildlife purchased both conservation and access easements on Flanders SWA, but the property is still under private ownership. This easement allows for public fishing and hunting on the property within the scope, restrictions, and boundaries agreed upon by both parties. Flanders Ranch SWA access also provide the only legal and safe access to Hereford Haven SWA. CPW must adhere to all the terms and conditions of the conservation and access easements. Regulations put in place by CPW staff are to allow for these terms and conditions to be met.

Frying Pan State Wildlife Area (Fishing Lease)

The addition of the Frying Pan River SWA (fishing lease) is to allow CPW to regulate and manage the property. Fishing access along the Frying Pan River in Eagle County is very limited due to the river flowing through private properties. In 1999, the Colorado Division of Wildlife now Colorado Parks and Wildlife, purchased a fishing access easements on three parcels that are still in private ownership. These easements allows for public fishing on the Frying Pan River within boundaries agreed upon by both parties. CPW must adhere to all the terms and conditions of the lease agreement. Regulations put in place by CPW staff will allow for the terms and conditions to be met.

Harmon State Wildlife Area (SWA)

The Harmon SWA offers users limited access and requires additional rules to protect the values of the unique qualities of this property. The Harmon SWA is owned by the Town of Buena Vista and CPW has a perpetual fishing easement on ten acres of the property along Cottonwood Creek. The ten acres which consist of a trail and access to the river for fishing are adjacent to Buena Vistas water infiltration system which have monitors that measure data for water quality and disturbances. There is only one access to the property from a parking lot on County Rd 340 which provides ADA access for fishing on Cottonwood Creek. To protect the water infiltration monitoring system the Harmon SWA has additional regulations which prohibit any dogs from being on the property and users must remain on the trail.

This property is located in an area with a high demand for dispersed camping and sees heavy visitation, as the Harmon is just two miles west of Buena Vista along Cottonwood Pass. During the summer months, visitors are often not able to find a camping spot and will park in the Harmon SWA overnight and other groups like to park their vehicles to carpool or walk around for the evening. Often trash is left behind and vehicles being left overnight can disrupt those user groups that want to use the property for the intended use. Adding the regulation for defined hours of sunrise to half-hour past sunset to the Harmon SWA and the installation of a gate could help alleviate the after hour usage, littering, and overnight parking and eliminate the risk of any disturbance to the water infiltration system for the Town of Buena Vista.

Heckendorf SWA

The Heckendorf SWA is a 720-acre State Wildlife Area in the Upper Arkansas River Basin that consists of dryland pasture and mature Ponderosa Pine. Two parking areas provide access and there is a separate parking and viewing station. There are no public restrooms or facilities. Private property surrounds three sides and the northwest corner borders USFS property. CPW has added tree rows that consist of mountain mahogany, pinyon, and juniper. A junior water right feeds the irrigation system that consists of a storage pond, a buried 14-inch pipe, and a gated 10-inch pipe. The Heckendorf and its unobstructed connectivity to USFS land, and the Collegiate Peaks Wilderness provide the habitat required for the entire life cycle of numerous big game, small game, furbearers, and non-game species.

Increased recreational demands have increased use such as dog walking, kite skiing, skiing, snowshoeing, and jogging. The development of private property in the adjacent areas is negatively affecting habitat values. CPW proposes adding an additional regulation that would restrict access as follows: “Except for wildlife viewing from existing, established parking areas, the use of the property is restricted to hunting only from August 15 - April 30”. This regulation will help to protect the core wildlife values of the property. The Heckendorf provides critical winter range for deer, elk, and pronghorn. Elk and mule deer will use the property from October – June before they transition to their summer range in the adjacent Collegiate Peaks Wilderness Area. Pronghorn will have their fawns and remain on the property for the entire summer and others will migrate to Lake County to summer on Hayden Flats. Coyotes, black bears, and raptors also frequent the property. Limiting access will also improve the hunting experience for the hunters that use the Heckendorf and have waited years for a big game license.

Hereford Haven SWA (Conservation Easement & Access Easement)

The addition of the Hereford Haven SWA is to allow CPW to regulate and manage this property. Fishing and hunting access along the Yampa River in Routt County is very limited due to the river flowing through private properties. The access to the Hereford Haven SWA is only through the adjacent Flanders SWA (Hunting and Fishing Easement) property. CPW must adhere to all the terms and conditions of the conservation and access easements which affects regulations on Hereford Haven SWA. Regulations put in place by CPW staff are to allow for these terms and conditions to be met.

Jackson State Wildlife Area (Fishing Lease)

The addition of the Jackson SWA (fishing lease) is to allow CPW to regulate and manage this property. Fishing access along the Roaring Fork River in Garfield County is very limited due to the river flowing through private properties. In June of 2009, Colorado Parks and Wildlife, purchased a fishing access easement that is still in private ownership. This easement allows for public fishing on the Roaring Fork River within boundaries agreed upon by both parties. CPW must adhere to all the terms and conditions of the lease agreement. Regulations put in place by CPW staff will allow for the terms and conditions to be met.

James M. John SWA

The James M John SWA is an 8200-acre CPW fee title owned property within Las Animas County, CO. This property provides unique public access for hunting, wildlife viewing, and wildlife related recreation. The James M John SWA is managed as a tier 1 property for big game, turkey, and small game. This SWA offers hunters a unique opportunity to applicants that successfully draw an access permit to hunt the property. This property is accessed via a trail through Lake Dorothy SWA. The SWA provides excellent habitat for deer, elk, bear and lion. This property serves as summer and winter range for both deer and elk. A CPW led research study also illustrated that this property serves as a critical habitat for elk calving during the summer months. In order to protect the unique habitat of this property and support wildlife, proposed regulations have been adopted to address concerns with human disturbance during critical periods, dogs, and the increased recreational use on SWA’s. The access restriction helps protect wintering big game as well as calving periods for elk. This closure also aligns with the timing of the closure on Lake Dorothy SWA.

James Mark Jones SWA

Currently camping has been allowed in the parking areas which have been slightly developed with the addition of fire rings to designate camping locations. With the recent increase in non-wildlife use on SWAs, it was recommended to allow camping by licenses hunters only, from August 14 through the end of the late elk season. This would prevent possible conflicts between non-wildlife recreational users and hunters during an extremely busy time on the SWA.

Lake Dorothey SWA

Lake Dorothey SWA is a 4800 acre leased property between the city of Raton, NM and Colorado Parks & Wildlife, (CPW). The lake Dorothey SWA provides public access for hunting, fishing, wildlife viewing, and wildlife related recreation. This property includes a ten acre lake and 3 miles of stream on Lake Dorothy SWA in addition to public access for the James M. John SWA and the Colorado portion of Lake Maloya. The property includes a parking area, trailhead, and restroom.

CPW and the city of Raton, NM re-negotiated a lease renewal in 2022 to include changes to the historic lease and greater flexibility for additional outdoor recreation. These negotiated changes resulted in hunters being able to pursue big game via archery, muzzleloader and rifle. Historically only archery hunting was allowed on the property. The regulation change removes archery hunting as the only method of take. Furthermore, big game hunter access for archery, muzzleloader and rifle seasons will be via an access permit. Access permits will be issued through a random drawing. This negotiated change results in greater high quality hunting opportunity while reducing any concerns with overcrowding.

Additionally, the city of Raton, NM and numerous public constituents wished to expand hiking opportunities on the property. CPW and the city of Raton agreed to allow limited hiking and biking on the SWA along four different trails. Specifically, trails A&B as designated on the map of the property are open to foot, bicycle and equestrian use. Trails C & D are open to foot and equestrian use only in addition to having timing stipulations to protect both wintering and calving elk. Public access to trails C & D are prohibited from December 1 through April 30th and from May 15 through June 30th with exception to licensed spring Turkey hunters. These negotiated lease changes will provide elk with valuable habitat at key times of the year without any human disturbance.

Lon Hagler SWA

The update to these regulations brings them into compliance with current/historical signage and management. When night law enforcement is done on the property, officers check to see if users are actively fishing. If they are not, they are asked to leave. It was not until the statewide SWA chapter 9 update was undertaken that it was discovered that although we have historical/current signage stating it is closed unless actively fishing, we do not have it specified in regulation. The public expects our current management regarding access to continue. Area 2 has received a tremendous population influx in the past 10 years. This has resulted in more development and overall urbanization. Increases in drugs, alcohol, dumping, illegal transient camping and general SWA property destruction (including, but not limited to bathrooms, roads, signs, etc.) have also increased during this time, especially in the last 3 years. The Area believes this is at least partly due to these semi-urban/urban SWA's being an easy target for people trying to find secluded areas close to home/the city to do illegal activities. We simply do not have the staff to patrol these properties every night, let alone all night every night. Neither do our county law enforcement partners. The public will likely notice no change as it's the way we have been managing the property already. If anything, they would expect us to take steps to curb the destruction and increase safety. It will ultimately help keep us heading in a positive direction with SWA management in Area 2.

Mount Werner State Wildlife Area (Conservation Easement)

The addition of the Mount Werner SWA (conservation easement) is to allow CPW to regulate and manage this property. Fishing and other wildlife recreation access along the Yampa River in Routt County is very limited due to the river flowing through private properties. In August of 1991, Colorado Parks and Wildlife, formerly Colorado Division of Wildlife, purchased a conservation easement and is still under City of Steamboat Springs ownership. This easement allows for public fishing and other wildlife recreation on the property within the scope, restrictions, and boundaries agreed upon by both parties. CPW must adhere to all the terms and conditions of the conservation easement. Regulations put in place by CPW staff will allow for the terms and conditions to be met.

Queens SWA

Queens State Wildlife Area consists of multiple reservoirs. Over the past decade, there have mainly been four reservoirs that have held water. These are Ne Gronde, Ne Noshe, Upper Queens and Lower Queens. Due to the drought, when these reservoirs have received water they do not get filled completely and have been smaller bodies of water.

With smaller bodies of water, we have seen an increase in competition for usage. Delineating the usage of the different reservoirs will help alleviate that competition. Ne Noshe will have regulations, "All water contact activities are allowed" and "Launching and use of all vessels is allowed" while Ne Gronde, Upper Queens, and Lower Queens will limit boat access to hunting and fishing. This was chosen since Ne Noshe keeps boat access, as depths go down, longer than any of the other reservoirs and to minimize conflict. All vessels and water contact activities are still allowed on other area reservoirs such as Adobe Creek/Blue Lake and John Martin.

Roaring Fork/Gianinetti State Wildlife Area (Fishing Lease)

The addition of the Gianinetti SWA (fishing lease) is to allow CPW to regulate and manage this property. Fishing access along the Roaring Fork River in Garfield County is very limited due to the river flowing through private properties. In October of 1987, Colorado Parks and Wildlife, formerly Colorado Division of Wildlife, purchased a fishing access easement that is still in private ownership. This easement allows for public fishing on the Roaring Fork River within boundaries agreed upon by both parties. CPW must adhere to all the terms and conditions of the lease agreement. Regulations put in place by CPW staff will allow for the terms and conditions to be met.

San Luis Hills SWA

San Luis Hills is mostly wild landscape vital to many wildlife species, including several big game species. Costilla County owns the property, and CPW manages it through a cooperative agreement with the County. Both entities believe it is critical to maintain a low level of human presence and use. Restricting camping and campfires to those engaged in hunting and fishing activities is consistent with the intended use for this area by said entities.

Steamboat Springs State Wildlife Area (Conservation Easement)

The addition of the Steamboat Springs SWA (conservation easement) is to allow CPW to regulate and manage this property. Fishing and other wildlife recreation access along the Yampa River in Routt County is very limited due to the river flowing through private properties. In March of 2001, Colorado Parks and

Wildlife, formerly Colorado Division of Wildlife, purchased a conservation easement and is still under City of Steamboat Springs ownership. This easement allows for public fishing and other wildlife recreation on the property within the scope, restrictions, and boundaries agreed upon by both parties. CPW must adhere to all the terms and conditions of the conservation easement. Regulations put in place by CPW staff will allow for the terms and conditions to be met.

Two Buttes SWA

The Black Hole consists of a series of spring-fed wetland complexes that start at the base of the Two Buttes Reservoir dam and run eastward to the end of the State Wildlife Area property line approximately $\frac{3}{4}$ of a mile. The central and largest pond is bordered by large rock cliffs that are used for cliff jumping as well as partying. At times this includes 400 to 500 people in this area of the property. Over the years this has led to damage to the resource as well as many violations by visitors. There have been several occasions of alcohol and drug violations found by both CPW officers as well as the local Sheriff's office. Along with these violations, there have been several injuries as well as deaths that have occurred in the Black Hole portion of the property. By adding "Water contact activities are allowed on the reservoir only" we will stop cliff jumping/swimming on the ponds below the dam and alleviate many of the issues on this portion of the property.

Upper Red Cliff Ranch SWA

The addition of the Upper Red Cliff Ranch SWA is to allow CPW to regulate and manage this 480-area property located just outside of the town of Beulah. Colorado Parks and Wildlife acquired the property through CPW's RFP program and it is currently being developed as a site for public hunting, fishing and wildlife related recreation. Regulations put in place by CPW staff will allow for the proper management of the area.

Wellington SWA

Currently Wellington SWA allows access on Saturday, Sunday, Monday and state and federal holidays. All the other SWAs in the Area allow access on Saturday, Sunday, Wednesday and state and federal holidays. Leaving Monday as an access day on Wellington SWA was an oversight when the other SWA regulations were changed from Mondays to Wednesdays. The Area did this change previously to help with getting birds to settle down after being hunted on consecutive days (Saturday & Sunday), in an attempt to provide better hunting opportunities for users. By completing this change there will actually be more days available for public use.

The statements of basis and purpose for these regulations can be obtained from the Colorado Division of Parks and Wildlife, Office of the Regulations Manager by emailing dnr_cpw_planning@state.co.us or by visiting the Division of Parks and Wildlife headquarters at 6060 Broadway, Denver, CO, 80216.

The statutory authority for these regulations includes, but is not limited to:

- § 24-4-103, C.R.S.
- § 33-1-101 to 33-6-209, C.R.S., particularly § 33-1-105, -106, -107, and 33-4-102, C.R.S.
- § 33-9-102, C.R.S.

EFFECTIVE DATE - THESE REGULATIONS SHALL BECOME EFFECTIVE AUGUST 1, 2023 AND SHALL REMAIN IN FULL FORCE AND EFFECT UNTIL REPEALED, AMENDED OR SUPERSEDED.

APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE PARKS AND WILDLIFE COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF COLORADO THIS 22ND DAY OF JUNE, 2023.

**APPROVED:
Carrie Besnette Hauser
Chair**

**ATTEST:
Marie Haskett
Secretary**